ONLINE PSYCHOLOGY BEYOND ADDICTION AND GAMING: A GLOBAL LOOK AT MENTAL HEALTH AND INTERNET-RELATED TECHNOLOGIES

EDITED BY: Elias Aboujaoude, Daria Joanna Kuss, Mike Z. Yao and Louis W. Leung PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology and Frontiers in Psychiatry





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-249-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-249-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

ONLINE PSYCHOLOGY BEYOND ADDICTION AND GAMING: A GLOBAL LOOK AT MENTAL HEALTH AND INTERNET-RELATED TECHNOLOGIES

Topic Editors:

Elias Aboujaoude, Stanford University, United States Daria Joanna Kuss, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom Mike Z. Yao, University of Illinois, United States Louis W. Leung, Hong Kong Shue Yan University, SAR China

Citation: Aboujaoude, E., Kuss, D. J., Yao, M. Z., Leung, L. W., eds. (2022). Online Psychology Beyond Addiction and Gaming: A Global Look at Mental Health and Internet-Related Technologies. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-249-3

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Online Psychology Beyond Addiction and Gaming: A Global Lookat Mental Health and Internet-Related Technologies Elias Aboujaoude, Daria Joanna Kuss, Mike Z. Yao and Louis W. Leung
- 08 One Social Media Company to Rule Them All: Associations Between Use of Facebook-Owned Social Media Platforms, Sociodemographic Characteristics, and the Big Five Personality Traits Davide Marengo, Cornelia Sindermann, Jon D. Elhai and Christian Montag
- 17 Should We Pay for Our Social Media/Messenger Applications? Preliminary Data on the Acceptance of an Alternative to the Current Prevailing Data Business Model

Cornelia Sindermann, Daria J. Kuss, Melina A. Throuvala, Mark D. Griffiths and Christian Montag

- 26 Career as a Professional Gamer: Gaming Motives as Predictors of Career Plans to Become a Professional Esport Player Fanni Bányai, Ágnes Zsila, Mark D. Griffiths, Zsolt Demetrovics and Orsolya Király
- 35 Mobile Internet Technologies, Ecological Momentary Assessment, and Intervention—Poison and Remedy for New Online Problematic Behaviors in ICD-11

Karol Lewczuk, Monika Gorowska, Yonghui Li and Mateusz Kazimierz Gola

40 Fear of Missing Out and Smartphone Addiction Mediates the Relationship Between Positive and Negative Affect and Sleep Quality Among Chinese University Students

Li Li, Mark D. Griffiths, Songli Mei and Zhimin Niu

50 Psychometric Properties of Three Simplified Chinese Online-Related Addictive Behavior Instruments Among Mainland Chinese Primary School Students

I-Hua Chen, Daniel Kwasi Ahorsu, Amir H. Pakpour, Mark D. Griffiths, Chung-Ying Lin and Chao-Ying Chen

- 58 Do You Feel the Same as I Do? Differences in Virtual Reality Technology Experience and Acceptance Between Elderly Adults and College Students Qian Liu, Yanyun Wang, Qingyang Tang and Ziwei Liu
- 69 Psychometric Properties of the Nine-Item Problematic Internet Use *Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) in a Lithuanian Sample of Students* Julius Burkauskas, Orsolya Király, Zsolt Demetrovics, Aurelija Podlipskyte and Vesta Steibliene
- 75 Threats to Mental Health Facilitated by Dating Applications Use Among Men Having Sex With Men

Katarzyna Obarska, Karol Szymczak, Karol Lewczuk and Mateusz Gola

82 Country Indicators Moderating the Relationship Between Phubbing and Psychological Distress: A Study in 20 Countries

Agata Błachnio, Aneta Przepiórka, Oleg Gorbaniuk, Monika McNeill, Rebecca Bendayan, Mithat Durak, Emre Senol-Durak, Menachem Ben-Ezra, Martina Benvenuti, Alan Angeluci, Ana Maria Abreu, Meiko Makita, María J. Blanca, Tihana Brkljacic, Nenad C. Babic, Julia Gorbaniuk, Juraj Holdoš, Ana Ivanova, Sadia Malik, Anita Milanovic, Bojan Musil, Igor Pantic, Belén Rando, Gwendolyn Seidman, Lancy D' Souza, Mariek M. P. Vanden Abeele, Mariusz Wołońciej, Anise M. S. Wu, Shu Yu and Elvis Mazzoni





Editorial: Online Psychology Beyond Addiction and Gaming: A Global Look at Mental Health and Internet-Related Technologies

Elias Aboujaoude^{1*}, Daria Joanna Kuss², Mike Z. Yao³ and Louis W. Leung⁴

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, ² Psychology Department, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom, ³ College of Media, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, United States, ⁴ Department of Journalism and Communications, Hong Kong Shue Yan University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAP, China

Keywords: internet addiction, FOMO (fear of missing out), phubbing, virtual reality, online privacy, chemsex, ecological momentary assessment, internet gaming

Editorial on the Research Topic

Online Psychology Beyond Addiction and Gaming: A Global Look at Mental Health and Internet-Related Technologies

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Stefano Triberti, University of Milan, Italy

*Correspondence: Elias Aboujaoude eaboujaoude@stanford.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 14 November 2021 Accepted: 22 November 2021 Published: 16 December 2021

Citation:

Aboujaoude E, Kuss DJ, Yao MZ and Leung LW (2021) Editorial: Online Psychology Beyond Addiction and Gaming: A Global Look at Mental Health and Internet-Related Technologies. Front. Psychol. 12:815013. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.815013 The inclusion in 2018 of "Gaming Disorder" into the 11th revision of the International Classification of Diseases (World Health Organization, 2019) represented a milestone in the decades-long research investigation of the topic. It was also a stark reminder of how little attention has been paid to other highly relevant areas within online psychology. From internet-mediated impulsivity and aggression to the effects of living in a post-privacy age, important dimensions of online psychology have been relatively ignored as the field narrowly focused on gaming (Aboujaoude, 2011; Aboujaoude and Starcevic, 2016). The risk of this narrow focus is 3-fold: (i) users who may not be described as gaming "addicts" under any nosology can feel deceptively immune to online psychological harm; (ii) users can seem deceptively healthy to the mental health professionals trying to diagnose and treat them; and (iii) the limited research scope can complicate meaningful regulation of "Big Tech" by underestimating the negative impact of some of these technologies (Aboujaoude and Gega, 2021; Kuss, 2021). In this special issue, we attempt to widen the aperture beyond "traditional" gaming and the closely linked addiction framework to address crucial themes in online psychology that have received comparatively less attention.

FoMO and "phubbing" are two new additions to the popular lexicon and are the subject of studies in this special issue. FoMO refers to the social-media-fed "fear of missing out," and has been defined as the anxious feeling "that your peers are doing, in the know about, or in possession of more or something better than you" (Barker, 2016). Phubbing represents the increasingly common practice of snubbing someone in a social setting to concentrate on one's phone instead (Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016). The study by Li et al. explores how FoMO and smartphone addiction may mediate the impact of affect on sleep quality, showing that negative affect was associated with FoMO and smartphone addiction. Although still relatively new, phubbing has quickly spread, with seemingly universal consequences in terms of psychological distress, as suggested by the study by Blachnio et al. of users in 20 countries.

While many effects of internet-related technologies are cross-cultural, it is important to confirm "locally" and incorporate sociocultural specificities. This is particularly true when it comes to screening and diagnostic tools. Chen et al. do so in a population of Chinese fourth to sixth graders,

validating the psychometric properties of three scales that target problematic gaming but also problematic social media and smartphone "app" use. Similarly, Burkauskas et al. confirm in their study the psychometric properties of the Lithuanian version of the nine-item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) in a sample of Lithuania-based students.

While much research into online psychology has involved young students, "digital natives" and "Generation Z," older adults have often been ignored. This seriously complicates any claims of "universality" when it comes to online harms and opportunities. Older adults are the target of the study by Liu et al., swhich compared them to college students in terms of "telepresence" and emotional responsiveness vis a vis virtual reality (VR) content. More positive attitudes toward the material were reported by older adults. This adds to the recent literature on the potential benefit from VR among older adults. Among other applications, for example, VR has been used to target mild cognitive impairment (Liao et al., 2020).

Increasingly, technology is seen as both the problem and the solution. Beyond VR being the vehicle for addictive gaming and therapeutic interventions, this is reflected in the interest in the moment-by-moment, *in situ* observation of an individual's phenotypic details via smartphone sensing tools, which promises to improve diagnostics and tailor interventions (Huckvale et al., 2019). This idea is developed in the commentary by Lewczuk et al., which focuses on ecological momentary assessment (EMA) and ecological momentary interventions (EMI). The ideal-world-outcome could be to decrease recall bias, increase validity and deliver between-session interventions in subjects' natural environments.

Other aspects of online life can also be seen as healthy or problematic, depending on the degree of engagement and control over the behavior. The internet has transformed age-old dating and sexual practices, for example, often in enriching ways. It has, however, also facilitated compulsive sexual behavior and risky "chemsex" [using drugs to enhance sex] (Giorgetti et al., 2017), in part *via* geolocalizing tools. This, according to the study by Obarska et al., has contributed to vulnerability to depression, substance use and sleep disorders among excessive users of dating apps in the group of men who have sex with men (MSM) that they studied. The results augment the literature on chemsex (Maxwell et al., 2019) by adding an important mental health dimension.

As with the healthy vs. health-compromising use of dating apps, it can be a "fine line" between the all-consuming nature of gaming in *Gaming Disorder* and among career gamers. The motivations driving professional e-sports players were examined in a study of Hungarian gamers by Banyai et al. Competition, skill development and social motivators predicted career planning for professional players.

Creative approaches are called for to help mitigate some of the negative effects of social media and other apps, including compulsive sex and disordered gaming. The current social media model rests on exploiting users' freely supplied personal data in exchange for keeping platforms free. The acceptability of a model that would protect personal information but charge for social media use was explored in the study by Sindermann et al. Only 21.43% of study participants supported such a model, however. This would support recent survey data showing that the majority of social media users do not understand the privacy risks involved (Hitlin and Rainie, 2019).

One reason for discounting the negative impact of social media may be that we don't know the full extent of the problem. In their paper, Marengo et al. contend that most social media research has focused on only one platform, which can underestimate the deleterious effects of social media overall. Their investigation of the usage of Facebook-owned platforms (Facebook, WhatsApp and Instagram) showed that WhatsApp had the widest reach and that personality traits differed by platform use. The study helps answer the call for the scientific exploration of this understudied but highly popular platform (Jailobaev et al., 2021).

Huge socio-politico-cultural transformations have been attributed to psychological processes unfolding online and on social media. The diverse set of articles in this special issue reflects the richness of the field. Collectively, they shed an important light on some understudied facets of online psychology, although much work remains to be done to fully capture the vastness of the topic and propel it beyond gaming and addiction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EA summarized the main findings from the various submissions and wrote the first draft of the editorial. DK, MY, and LL reviewed, expanded, and edited the draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Aboujaoude, E. (2011).Virtually You: The Dangerous Powers of the E-Personality. New York, NY: W.W. Norton.
- Aboujaoude, E., and Gega, L. (2021). Editorial Perspective: Missing the forest for the trees - how the focus on digital addiction and gaming diverted attention away from wider online risks. *Child Adolesc. Ment. Health.* 26, 369–371. doi: 10.1111/camh.1 2503
- Aboujaoude, E., and Starcevic, V. (2016). The rise of online impulsivity: a public health issue. *Lancet Psychiatry* 3, 1014–1015. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30 231-0

Barker, E. (2016). This Is the Best Way to Overcome Fear of Missing Out. Time. Available online at: https://time.com/4358140/overcome-fomo/

- Chotpitayasunondh, V., and Douglas, K. M. (2016). How "phubbing" becomes the norm: The antecedents and consequences of snubbing via smartphone. *Comp. Hum. Behav.* 63, 9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.018
- Giorgetti, R., Tagliabracci, A., Schifano, F., Zaami, S., Marinelli, E., and Busardò F. P. (2017). When "Chems" meet sex: a rising phenomenon called "ChemSex". *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 15, 762–770. doi: 10.2174/1570159X15666161117151148
- Hitlin, P., and Rainie, L. (2019). Facebook Algorithms and Personal Data. Pew Research Center. Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/ 2019/01/16/facebook-algorithms-and-personal-data/ (accessed November 20, 2021).

- Huckvale, K., Venkatesh, S., and Christensen, H. (2019). Toward clinical digital phenotyping: a timely opportunity to consider purpose, quality, and safety. NPJ Digit Med. 2:88. doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0166-1
- Jailobaev, T., Jailobaeva, K., Baialieva, M., Baialieva, G., and Asilbekova, G. (2021). WhatsApp groups in social research: new opportunities for fieldwork communication and management. *Bull. Méthodol. Sociol.* 149, 60–82. doi: 10.1177/0759106320978337
- Kuss, D. J. (2021). Risk reduction and harm prevention in technology use. A commentary on Swanton et al.'s (2020) 'Problematic risktaking involving emerging technologies: A stakeholder framework to minimize harms'. J. Behav. Addict. 9, 895–897. doi: 10.1556/2006.2020.0 0079
- Liao, Y. Y., Tseng, H. Y., Lin, Y. J., Wang, C. J., and Hsu, W. C. (2020). Using virtual reality-based training to improve cognitive function, instrumental activities of daily living and neural efficiency in older adults with mild cognitive impairment. *Eur. J. Phys. Rehabil. Med.* 56, 47–57. doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.19.05 899-4
- Maxwell, S., Shahmanesh, M., and Gafos, M. (2019). Chemsex behaviours among men who have sex with men: A systematic review of the literature. *Int. J. Drug Policy* 63, 74–89. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.1 1.014

World Health Organization, (2019). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 11th Edn. ICD-11. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Aboujaoude, Kuss, Yao and Leung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





One Social Media Company to Rule Them All: Associations Between Use of Facebook-Owned Social Media Platforms, Sociodemographic Characteristics, and the Big Five Personality Traits

Davide Marengo¹, Cornelia Sindermann², Jon D. Elhai^{3,4} and Christian Montag^{2*}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Turin, Turin, Italy, ² Department of Molecular Psychology, Institute of Psychology and Education, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ³ Department of Psychology, The University of Toledo, Toledo, OH, United States, ⁴ Department of Psychiatry, The University of Toledo, Toledo, OH, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Daria Joanna Kuss, Nottingham Trent University, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Barbara Caci, University of Palermo, Italy Marko Tkalcic, University of Primorska, Slovenia

*Correspondence: Christian Montag christian.montag@uni-ulm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human-Media Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 15 January 2020 Accepted: 15 April 2020 Published: 29 May 2020

Citation:

Marengo D, Sindermann C, Elhai JD and Montag C (2020) One Social Media Company to Rule Them All: Associations Between Use of Facebook-Owned Social Media Platforms, Sociodemographic Characteristics, and the Big Five Personality Traits. Front. Psychol. 11:936. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00936 Currently, 2.7 billion people use at least one of the Facebook-owned social media platforms - Facebook, WhatsApp, and Instagram. Previous research investigating individual differences between users and non-users of these platforms has typically focused on one platform. However, individuals typically use a combination of Facebookowned platforms. Therefore, we aim (1) to identify the relative prevalence of different patterns of social media use, and (2) to evaluate potential between-group differences in the distributions of age, gender, education, and Big Five personality traits. Data collection was performed using a cross-sectional design. Specifically, we administered a survey assessing participants' demographic variables, current use of Facebook-owned platforms, and Big Five personality traits. In N = 3003 participants from the general population (60.67% females; mean age = 35.53 years, SD = 13.53), WhatsApp emerged as the most widely used application in the sample, and hence, has the strongest reach. A pattern consisting of a combined use of WhatsApp and Instagram appeared to be most prevalent among the youngest participants. Further, individuals using at least one social media platform were generally younger, more often female, and more extraverted than non-users. Small differences in Conscientiousness and Neuroticism also emerged across groups reporting different combinations of social media use. Interestingly, when examined as control variables, we found demographic characteristics partially accounted for differences in broad personality factors and facets across different patterns of social media use. Our findings are relevant to researchers carrying out their studies via social media platforms, as sample characteristics appear to be different depending on the platform used.

Keywords: Facebook, Instagram, WhatsApp, individual differences, Big Five personality traits

INTRODUCTION

Currently, about 2.7 billion individuals use at least one of the Facebook-owned platforms (Newsfeed.org, 2019). With 2.4 billion current users, Facebook still represents the platform with the largest outreach, followed by WhatsApp (1.6 billion), and Instagram (one billion), both also owned by Facebook (Statista.com, 2020). Because they provide different features to their users (Gazit et al., 2019), different Facebook-owned platforms tend to reach individuals with different demographic backgrounds. Regarding gender, Facebook and Instagram show a higher prevalence of female users compared to male users (Perrin and Anderson, 2019), while the WhatsApp audience appears to be more gender-balanced (Statista.com, 2019). Comparing the users between the platforms, Instagram is characterized by a higher prevalence of adolescent and young adult users compared to both the WhatsApp and Facebook platforms (Perrin and Anderson, 2019; Statista.com, 2019).

Personality is an important factor for many life outcomes (for an overview, see Montag and Elhai, 2019), including links to Internet use and its diverse applications (Hamburger and Ben-Artzi, 2000; Kuss et al., 2014; Montag and Reuter, 2017), and is relatively time stable (e.g., Edmonds et al., 2008). Therefore, recent studies have aimed at determining personality's role in explaining individual preferences for social media use, typically focusing on Big Five personality traits (e.g., Ljepava et al., 2013; Montag et al., 2015b; Brailovskaia and Margraf, 2016; Taber and Whittaker, 2018; Sindermann et al., 2020a). In particular, findings indicate that, compared with non-users, Facebook users report higher scores on extraversion (Ryan and Xenos, 2011; Brailovskaia and Margraf, 2016; Sindermann et al., 2020a), higher neuroticism and openness (Taber and Whittaker, 2018), and lower conscientiousness scores (Ryan and Xenos, 2011; Sindermann et al., 2020a), although the findings are not always consistent across studies. Regarding the association between the Big Five traits and preferences for Instagram and WhatsApp use, existing findings are scant. Although inconclusive, findings from existing studies appear to be in line with those of Facebook users: Instagram users have been found to show higher neuroticism (Gazit et al., 2019) compared to non-users, while WhatsApp users tend to be more extraverted and less conscientious than non-users (Montag et al., 2015b).

Although they provide important findings, the studies mentioned above have mostly only reported findings concerning the associations between personality and individual preferences for a single, specific platform. As such, they failed to investigate differences between groups characterized by different combinations of social media preferences, including those individuals using all the platforms, or none of them. In view of this limitation, in the present study we aim (to our knowledge for the first time) (1) to examine the relative prevalence of groups characterized by different combinations of use of Facebookowned platforms (i.e., Facebook, Instagram, and WhatsApp) and (2) to investigate whether user groups differ on certain sociodemographic characteristics and Big Five personality traits.

Can we expect significant differences in the distribution of demography and personality across groups of individuals characterized by different patterns of social media use? This question is highly relevant because more and more research is conducted based on samples recruited from these social-media platforms. Thus, it is important to understand whether online samples can be expected to differ on key individual characteristics depending on the platform used for online recruitment. Beyond that, other reasons exist to study the present research question. Currently it is highly debated how social media platforms impact society via filter bubbles and fake news. For instance, Facebook precisely studies the online behavior of each of its users. They do this to be able to present users a personalized news feed, likely to prolong online time on their platform (Montag et al., 2019). This in turn leads to more of a person's data being monetized by selling the digital profiles of users to the marketing industry (see also Matz et al., 2017). In the realm of politics, liking content of political figures or certain parties could result in radicalization, because users are not confronted with differing world views (Pariser, 2011). Beyond that, fake news is known to be spread via social media (Lazer et al., 2018). Logically, people who abstain from using social media will be less prone to fall for such false information, because they are less likely to get in touch with such news. Although the present work is not able to ultimately answer who falls for fake news (Pennycook and Rand, 2020) or who in particular is prone to the effects of the filter bubble [or echo chamber; see recent work by Sindermann et al. (2020b)], it can at least inform on who decides to use what social media platform or abstains from using them at all.

Although other popular platforms exist beyond those owned by Facebook (e.g., Snapchat, Twitter, China's WeChat, and Tik-Tok), we decided to focus the present study on Facebook-owned platforms because of their overwhelming reach in terms of number of active users worldwide, whether taken individually or combined together.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedure and Participants

Study data was collected by administering an anonymous questionnaire via an online web survey research platform (SurveyCoder by Christopher Kannen)¹, and employing a cross-sectional data collection design. As we aimed to recruit a large, demographically heterogeneous sample, the research was advertised by both national and local German-speaking media outlets (TV, radio, press, and Internet). Recruitment was performed using a convenience sampling approach. Participation in the research was voluntary. The survey included questions on demographic variables, use of Facebook-owned platforms, and personality. Participants were informed that the survey would take 20 to 45 min to complete. No monetary reward was offered to participants; however, as an incentive to participate in the present research project, participants were provided with automated, personalized feedbacks on their personality, smartphone, and social media use. All participants were required to provide informed electronic consent prior to participation. Additionally, participants below the age of 18 stated that their legal gardians

¹https://ckannen.com/

approved their participation. The study was approved by the local Ethics Committee of Ulm University, Ulm, Germany.

A total of N = 3092 German-speaking participants filled in questionnaires on the online platform. All participants reported owning a smartphone. N = 89 observations were removed because of missing data on either demographic variables (N = 60) or social media use variables (N = 29). Eventually, a sample of N = 3003 participants (n = 1181 males, n = 1822females) remained. The mean age of the sample was 35.53 years (SD = 13.53) with a range from 12 to 79 years. We also collected information about education level (1, no graduation; 2, mainstreamed secondary school; 3, secondary school leaving (graduation) certificate; 4, vocational baccalaureate diploma; 5, A-level/High-school diploma; 6, university of applied sciences degree; 7, university degree). Please refer to the **Supplementary Material** for details on the distribution of educational level in the present sample (**Supplementary Table 3**).

Instruments

Use of Facebook-Owned Social Media Platforms

We asked participants to report about use of Facebookowned social media platforms, i.e., Facebook, Instagram, and WhatsApp. More specifically, we asked participants to indicate if they currently used each platform (yes/no). A large majority (N = 2829, 94.21%) reported using at least one of the Facebookowned platforms, while N = 174 (5.79%) reported using none. With N = 2762 users (91.97%), WhatsApp was the most widely used platform in the sample, followed by Facebook (N = 1733, 57.71%) and Instagram (N = 1389, 46.25%); these percentages do not add to 100%, because of non-mutually exclusive item endorsement).

Figure 1 shows a Venn diagram representing the prevalence of different patterns of social media use in the sample. Among participants reporting use of at least one of the platforms, the majority reported using WhatsApp, either alone (N = 725, 24.14% of participants) or in combination with both Facebook and Instagram (N = 997, 33.20%), Facebook (N = 677, 22.54% of social media users), or Instagram (N = 363, 12.09% of participants). Remaining groups were smaller: 38 participants (1.27%) only used Facebook, eight (0.27%) reported only using Instagram, while 21 (0.70%) reported using both Facebook and Instagram.

Big Five Inventory

In order to assess individual differences on the Big Five personality traits, we administered the German version of the Big Five Inventory (BFI, Rammstedt and Danner, 2016). The German BFI includes 45 items, including scales to assess Extraversion (8 items), Agreeableness (10 items), Conscientiousness (9 items), Neuroticism (8 items), and Openness (10 items). All items in the questionnaire are answered on a 5-point Likert-Scale ranging from 1 = "very inapplicable" to 5 = "very applicable". Internal consistency estimates (using Cronbach's alpha) in the final sample of N = 3003 participants were 0.86, 0.74, 0.83, 0.85, and 0.79 for Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Neuroticism, and Openness, respectively.



In addition to the five broad factors, BFI items can be combined to generate scores for ten facet subscales, two for each trait: Assertiveness ($\alpha = 0.82$) and Activity ($\alpha = 0.57$) within the larger Extraversion factor; Altruism ($\alpha = 0.54$) and Compliance ($\alpha = 0.46$) within Agreeableness; Order ($\alpha = 0.65$) and Self-Discipline ($\alpha = 0.71$) within Conscientiousness; Anxiety ($\alpha = 0.76$) and Depression ($\alpha = 0.57$) within Neuroticism; and Aesthetics ($\alpha = 0.77$) and Ideas ($\alpha = 0.57$) within Openness. Due to the limited number of items for each subscale, score reliability is known to be modest (Soto and John, 2009; Rammstedt and Danner, 2016).

Data Analysis

First, we computed descriptive statistics on study variables. We computed means, standard deviations, minimums and maximums for all continuous variables (age, Big Five broad personality traits, and facets), and frequency counts for categorical variables (gender, education level). We present this information in the **Supplementary Material** (**Supplementary Tables 1–4**).

Next, we explored associations between different patterns of use of Facebook-owned social media platforms, and both demographic variables (i.e., gender, age, and education level) and personality traits. In order to pursue this aim, we created a multinomial variable grouping individuals by different patterns of social media use. Given the small sample size of participants reporting only using Facebook (N = 38), Instagram (N = 8), or both Facebook and Instagram (N = 21), we decided not to include these groups in the analyses examining betweengroup differences in demographic variables and personality traits. However, we still report information about the distribution of study variables across all groups in the **Supplementary Material** (**Supplementary Tables 1–3, 5**).

Then, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with *post hoc* pairwise comparisons (Bonferroni-corrected) was used to inspect age-related differences by patterns of social media use. A Chi-Square test was used to examine differences in the distribution of demographic variables (gender, educational level) across the groups, while Z-tests with a Bonferroni correction were used to perform pairwise multiple comparisons.

Next, we used multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to assess differences in Big Five traits, and their facets, according to different patterns of social media use. First, we performed the analyses by including all five broad personality traits (Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Neuroticism, and Openness) as dependent variables in a single MANOVA model. Then we performed the same analysis including the ten facets as dependent variables in a single MANOVA model. In both cases, between-group analyses were performed twice. First, we computed the analysis by examining only the effect of the grouping variable distinguishing between different patterns of social media use; next, we computed the analysis by also controlling for the effect of age (continuous covariate), and gender and education level (categorical factors; please note that the interaction between categorical factors were not included in the model). At each step, Wilks' criterion was used to assess the overall significance of effects. Additionally, to assess pairwise differences between groups within each personality trait, estimated marginal means for each group (both unadjusted and adjusted for other factors and covariates) were compared with Bonferroni-corrected nominal *p*-values (p < 0.05). SPSS statistics version 23 was used for all analyses.

RESULTS

Association Between Patterns of Social Media Use and Demographic Variables

Figure 2 provides a visualization of the association between different patterns of social media use and the variables of age, gender, and education levels. With regard to age, one-way ANOVA results supported the existence of strong age-related differences between groups [F(4, 2931) = 155.067, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.175$]. *Post hoc* tests (see **Figure 2A**) indicated that no significant mean age difference existed between participants reporting no social media use and those using only the WhatsApp platform, but these two groups showed higher mean age estimates compared to the remaining groups, which in turn all differed significantly from each other. Among these groups, participants reporting use of Instagram and WhatsApp, but no Facebook use, showed the lowest mean age; those reporting use of both WhatsApp and Facebook showed the highest mean age; and those using all platforms fell in between these two groups of age.

There was a significant association between gender and patterns of social media use (χ^2 (4) = 43.78, p < 0.001, Cramer's v = 0.122). Pairwise comparisons (**Figure 2B**) indicated that among participants using none of the platforms there was a

higher frequency of males than females, while the opposite was found in all other groups. No other significant contrast emerged between the groups.

Finally, we also found a significant association between education level and different patterns of social media use (χ^2 (24) = 272.156, p < 0.001, Cramer's v = 0.152). Pairwise comparisons of education level across patterns of social media use are shown in Figure 2C. We found a higher proportion of individuals holding a university degree among participants reporting using only WhatsApp, or a combination of Facebook and WhatsApp, when compared with participants reporting use of WhatsApp and Instagram. Further, holding a university degree was more prevalent among those using WhatsApp and Facebook when compared to those reporting use of WhatsApp only, and those using all platforms. Interestingly, holding a university degree appeared to be more prevalent among participants using all platforms when compared with those using a combination of only WhatsApp and Instagram (but this is likely confounded with age, because older persons are more likely to hold a higher education degree). Regarding individuals holding a university of applied sciences degree, we found a lower prevalence among those using a combination of WhatsApp and Instagram when compared with all the other groups, except for participants using all platforms. Individuals holding an A-level/high school diploma were more likely to use a combination of WhatsApp and Instagram when compared with all the other groups, except for participants reporting use of all platforms.

Participants reporting use of only WhatsApp, and those using both Facebook and WhatsApp, also showed a lower prevalence of holding an A-level/high school diploma when compared with participants reporting use of all platforms. Individuals holding a vocational baccalaureate diploma were more prevalent among those reporting use of all platforms when compared with those reporting use of WhatsApp and Facebook. Holding a secondary school leaving graduation certificate was more prevalent among participants using a combination of WhatsApp and Instagram than among those using all platforms, and those using none. This latter group also showed a lower prevalence of holding a secondary school leaving certificate than those using only WhatsApp, and those using a combination of WhatsApp and Facebook. Attending mainstreamed secondary school for lesser able students was more prevalent among participants using a combination of WhatsApp and Instagram than those using both WhatsApp and Facebook, and those using none of the platforms. Finally, individuals yet to have graduated were more prevalent among those using both WhatsApp and Instagram than among all the other groups, and showed a lower prevalence among those reporting using WhatsApp and Facebook when compared with all the other groups.

Differences in Big Five Personality Traits by Pattern of Social Media Use

Next, we explored between-group differences in Big Five personality scores by patterns of social media use. Here, we present results for broad personality traits. Because of the low score reliability found for many of the Big Five personality



C Education level by pattern of social media use



Note. Different letter markings indicate significant (p<.05) between-group differences. In panel (a), 95% confidence intervals are reported.

FIGURE 2 Associations between patterns of social media use and age (Panel A), gender (B), and education level (C). In panel (A), 95% confidence interval are reported. Different letter markings indicate significant (p < 0.05) differences by pattern of social media use. An example: In Panel (C), prevalence of participants with a university degree is found to differ between the WhatsApp & Facebook group (b marking) and the WhatsApp group (c marking), while both these groups do not differ from the group reporting not using the platforms (abc marking).

facets, results concerning facet scores are presented in the **Supplementary Material (Supplementaty Presentation 1)**.

In the MANOVA without control variables, platform use group membership was mildly related to Big Five broad personality traits [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.953$, F(20, 9708.71) = 7.032,

p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.012$]. Significant differences emerged in Extraversion [*F*(4, 2931) = 8.144, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.011$), Conscientiousness [*F*(4, 2931) = 14.949, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.020$], and Neuroticism [*F*(4, 2931) = 5.042, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.007$]. In turn, there were no significant differences in Agreeableness



 $[F(4, 2931) = 1.764, p = 0.133, \eta^2 = 0.002]$ and Openness $[F(4, 2931) = 0.972, p = 0.422, \eta^2 = 0.001]$ between the groups.

Pairwise contrasts comparing estimated marginal means among groups with different patterns of platform use are shown in Figure 3A. Regarding Extraversion, participants reporting not using any of the platforms showed significantly lower scores than all other remaining groups using at least one of the investigated social media platforms. There were no differences in Extraversion across the remaining groups. Regarding Conscientiousness, participants using both WhatsApp and Instagram, as well as those using all the platforms (WhatsApp, Facebook, and Instagram) showed lower scores than those reporting only using WhatsApp, as well as both WhatsApp and Facebook. There were no differences on the Conscientiousness trait between participants reporting no platform use and all the other groups. With respect to Neuroticism, participants using both WhatsApp and Instagram, as well as those using all platforms (WhatsApp, Facebook, and Instagram) had higher scores than those reporting only use of WhatsApp, or no platform at all. There were no

differences between participants reporting both WhatsApp and Facebook, compared to the other groups.

When including control variables in the MANOVA, the overall relationship between different patterns of social media use and personality traits was reduced [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.972$, F(20, 9682.18) = 4.200, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.007$]. Among the control variables, gender showed a large effect [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.849$, F(5, 2919) = 103.721, $p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.151$]. Education level [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.952, F(30, 11678.00) = 4.802, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.010$ and age [Wilks' $\lambda = 0.980$, F(5, 2919.00) = 12.215, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.020$] also showed significant effects. In the adjusted model, differences in social media use were still related to differences in Extraversion $[F(4, 2923) = 6.995, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.009]$, and Conscientiousness $[F(4, 2923) = 5.925, p < 0.001, \eta^2 = 0.008].$ However, after including control variables, there were no between-group differences on Agreeableness [F(4, 2923) = 0.658] $p = 0.621, \eta^2 < 0.001$ and Neuroticism [F(4, 2923) = 0.508, p = 0.730, $\eta^2 < 0.001$], while a new, small between-group effect emerged for the Openness trait [F(4, 2923) = 3.508, p = 0.007,

 $\eta^2=0.005].$ Estimated marginal means were then subjected to pairwise comparisons. Regarding Extraversion, the overall pattern was the same found when inspecting the unadjusted contrasts (Figure 3B). Regarding Conscientiousness, results were similar to those observed in the unadjusted contrasts, except for the group of participants using both WhatsApp and Instagram, which no longer showed a significant mean difference between the groups using only WhatsApp, or both WhatsApp and Facebook. Regarding Openness, the group of participants using both WhatsApp and Instagram reported higher scores than participants only using WhatsApp and Facebook, while other contrasts were not significant.

DISCUSSION

The present work aimed at (1) investigating the prevalence of groups of social-media users characterized by different combinations of use of Facebook-owned social media platforms, namely Facebook, WhatsApp, and Instagram, and (2) examining differences in sociodemographic characteristics and personality traits among emerging groups. To pursue this aim, we grouped individuals based on emerging combinations of self-reported social media preferences, and evaluated the significance of between-group differences in the distributions of gender, age, education levels, and Big-Five personality traits. We believe this study to be of relevance, because most previous studies exclusively focused on one social media platform, yet many users spend their time on different social media platforms. Hence, the nature of social media use is more complex than many studies suggest.

Concerning specific platforms use prevalence, we found that 91.97% of the sample used WhatsApp, making it the most used platform (a finding that fits previous findings, Montag et al., 2015b), followed by Facebook (57.71%), and Instagram (46.25%). Instagram use was in general scarcer, reflecting also international user numbers (Statista.com, 2020). Regarding the prevalence of different combinations of social media use, our data show that the largest group of individuals was the one using all Facebook owned platforms (33.20%). Other frequent combinations of social media use resulted in a group of people only using WhatsApp (24.14%), a combination of WhatsApp and Facebook (22.54%), and a combination of WhatsApp and Instagram (12.09%). Overall, the vast majority of Facebook and Instagram users also used at least one of the other Facebook-owned social media platforms (99.42% of Instagram users; 97.81% of Facebook users), while WhatsApp users were less likely to use other Facebook-owned platforms (73.75% of WhatsApp users).

Next, we found that sociodemographic variables such as age and gender varied significantly according to the specific pattern of social media use reported by participants. In our study, age showed the strongest association with individuals' social media use, with non-users and WhatsApp users being the oldest group, and participants using both WhatsApp and Instagram being the youngest. Overall, our findings support the assumption that Instagram attracts the younger user generation. Further, our findings show that females are more strongly represented on social media – no matter which social media combination is investigated, which is also coherent with previous findings (e.g., Andreassen, 2015). The education findings are not further discussed now, because we believe them to be strongly confounded with age. To illustrate this point, Instagram use is more often reported in groups with lower education levels, but these persons are also younger – hence are still often attending school.

From a personality psychology perspective, findings from the present study clearly highlight that social media users differ in extraversion from non-users. This is the most robust finding with respect to the Big Five, also underlining the idea that extraverts have a stronger need for social interaction, which might result in them choosing to use social media to communicate with others via this digital channel in order to fulfill their needs for bonding. Both Extraversion facets drive this effect (see **Supplementary Material, Supplementary Presentation 1**), with non-users reporting to both be less active and assertive when compared with social media users.

We also found that individuals using all social media platforms or simply WhatsApp and Instagram (hence also the younger persons; see **Figure 2A**) had the lowest conscientiousness scores. This is not surprising, as low conscientiousness is known to have a direct relationship with tendencies toward Internet Use Disorders, which in turn are strongly characterized by social media use (Montag et al., 2015a; Müller et al., 2017; Sha et al., 2019). Supplementary analyses showed this effect was especially pronounced for Conscientiousness' order facet; hence, individuals using all Facebook-owned platforms tend to be less orderly and diligent.

Finally, we found Neuroticism was significantly higher among individuals using all platforms, or just WhatsApp and Instagram, compared to those reporting using no platform, or just WhatsApp. Interestingly, the association between Neuroticism and social media use when controlling for demographic variables would suggest an underlying confounding effect.

Overall, findings from the present study highlight the role of Extraversion in explaining differences in social media use vs. non use. These findings are coherent with those reported by studies examining Big Five personality traits and use of specific social media platforms (e.g., Ryan and Xenos, 2011; Montag et al., 2015b; Brailovskaia and Margraf, 2016; Sindermann et al., 2020a). Further, going beyond previous studies, we found that the Neuroticism and Conscientiousness traits were also related to the combined use of different social media platforms, which in turn suggests that distinct links emerging from previous studies may well reflect a common underlying association between these traits and individual differences in the inclination toward social media use. Still, it is worthy to note that although the described personality associations fit well with the literature, between-group differences were generally small-sized and could be detected due to the large sample size.

Limitations

The present study has several limitations, which need to be addressed. First, our sampling strategy used to recruit participants involved convenience sampling. Hence, limited inference can be derived from the present study regarding the actual prevalence of different patterns of social media use in the reference population. However, because of the large sample recruited, results about the association between emerging different patterns of social media use and both demographic variables, and personality traits, appear to be quite robust. An additional limit of the present study relates to its focus only on Facebook-owned platforms. Nevertheless, we believe the focus to be relevant, because these platforms are currently the most successful and important ones in terms of numbers of active users (Statista.com, 2019). Still, other platforms such as Snapchat, Twitter, or recently also Chinese platforms including WeChat (Montag et al., 2018) and TikTok, have been steadily increasing in popularity. The correlational nature of the present work represents another relevant limitation, preventing us from obtaining insight into cause-effect mechanisms or how personality relates to different types of platform usage (hence activity patterns). Finally, associations between facet levels of the Big Five and social media usage need to be handled with caution, as internal consistency was in the lower range of acceptability. Despite these shortcomings the present work is much needed, because it provides insight from a bird's eye view on who has an account on the different social media platforms owned by Facebook.

Conclusion

In sum, the present work shows social media users of Facebook's platforms to be younger, more likely female, and more extraverted compared to non-users. Our findings might be of relevance when research is carried out via social media platforms, because sample characteristics might be biased. Extending previous findings (e.g., Rife et al., 2016), we found that significant differences in the observed distributions of demographics and personality traits can be observed depending on the specific combination of social media platforms used by participants. These findings have practical implications, because biases in the distributions of demographics and personality may affect results concerning the distribution of variables of interest, as well as their associations (e.g., behaviors, Dash et al., 2019; intelligence, Jacobs

REFERENCES

- Andreassen, C. S. (2015). Online social network site addiction: a comprehensive review. Curr. Addict. Rep. 2, 175–184. doi: 10.1007/s40429-015-0056-9
- Brailovskaia, J., and Margraf, J. (2016). Comparing Facebook users and Facebook non-users: relationship between personality traits and mental health variables– an exploratory study. *PLoS One* 11:e0166999. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0166999
- Dash, G. F., Slutske, W. S., Martin, N. G., Statham, D. J., Agrawal, A., and Lynskey, M. T. (2019). Big Five personality traits and alcohol, nicotine, cannabis, and gambling disorder comorbidity. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 33:420. doi: 10.1037/ adb0000468
- Edmonds, G. W., Jackson, J. J., Fayard, J. V., and Roberts, B. W. (2008). Is character fate, or is there hope to change my personality yet? *Soc. Pers. Psychol. Compass* 2, 399–413. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00037.x

et al., 2012); abilities, Soh and Jacobs, 2013; and health, Feldman et al., 1999). Our findings might also be of relevance when aiming to understand who is at risk of falling for fake news. Logically, participants who abstain from using social media apps should receive less contact with fake news that are shared online. With respect to filter bubbles, it is highly interesting that Sindermann et al. (2020b) recently observed that low conscientious and high neurotic people have higher tendencies to also inform themselves only via the news feed on social media. Fittingly, those persons are also those who more likely end up using multiple social media applications.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the **Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethic Committee of Ulm University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CM designed the present study. DM analyzed the data and wrote the "Materials and Methods" and "Results" sections. CM drafted the "Introduction" and "Discussion" sections, which were later edited and revised by DM, JE, and CS. CS checked independently all statistics. All authors worked over the manuscript and critically revised it.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2020.00936/full#supplementary-material

- Feldman, P. J., Cohen, S., Doyle, W. J., Skoner, D. P., and Gwaltney, J. M. Jr. (1999). The impact of personality on the reporting of unfounded symptoms and illness. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 77:370. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.2.370
- Gazit, T., Aharony, N., and Amichai-Hamburger, Y. (2019). Tell me who you are and I will tell you which SNS you use: SNSs participation. *Online Inform. Rev.* 44, 139–161. doi: 10.1108/OIR-03-2019-0076
- Hamburger, Y. A., and Ben-Artzi, E. (2000). The relationship between extraversion and neuroticism and the different uses of the Internet. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 16, 441–449. doi: 10.1016/S0747-5632(00)00017-0
- Jacobs, K. E., Szer, D., and Roodenburg, J. (2012). The moderating effect of personality on the accuracy of self-estimates of intelligence. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 52, 744–749. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2011.12.040
- Kuss, D. J., Shorter, G. W., van Rooij, A. J., van de Mheen, D., and Griffiths, M. D. (2014). The Internet addiction components model and personality: establishing construct validity via a nomological network. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 39, 312–321. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.07.031

- Lazer, D. M., Baum, M. A., Benkler, Y., Berinsky, A. J., Greenhill, K. M., Menczer, F., et al. (2018). The science of fake news. *Science* 359, 1094–1096. doi: 10.1126/ science.aao2998
- Ljepava, N., Orr, R. R., Locke, S., and Ross, C. (2013). Personality and social characteristics of Facebook non-users and frequent users. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29, 1602–1607. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6369-6
- Matz, S. C., Kosinski, M., Nave, G., and Stillwell, D. J. (2017). Psychological targeting as an effective approach to digital mass persuasion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 12714–12719. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1710966114
- Montag, C., Becker, B., and Gan, C. (2018). The multipurpose application WeChat: a review on recent research. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2247. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 02247
- Montag, C., Bey, K., Sha, P., Li, M., Chen, Y. F., Liu, W. Y., et al. (2015a). Is it meaningful to distinguish between generalized and specific Internet addiction? Evidence from a cross-cultural study from Germany, Sweden, Taiwan and China. Asia Pacific Psychiatry 7, 20–26. doi: 10.1111/appy.12122
- Montag, C., Błaszkiewicz, K., Sariyska, R., Lachmann, B., Andone, I., Trendafilov, B., et al. (2015b). Smartphone usage in the 21st century: who is active on WhatsApp? *BMC Res. Notes* 8:331. doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1280-z
- Montag, C., and Elhai, J. D. (2019). A new agenda for personality psychology in the digital age? *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 147, 128–134. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.03.045
- Montag, C., Lachmann, B., Herrlich, M., and Zweig, K. (2019). Addictive features of social media/messenger platforms and freemium games against the background of psychological and economic theories. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:2612. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16142612
- Montag, C., and Reuter, M. (2017). Molecular Genetics, Personality, and Internet Addiction Revisited. In Internet Addiction. Cham: Springer, 141–160.
- Müller, M., Brand, M., Mies, J., Lachmann, B., Sariyska, R. Y., and Montag, C. (2017). The 2D: 4D marker and different forms of Internet use disorder. *Front. Psychiatry* 8:213. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00213
- Newsfeed.org (2019). Available online at: https://newsfeed.org/facebooks-dailyactive-user-count-grew-to-2-7-billion-in-q2-2019/ (accessed May 8, 2020).
- Pariser, E. (2011). The Filter Bubble: What the Internet is Hiding From You. Penguin. Pennycook, G., and Rand, D. G. (2020). Who falls for fake news? The roles of bullshit receptivity, overclaiming, familiarity, and analytic thinking. J. Pers. 88, 185–200. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12476
- Perrin, A., and Anderson, M. (2019). Share of US Adults Using Social Media, Including Facebook, is Mostly Unchanged Since 2018. Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/10/share-of-u-s-adultsusing-social-media-including-facebook-is-mostly-unchanged-since-2018/ (accessed May 8, 2020).
- Rammstedt, B., and Danner, D. (2016). Die Facettenstruktur des Big Five Inventory (BFI). *Diagnostica* 63:70. doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/a000161
- Rife, S. C., Cate, K. L., Kosinski, M., and Stillwell, D. (2016). Participant recruitment and data collection through Facebook: the role of personality factors. *Int. J. Soc. Res. Methodol.* 19, 69–83. doi: 10.1080/13645579.2014.957069
- Ryan, T., and Xenos, S. (2011). Who uses Facebook? An investigation into the relationship between the Big Five, shyness, narcissism, loneliness, and

Facebook usage. Comput. Hum. Behav. 27, 1658–1664. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2011. 02.004

- Sha, P., Sariyska, R., Riedl, R., Lachmann, B., and Montag, C. (2019). Linking internet communication and smartphone use disorder by taking a closer look at the Facebook and WhatsApp applications. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 9:100148. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2018.100148
- Sindermann, C., Duke, É, and Montag, C. (2020a). Personality associations with facebook use and tendencies towards facebook use disorder. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 100264. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2020.100264
- Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., Moshagen, M., and Montag, C. (2020b). Age, gender, personality, ideological attitudes and individual differences in a person's news spectrum: how many and who might be prone to "filter bubbles" and "echo chambers" online? *Heliyon* 6:e03214. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e03214
- Soh, L., and Jacobs, K. E. (2013). The biasing effect of personality on self-estimates of cognitive abilities in males and females. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 55, 141–146. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2013.02.013
- Soto, C. J., and John, O. P. (2009). Ten facet scales for the Big Five Inventory: convergence with NEO PI-R facets, self-peer agreement, and discriminant validity. J. Res. Pers. 43, 84–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2008.10.002
- Statista.com (2019). Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/ 814641/whatsapp-users-in-the-united-states-by-gender/ (accessed May 8, 2020).
- Statista.com (2020). Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/ 272014/global-social-networks-ranked-by-number-of-users/ (accessed May 8, 2020).
- Taber, L., and Whittaker, S. (2018). "Personality depends on the medium: differences in self-perception on Snapchat, Facebook and offline," in *Proceedings* of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, (New York, NY: ACM), 607.

Conflict of Interest: CM mentions that he is part of a discussion circle (Digitalität und Verantwortung: https://about.fb.com/de/news/h/gespraechskreis-digitalitaet-und-verantwortung/) debating ethical questions linked to social media, digitalization and society/democracy at Facebook. In this context, he receives no salary for his activities. Finally, CM currently is an independent researcher on the scientific advisory board of the Nymphenburg group. For this activity he is financially compensated.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Marengo, Sindermann, Elhai and Montag. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Should We Pay for Our Social Media/Messenger Applications? Preliminary Data on the Acceptance of an Alternative to the Current Prevailing Data Business Model

Cornelia Sindermann¹, Daria J. Kuss², Melina A. Throuvala², Mark D. Griffiths² and Christian Montag^{1*}

¹ Department of Molecular Psychology, Institute of Psychology and Education, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Roberto Therón, University of Salamanca, Spain

Reviewed by:

Kyriaki Kalimeri, Institute for Scientific Interchange, Italy Frederic Raber, German Research Center for Artificial Intelligence, Germany

*Correspondence:

Christian Montag christian.montag@uni-ulm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human-Media Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 08 April 2020 **Accepted:** 27 May 2020 **Published:** 14 July 2020

Citation:

Sindermann C, Kuss DJ, Throuvala MA, Griffiths MD and Montag C (2020) Should We Pay for Our Social Media/Messenger Applications? Preliminary Data on the Acceptance of an Alternative to the Current Prevailing Data Business Model. Front. Psychol. 11:1415. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01415 In the age of surveillance capitalism, the prevailing business model underlying the use of social media applications ("apps") foresees the exchange of personal data for the allowance to use an online service. Such a data business model comes with many potential negative side effects ranging from violation of privacy issues to election manipulation. Therefore, it is of utmost importance to think of alternatives to the current data business model. The present study investigated how strong the support would be for a monetary payment model among a sample of 210 participants. Participants were asked about their willingness to pay for social media, if in turn their data would be private and other problems concerning social media use would be tackled. Only one-fifth of participants (21.43%) supported such a model. From the Big Five personality traits, Agreeableness was positively associated with support of such a model. Finally, data are also provided on how much participants would be willing to pay for social media on a monthly basis. The present study's findings are of a preliminary nature and will contribute to the start of an important discussion.

Keywords: data business model, surveillance capitalism, social media, big five, personality, payment model

INTRODUCTION

It has been estimated that 3.8 billion humans used social media¹ and messenger services in 2020 (We Are Social et al., 2020). The most popular platforms in the Western part of the world derive from Facebook Inc. (We Are Social et al., 2020). Facebook owns not only the Facebook platform itself, but also Instagram and the messenger application WhatsApp. In the Eastern part of the world, in particular in China, WeChat dominates the market (Montag et al., 2018; We Are Social et al., 2020).

Although different social media platforms and messenger apps exist offering various functions and content to their users, the prevailing business model to earn money is the data business

¹Of note, despite existing definitions, for the present work the term social media is used to explicitly refer to platforms such as Facebook and Instagram, whereas messenger apps/services refer to instant messenger services such as WhatsApp (Howard and Parks, 2012; Carr and Hayes, 2015).

model. In short, users can use an online service in exchange for their data being used by the platform operators. Such digital footprint data are studied and analyzed by the social media and messenger app companies by means of algorithms, and the online profiles are sold to the marketing industry in order to enable them to engage in microtargeting (Kirkpatrick, 2016; Matz et al., 2020). Microtargeting entails sending a customized promotional message to an individual. In this regard, one study estimated that advertisers pay around \$25 CPM (cost per mille; costs per 1,000 impressions) to reach an average user (but differences in the prices exist) (Papadopoulos et al., 2017). The data business model has been highly criticized because it raises ethical questions in the area of privacy and also encourages developers to design platforms which are "addictive" (Burt, 2019; Montag et al., 2019; for the addictive potential of platforms see Sha et al., 2019; Sindermann et al., 2020a,b). This is due to more time being spent on the platforms, leading to more user data being assessed, which in turn leads to better predictions of the users' preferences through the algorithms used.

Finally, some of the elements of social media platforms, such as the newsfeed, are designed to show users what they like (based on the assumptions drawn from the digital footprints left on the platform) to make the users spending more time on the plaform (Montag et al., 2019). This personalization of content has several advantages, such as the "automatic" reduction of content that users are not interested in without the need for users to filter all the information available on their own. Still, benefits to the user are not clear, resulting in attenuation of privacy concerns (Aguirre et al., 2016). Personalization can also result in problems such as filter bubbles (Sindermann et al., 2020c). Of importance, personalized content (whether personalized by algorithms or by the users themselves) may be associated with radicalization and might even undermine democracy, especially if users decide to inform themselves about the political news exclusively via social media (Sunstein, 2004; Stroud, 2010; Bozdag and van den Hoven, 2015).

In the age of surveillance capitalism (Zuboff, 2015, 2019) it is of high importance to think of alternatives to the prevailing data business model because social media blurs the boundaries between the public and the private. By being inclusive, statusdisregarding, discourse-generating, and theme-comprehensive, social media as virtual communities involve the entire spectrum of necessary preconditions for a public sphere (Habermas, 1998). Platforms such as Facebook and Instagram can be considered virtual communities (Rheingold, 1993) which perform the function of a public sphere, allowing individuals to come together to share experiences and opinions, driving democracy via freedom of speech and assembly (Habermas, 1998). Therefore, social media platforms are not merely *a* public sphere, but can be considered the *ideal* public sphere.

Given this important role of social media, it is questionable to what extent social media companies should provide this public sphere on their own, without other provisioning and regulatory bodies' involvement (e.g., the European Union, other governmental institutions, and NGOs). Researchers have called for stronger regulation of social media companies (Griffiths et al., 2018). Moreover, the General Data Protection Regulation recently adopted in the European Union and the European Economic Area Regulation (EU 2016/679) is a first step in ensuring data privacy and additional measures need to be taken to give back control over users' privacy rights. This may include replacing the data business model with a monetary payment model investigated in the present study. This would likely reduce the aforementioned negative side-effects of the data business model because in exchange for the allowance to use a social media service actual money is being paid (e.g., via a subscription model as successfully used by Netflix and Spotify; Netflix as cited in Statista, 2020; Spotify, 2020). As a consequence, companies such as Facebook would need to refrain from selling social media users' data to the marketing industry.

Of note, several studies examining the willingness to pay for specific (personal) data exist (Carrascal et al., 2013; Egelman et al., 2013; Schreiner and Hess, 2015). For example, a study on web browsing reports that users value their online browsing history at around \notin 7 (Carrascal et al., 2013). Another study by Schreiner and Hess (2015) reported that perceived usefulness and trust in a fictive premium version of Facebook with more privacy protection functions positively influenced how much participants were willing to pay for this fictive premium version of Facebook. However, within and across studies it is important to note that privacy behavior must be seen as a contextual phenomenon (Acquisti et al., 2013; Carrascal et al., 2013; Morando et al., 2014) dependent among others to an extent on how relevant, trustworthy, value-added, and engaging personalization is currently perceived by users (Aguirre et al., 2016).

Based on this background literature, the present study aimed to answer two specific questions: (i) what proportion of users would support such an alternative business/monetary subscription model for social media offers and messenger apps, and (ii) do specific sociodemographic and personality variables predict support for such a model (numerous studies report associations of demographics and personality with various social media use variables; Montag et al., 2015; Kuss and Griffiths, 2017; Sindermann et al., 2020a). The study is necessarily of an exploratory nature. Therefore, no hypotheses were formulated given the scarce literature on this topic.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedure and Sample

The present dataset was collected via an online survey investigating several research questions dealing with the topics of smartphone use, social media use, and news consumption (programmed with the Survey Coder platform²³). The link to the study was advertised offline (e.g., on television and radio) as well as online (e.g., via social media and websites of news agencies) and participation was voluntary. Therefore, the participants in the present study form a convenience sample. As an incentive, participants of the study received anonymous feedback, for example on their scores on the Big Five of Personality in

²https://www.surveycoder.com/,

³https://ckannen.com/

comparison to the average scores of the other participants of the study. All participants provided informed consent prior to participation. The study followed the guidelines of the German Society for Online Research⁴.

After data cleaning (see **Supplementary Material**), the final sample comprised N = 210 participants (n = 117 males; n = 91 females; n = 2 "third gender"). The mean age of the sample was 35.82 years (SD = 12.30 years; median = 33.50 years) with a range from 18 to 73 years. Approximately half of the participants indicated university degree as their highest educational degree (n = 108). The other participants stated a university of applied sciences degree (n = 22), or some kind of school degree (n = 80) as their highest educational degree.

Materials

Big Five Inventory

To assess the Big Five of Personality, the German version of the Big Five Inventory (BFI) was applied (Rammstedt and Danner, 2017). It comprises 45 items answered on a five-point Likert-Scale from 1 ("very inapplicable") to 5 ("very applicable"). The 45th item concerning disputes with others (which is unique to the German version of this instrument) was not included in the final analyses to allow for closer comparability with other studies. Despite the possibility of calculating subscale scores of each broad Big Five factor to assess sub-facets, the present work will focus on the broad Big Five factors. The internal consistencies (Cronbach's alphas) of the five scales in the present sample were 0.82, 0.83, 0.88, 0.75, and 0.86 for Openness, Conscientiousness, Extraversion, Agreeableness, and Neuroticism, respectively.

Willingness to Pay for Social Media/Messenger Services

The willingness to pay for social media/messenger services was assessed in two ways. First of all, four items on the willingness to pay a monthly usage fee for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) were assessed. These included the willingness to pay (i) "if thereby it is ensured that my data accrued there are not used for marketing purposes," (ii) "if thereby it is ensured that my data accrued there are better protected," (iii) "if thereby it is ensured that the social media offers are designed in a way that does not aim to prolong the time users spend online," (iv) "if thereby it is ensured that the problem of fake news and radicalization is reduced." Each item was answered on a fivepoint Likert-Scale from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 5 ("strongly agree"). The scores in the four items were collapsed into one aggregate scale with an internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of 0.89. For the results of a principal component analysis, please see Supplementary Material. The items are presented in English and German language in Tables 1, 2. The German version was used in the present study.

Additionally, participants were asked to indicate how much money (in Euros) they were willing to pay per month for a single social media service such as Facebook and Instagram. The same question was also asked about paying for a single messenger service.
 TABLE 1 | Questionnaire assessing the willingness to pay for social media

 (WtP-SM) in English language.

I am willing to pay a monthly usage fee (money) for social media services such as Facebook or Instagram, if thereby it is ensured that my data accrued there are not used for marketing purposes.

I am willing to pay a monthly usage fee (money) for social media services such as Facebook or Instagram, if thereby it is ensured that my data accrued there are better protected.

I am willing to pay a monthly usage fee (money) for social media services such as Facebook or Instagram, if thereby it is ensured that the social media offers are designed in a way that does not aim to prolong the time users spend online.

I am willing to pay a monthly usage fee (money) for social media services such as Facebook or Instagram, if thereby it is ensured that the problem of fake news and radicalization is reduced.

The items are answered on the following response scale: "strongly disagree", "disagree", "neither agree nor disagree", "agree", "strongly agree".

 $\label{eq:table_table_table} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{TABLE 2} \mid \textbf{Q} \textbf{uestionnaire assessing the willingness to pay for social media} \\ (WtP-SM) in German language. \end{array}$

Ich bin bereit für Social Media Angebote wie beispielsweise Facebook oder Instagram pro Monat eine Nutzungsgebühr (Geld) zu bezahlen, wenn dadurch sichergestellt wird, dass meine dort anfallenden Daten nicht für Marketing-Zwecke genutzt werden.

Ich bin bereit für Social Media Angebote wie beispielsweise Facebook oder Instagram pro Monat eine Nutzungsgebühr (Geld) zu bezahlen, wenn dadurch sichergestellt wird, dass meine dort anfallenden Daten besser geschützt werden. Ich bin bereit für Social Media Angebote wie beispielsweise Facebook oder Instagram pro Monat eine Nutzungsgebühr (Geld) zu bezahlen, wenn dadurch sichergestellt wird, dass die Social Media Angebote so gestaltet sind, dass sie nicht auf die Verlängerung der Online-Zeiten der Nutzer abzielen.

Ich bin bereit für Social Media Angebote wie beispielsweise Facebook oder Instagram pro Monat eine Nutzungsgebühr (Geld) zu bezahlen, wenn dadurch sichergestellt wird, dass das Problem der Fake News und Radikalisierung reduziert wird.

The items are answered on the following response scale: "stimme überhaupt nicht zu", "stimme nicht zu", "weder noch", "stimme zu", "stimme absolut zu".

Statistical Analyses

First, descriptive statistics of all variables of interest were calculated. The skewness and kurtosis of all Big Five scales and the aggregate score on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) were below ± 1 , indicating a normal distribution (Miles and Shevlin, 2001). However, the skewness and kurtosis of the two items asking about how much participants would be willing to pay per month were much higher. Therefore, boxplots of these variables were inspected and some univariate outliers were identified. More specifically, scores outside the boxplot

⁴https://rat-marktforschung.de/fileadmin/user_upload/pdf/R08_RDMS.pdf

whiskers (set according to the formula by Tukey (1977): {25th-Quantile – $[1.5 \times (75\text{th-Quantile} - 25\text{th-Quantile})]$ } and {75th-Quantile + $[1.5 \times (75\text{th-Quantile} - 25\text{th-Quantile})]$ }) were identified as outliers.

For these participants (in total n = 7), the actual response was replaced by the highest score, which was still identified as non-outlier (i.e., €12.50). Of note, completely excluding the seven participants from the analyses did not markedly change the main results. However, it slightly reduced the mean values of the two items on how much participants were willing to pay. Moreover, it reduced effect sizes and increased p-values of some correlations between personality and payment variables. For example, the correlation between Agreeableness and the aggregate score on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) was r = 0.17and p = 0.016 in the sample of 203 participants. After dealing with the outliers, the skewness and kurtosis of both variables in parts still exceeded ± 1 . Exceeding a value of ± 1 indicates a violation of the normal distribution assumption (Miles and Shevlin, 2001). This was also underlined by significant values utilizing Shapiro-Wilk tests (although this test is biased towards significance due to the sample size). Finally, the histograms clearly indicated a non-normal distribution (see Supplementary Material). Consequently, non-parametric analyses were used to investigate these two items, and parametric analyses for the remaining tests.

Associations of all variables of interest with age and gender were calculated. Pearson's correlations were used to calculate correlations of age with the Big Five and the aggregate score on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) (see aforementioned assumption of a normal distribution). Spearman's correlations were calculated for the associations of age with the two items asking about how much participants would be willing to pay per month (see aforementioned violation of criteria to assume a normal distribution). To examine gender differences in the Big Five and the aggregate score on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram), t-tests were calculated (Welch's t-tests if equal variances could not be assumed based on a Levene's test; see aforementioned assumption of a normal distribution). Gender differences in the two items asking about how much participants would be willing to pay per month were investigated by Mann-Whitney U-tests (see aforementioned violation of criteria to assume a normal distribution).

Finally, correlations between personality and the aggregate score on whether participants were willing to pay for social media were calculated by means of Pearson's correlations corrected for age (see section "Results"). To examine the associations between personality and how much money participants would be willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram), and messenger services per month, Spearman's correlations corrected for age were calculated. All correlations are presented for the total sample and for males and females separately. Due to the low number of participants stating "third gender" as their designated gender identity, no separate results for this group are presented.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics, Associations With Age, and Gender Differences

Descriptive statistics are presented in **Table 3**. Moreover, **Figure 1** shows the proportion of participants who were not willing to pay (scores 1.00–2.50), were neutral (scores 2.51–3.50), or were willing to pay (scores 3.51–5.00) according to the aggregate score.

Age correlated significantly with Openness (r = 0.16, p = 0.25), Conscientiousness (r = 0.19, p = 0.007), and Neuroticism (r = -0.15, p = 0.029), as well as with the amount of money participants were willing to pay per month for a messenger service ($r_s = -0.15$, p = 0.027). Gender differences were found in Extraversion and Neuroticism only. Females had higher scores than males in both scales (see **Table 3**).

Correlations Between Personality and Willingness to Pay for Social Media/Messenger Services

As can be seen in **Table 4**, the only significant associations were found between Agreeableness and the willingness to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) and the amount of money participants would be willing to pay for a messenger service. These correlations were positive and the effect sizes were rather small. The association between Agreeableness and the amount of money participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram) just failed to be statistically significant.

Investigating the same associations among males and females separately (**Table 5**) showed similar results among males. More specifically, moderate positive associations between Agreeableness and all variables on the willingness to pay for social media and messenger services were found among males only. Among females, all associations were non-significant.

When applying a very strict Bonferroni correction, none of the correlations remained significant (e.g., 0.05/15 = 0.003; because the Big Five scales were associated with three scales/items on the willingness to pay for social media/messenger services). However, this is a strict correction procedure and it should be noted that the rather small present sample size (especially when split by gender) had an impact on statistical significance.

DISCUSSION

The present study examined how strong a social media user's support would be for an alternative model to the data business model which is currently being used by almost all social media companies. Beyond obtaining first insights into such support, the study also aimed to understand which socio-demographic variables and personality traits predicted support for such an alternative (i.e., paying for an online service with money).

In the present sample, approximately one-fifth of the participants (21.43%) stated they were willing to pay money (e.g., via a monthly subscription fee) for a social media online service. Of the participants, 29.05% were indecisive, whereas

	Total sample (N = 210)		Males (<i>n</i> = 117)	Females (<i>n</i> = 91)	Differences between males and females
	M (SD)	Median	M (SD)	M (SD)	
Openness	3.79 (0.64)	3.80	3.80 (0.63)	3.77 (0.66)	<i>t</i> (206) = 0.30, <i>p</i> = 0.766, <i>d</i> = 0.04
Conscientiousness	3.40 (0.66)	3.33	3.32 (0.60)	3.49 (0.73)	<i>t</i> (172.91) = −1.71, <i>p</i> = 0.089, <i>d</i> = 0.24
Extraversion	3.28 (0.84)	3.38	3.17 (0.85)	3.41 (0.82)	<i>t</i> (206) = −2.08, <i>p</i> = 0.039, <i>d</i> = 0.29
Agreeableness	3.58 (0.59)	3.67	3.55 (0.55)	3.60 (0.64)	<i>t</i> (206) = −0.67, <i>p</i> = 0.502, <i>d</i> = 0.09
Neuroticism	2.70 (0.79)	2.75	2.52 (0.76)	2.93 (0.79)	<i>t</i> (206) = −3.81, <i>p</i> < 0.001, <i>d</i> = 0.53
Willingness to pay	2.65 (1.13)	2.75	2.58 (1.12)	2.73 (1.14)	<i>t</i> (206) = -0.95, <i>p</i> = 0.344, <i>d</i> = 0.13
Amount of monthly social media fee	2.22 (2.96)	1.00	2.15 (2.95)	2.36 (3.01)	<i>W</i> = 5,059.5, <i>p</i> = 0.520, <i>r</i> = -0.04
Amount of monthly messenger fee	2.40 (2.73)	1.25	2.59 (2.84)	2.20 (2.59)	W = 5,742.5, p = 0.320, r = 0.07

TABLE 3 | Descriptive statistics of all variables of interest and differences between males and females.

Willingness to pay: aggregate score of four items on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram); amount of monthly social media fee: how much money participants would be willing to pay for one social media service, such as Facebook and Instagram, per month; amount of monthly messenger fee: how much money participants would be willing to pay for one messenger service per month. Two participants stated "third gender" as their gender identity and are not included in this table due to the low number of individuals in this group; d = Cohen's D; r = effect size for Mann-Whitney U-tests.



nearly half of the users stated that they were not willing to pay for such a service. This shows that paying money for social media in order to heighten privacy standards and reduce related problems such as radicalization finds no acceptance in a fairly large proportion of our investigated sample. It could be that either the majority of social media users (i) really do not care about privacy implications and just want to continue having free access to social media sites, or (ii) do not understand how their data is being used and/or exploited. Of additional interest, Supplementary Table S3 shows the mean values of the single items asking participants about their willingness to pay in order to reduce the use of their data for marketing purposes, to ensure better data protection, to reduce prolongation of users' time spent online, and to reduce problems of fake news and radicalization. It turns out that individuals in the present sample were willing to pay most in order to reduce risks such as fake news and radicalization followed by

paying for higher data protection, decreased use of data for marketing purposes, and decreased prolongation of online time, in ascending order.

If the identified percentages on the (un)willingness to pay for social media services are replicated in large representative studies, measures need to be taken to ensure data protection on social media sites. One of the recommendations would be to create large campaigns which explain the value of privacy, and to support a monetary alternative business model. Otherwise, new alternatives must be thought of. Giving users the option to choose between a monetary payment option (to heighten privacy) and the data payment option might be such an alternative. However, adoption of such an approach will disadvantage individuals on lower incomes who may not have the financial means to pay for such subscriptions. The present research shows that the search for alternative business models to the prevailing data business models is just beginning and represents TABLE 4 | Partial correlations between the Big Five personality traits and the items on the willingness to pay for social media and messenger services in the total sample.

	Total sample (N = 210)				
	Willingness to pay	Amount of monthly social media fee	Amount of monthly messenger fee		
Openness	r = 0.11, p = 0.098	<i>r</i> _s = 0.09, <i>p</i> = 0.175	$r_{\rm S} = -0.03, \rho = 0.616$		
Conscientiousness	<i>r</i> = −0.08, <i>p</i> = 0.280	$r_{\rm s} = -0.04, p = 0.592$	$r_s = -0.05, p = 0.477$		
Extraversion	<i>r</i> = −0.01, <i>p</i> = 0.846	$r_{\rm s} = -0.01. p = 0.907$	$r_s = -0.07, p = 0.288$		
Agreeableness	<i>r</i> = 0.20, <i>p</i> = 0.004	$r_s = 0.13, p = 0.053$	$r_s = 0.16, p = 0.023$		
Neuroticism	<i>r</i> = −0.02, <i>p</i> = 0.805	$r_{\rm s} = -0.05, p = 0.495$	$r_{\rm s} = -0.06, p = 0.409$		

Willingness to pay: aggregate score of four items on whether participants were willing to pay for social media (such as Facebook and Instagram); amount of monthly social media fee: how much money participants would be willing to pay for one social media service, such as Facebook and Instagram, per month; amount of monthly messenger fee: how much money participants would be willing to pay for one messenger service per month; all correlations presented are corrected for age.

an important and timely research endeavor. New solutions are urgently needed.

A second aim of the present study was to understand if specific demographic and personality characteristics predict stronger support for a monetary payment model in the realm of social media use. Whereas age and gender played minor roles in predicting such support, higher Agreeableness was positively associated with support for a monetary payment model. Whilst among both males and females Agreeableness was positively associated with the variable *willingness to pay for social media* (association in females just failed to be significant but effect sizes are similar), Agreeableness was also positively correlated with the proposed monthly fee for the social media/messenger service only among males. However, these observations need to be replicated in other samples.

Although messenger apps such as WhatsApp can be considered part of the umbrella term social media (Kuss and Griffiths, 2017) participants were specifically asked how much money they would pay for a service such as Instagram versus WhatsApp. In line with the very large distribution of WhatsApp (currently 1.5 billion users vs. 1 billion Instagram users), participants indicated a slightly higher monthly fee they were willing to pay for messenger services compared to social media, such as Facebook and Instagram (although this might also be a function of age). In 2019, Facebook earned \$29.25 per user (at the moment of writing about €26.94; Facebook annual report as cited in Statista, 2020). Accordingly, roughly €2.50 per month would be required per user based on a subscription fee model to earn the same 2019 revenue. This number closely matches the mean provided by the participants of our sample (€2.22 for social media vs. €2.40 for a messenger service). From this perspective, the finding provides a good basis for discussions about a monetary payment model for social media/messenger services.

However, the present study's findings (despite methodological limitations analyzed below) demonstrate that monetizing a currently free service (or offering a subscription-based alternative one) in return for data privacy appears to have a weak base of support. Based on Social Exchange Theory (Thibaut and Kelley, 1959) purporting a cost-benefits analysis in driving human decisions, behaviors, and expectations, it could be hypothesized that the current perceived benefits of social media platforms and app services outweigh the potential negatives (e.g., privacy concerns and echo chambers) (Lowry et al., 2011) and therefore users are reluctant to endorse a subscription-based model, solely on the proposition of safeguarding data privacy.

Instead, a monetized subscription-based business model offering commercial-free and data protected social exchanges could potentially find greater support if social media operators and regulators went beyond safeguarding data protection and rights of minors, into encouraging a more socially responsible social media business model. Equally with corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives in other industries - i.e., the food and beverage industry, which has endorsed healthier eating habits or more environmentally friendly agricultural and trading conditions (World Health Organization, 2004) the greater promotion of user rights and representation, the reduction of poverty, social inequality, and greater access to media literacy, the prevention of sedentary lifestyles and obesity, radicalization, and the encouragement of social entrepreneurship could be just a few of the social media industry's CSR initiatives for a healthier platform ecosystem (Afridi and Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2011; Paus-Hasebrink et al., 2019; Throuvala et al., 2020).

Governmental interventions in this direction have started to be enacted (Department for Digital Culture Media Sport, 2019) in line with mounting social pressures for greater accountability in some countries (5Rights Foundation, 2019; Information Commissioner's Office, 2019). Such measures would then render more tangible benefits to users, tapping into their basic psychological needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Deci and Ryan, 1985). Additionally, an advertisingfree, data protected and more socially responsible social media environment would potentially safeguard against technological burn-out (Peterka-Bonetta et al., 2019) triggered by information overload and impacting daily productivity (Duke and Montag, 2017; Rozgonjuk et al., 2020).

Higher regulation could also lead to diminished environmental/design triggers ("chasing" likes, followers), reinforcing prolonged user engagement and driving needs to control self-representation, content and relationships online (Throuvala et al., 2019a,b). Initiatives such as Instagram's trial to ban "likes" (Griffin, 2019) are steps in the right direction, but need to be followed by robust and more socially inclusive policies. If CSR benefits are appropriately channeled to end users, it is likely that an alternative

		Males (<i>n</i> = 117)			Females (<i>n</i> = 91)	
	Willingness to pay	Amount of monthly social media fee	Amount of monthly messenger fee	Willingness to pay	Amount of monthly social media fee	Amount of monthly messenger fee
Openness	r = 0.12, p = 0.208	$r_{\rm S} = 0.10, p = 0.281$	$r_{\rm S} = -0.08, p = 0.406$	r = 0.11 p = 0.307	$r_{\rm S} = 0.09, p = 0.386$	$r_{\rm S} = 0.04, p = 0.687$
Conscientiousness	r = -0.10, p = 0.301	$r_{\rm S} = -0.03, p = 0.721$	$r_{\rm S} = -0.22, p = 0.018$	r = -0.06, p = 0.570	$r_{\rm S} = -0.06, p = 0.583$	$r_{\rm S} = 0.15, p = 0.160$
Extraversion	r = 0.04, p = 0.639	$r_{\rm S} = 0.03, p = 0.740$	$r_{\rm S} = -0.01, p = 0.912$	r = -0.12, p = 0.268	$r_{\rm S} = -0.09, p = 0.409$	$r_{\rm s} = -0.13, p = 0.221$
Agreeableness	r = 0.21, p = 0.024	$r_{\rm S} = 0.25, p = 0.006$	$r_{\rm S} = 0.26, p = 0.004$	r = 0.20, p = 0.064	$r_{\rm S} = -0.01, p = 0.903$	$r_{\rm S} = 0.07, p = 0.493$
Neuroticism	r = -0.00, p = 0.976	$r_{\rm S} = -0.04, p = 0.632$	$r_{\rm S} = 0.03, p = 0.716$	r = -0.06, p = 0.551	$r_{\rm S} = -0.10, p = 0.368$	$r_{\rm S} = -0.17$, $p = 0.101$

one messenger service correlations presented are corrected for age ð to pay Nilling De V would ß much money participar. all this group; Э. of individuals Mon fee: of monthly messenger the low number t0 identity and are not included in this table due amount would be willing to pay for one social media service, such as Facebook and Instagram, per month; gender their as Two participants stated "third gender" month. per

Alternative to Data Business Model

monetary model offering data protection and CSR will be more convincing and widely accepted. This reflects evidence suggesting that a higher value is ascribed to more positive experiences vs. references to money, which are usually negative due to the reminder of the cost to acquire a product or service rather than the pleasure or benefit of using it (Mogilner and Aaker, 2009). Future studies may therefore examine further the feasibility of a more integrative monetary business model.

Finally, it is worth drawing attention to the privacy paradox. This paradox describes the tendency to not protect one's privacy (e.g., to disclose personal data) despite being concerned over one's privacy (Norberg et al., 2007). For example, a study by Woodruff et al. (2014) investigated associations between generic privacy attitudes and responses to several hypothetical scenarios and outcomes. The study found that individuals categorized as privacy fundamentalists (high concern), pragmatists (mixed concern), and unconcerned (no/little concern) did not differ in their likelihood to disclose data in any of the scenarios or depending on outcome. Although the present study did not directly assess privacy concerns or actual behavior, one can interpret the willingness to pay as intention for a specific privacy protective behavior, while acknowledging a potential hypothetical bias between willingness to pay and users' real intentions (Schmidt and Bijmolt, 2020). Therefore, whether individuals would ultimately actually pay for social media or messenger services remains debatable (for more information on the privacy paradox, see the review by Kokolakis, 2017).

The present study has several limitations, which need to be addressed. As mentioned, the study is not of representative nature and the sample size is rather small. This is also one of the reasons why the analyses were not run separately for the groups with different educational background (in addition to separately for gender). Another reason for this decision was that the level of education was unequally distributed in the present sample. Therefore, larger studies need to be conducted in this area. The study is viewed by the authors as a first step to start an important discussion in this area. Beyond this, the study is correlational in nature. Therefore, no causal interpretation between the variables is possible. The data were also of a self-report nature, therefore common method biases (such as social desirability) may have influenced the findings. Moreover, the results may also differ depending on geographical location, including Asia, where average earnings may be lower in comparison to Germany, and the respective sociocultural context may impact the results. In addition, many more factors putatively associated with the willingness to pay for social media services should be taken into account in future studies (Malhotra et al., 2004). For example, willingness to pay may depend upon whether individuals need to use social media platforms in the work context and upon an individual's income. Finally, the effects of an option to actively allow big technology companies to use one's data (i.e., by a "pay by sharing your data" option) should be further investigated in future studies. An additional item in a future survey would be to ask if individuals would be willing to pay to hinder third party apps to collect data about the user of a social media platform, although such apps might be helpful to run surveys such as the present one (Kalimeri et al., 2020; but see also differences across social media user groups as reported in Marengo et al., 2020).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets present in this study are available at the Open Science Framework: https://osf.io/wehmj/. Moreover the datasets are uploaded alongside this article in the **Supplementary Material** (**Supplementary Table S1**).

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their

REFERENCES

- 5Rights Foundation (2019). *What We Do*. Available online at: https:// 5rightsfoundation.com/in-action/ (accessed October 22, 2019).
- Acquisti, A., John, L. K., and Loewenstein, G. (2013). What is privacy worth? J. Leg. Stud. 42, 249–274. doi: 10.1086/671754
- Afridi, A., and Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2011). *Social Networks: Their Role in Addressing Poverty. York, UK: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.* Available online at: http://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/files/jrf/poverty-social-networks-full.pdf (accessed April 4, 2020).
- Aguirre, E., Roggeveen, A. L., Grewal, D., and Wetzels, M. (2016). The personalization-privacy paradox: implications for new media. J. Consum. Mark. 33, 98–110. doi: 10.1108/jcm-06-2015-1458
- Bozdag, E., and van den Hoven, J. (2015). Breaking the filter bubble: democracy and design. *Ethics Inf. Technol.* 17, 249–265. doi: 10.1007/s10676-015-9380-y
- Burt, A. (2019). Can Facebook ever be fixed? *Harv. Bus. Rev.* Available Online at: https://hbr.org/2019/04/can-facebook-ever-be-fixed
- Carr, C. T., and Hayes, R. A. (2015). Social media: defining, developing, and divining. Atl. J. Commun. 23, 46–65. doi: 10.1080/15456870.2015.972282
- Carrascal, J. P., Riederer, C., Erramilli, V., Cherubini, M., and de Oliveira, R. (2013). "Your browsing behavior for a big mac: economics of personal information online," in *Proceedings of the 22nd International Conference on World Wide Web WWW '13*, (Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: Association for Computing Machinery), 189–200.
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior*. New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Department for Digital Culture Media Sport (2019). *Code of Practice for Providers of Online Social Media Platforms*. Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/code-of-practice-for-providers-of-online-social-media-platforms (accessed November 5, 2019).
- Duke, É, and Montag, C. (2017). Smartphone addiction, daily interruptions and self-reported productivity. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 6, 90–95. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep. 2017.07.002
- Egelman, S., Felt, A. P., and Wagner, D. (2013). "Choice architecture and smartphone privacy: there's a price for that," in *The Economics of Information Security and Privacy*, ed. R. Böhme (Berlin: Springer), 211–236. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-642-39498-0_10
- Facebook annual report as cited in Statista (2020). Facebook: Revenue Per User 2019. Statista. Available online at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/ 234056/facebooks-average-advertising-revenue-per-user/ (accessed April 2, 2020).

electronic informed consent to participate in this study prior to participation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CM and CS designed the present work. CM drafted the first version of the Introduction and Discussion. CS wrote the Methods and Results, and conducted the statistical analysis, which were independently checked by CM. DK, MT, and MG critically revised the first draft of the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of this work.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2020.01415/full#supplementary-material

- Griffin, A. (2019). Instagram to Try Banning Likes Everywhere. The Independent. Available online at: https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/gadgets-andtech/news/instagram-likes-ban-test-update-app-features-a9203256.html (accessed November 17, 2019).
- Griffiths, M. D., Lopez-Fernandez, O., Throuvala, M., Pontes, H., and Kuss, D. J. (2018). Excessive and Problematic use of Social Media in Adolescence: A Brief Overview. Report Submitted to the UK Parliament Science and Technology Committee (Impact of Social Media and Screen-Use on Young People's Health Inquiry). Nottingham: Nottingham Trent University.
- Habermas, J. (1998). Faktizität und Geltung: Beiträge zur Diskurstheorie des Rechts und des Demokratischen Rechtsstaats. 1. Frankfurt: Suhrkamp Verlag.
- Howard, P. N., and Parks, M. R. (2012). Social media and political change: capacity, constraint, and consequence. J. Commun. 62, 359–362. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2012.01626.x
- Information Commissioner's Office (2019). *Towards a Better Future: Informing the Age Appropriate Design Code*. Available online at: https: //ico.org.uk/media/about-the-ico/consultations/2614762/age-appropriatedesign-code-for-public-consultation.pdf (accessed November 5, 2019).
- Kalimeri, K., Bonanomi, A., Beiro, M., Rosina, A., and Cattuto, C. (2020). Traditional versus Facebook-based surveys: evaluation of biases in self-reported demographic and psychometric information. *Demogr. Res.* 2020, 133–148. doi: 10.4054/demres.2020.42.5
- Kirkpatrick, K. (2016). Advertising via Algorithm. Available online at: https://cacm. acm.org/news/198460-advertising-via-algorithm/fulltext (accessed January 30, 2020).
- Kokolakis, S. (2017). Privacy attitudes and privacy behaviour: a review of current research on the privacy paradox phenomenon. *Comput. Secur.* 64, 122–134. doi: 10.1016/j.cose.2015.07.002
- Kuss, D. J., and Griffiths, M. D. (2017). Social networking sites and addiction: Ten lessons learned. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* 14:311. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph14030311
- Lowry, P. B., Cao, J., and Everard, A. (2011). Privacy concerns versus desire for interpersonal awareness in driving the use of self-disclosure technologies: the case of instant messaging in two cultures. J. Manag. Inf. Syst. 27, 163–200. doi: 10.2753/MIS0742-1222270406
- Malhotra, N. K., Kim, S. S., and Agarwal, J. (2004). Internet users' information privacy concerns (IUIPC): the construct, the scale, and a causal model. *Inf. Syst. Res.* 15, 336–355. doi: 10.1287/isre.1040.0032
- Marengo, D., Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., and Montag, C. (2020). One social media company to rule them all: Associations between use of Facebook-owned social media platforms, sociodemographic characteristics, and the

Big Five personality traits. Front. Psychol. 11:936. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020. 00936

- Matz, S. C., Appel, R. E., and Kosinski, M. (2020). Privacy in the age of psychological targeting. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 31, 116–121. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc. 2019.08.010
- Miles, J., and Shevlin, M. (2001). *Applying Regression and Correlation: a Guide for Students and Researchers*. London: SAGE Publications.
- Mogilner, C., and Aaker, J. (2009). "The time vs. money effect": shifting product attitudes and decisions through personal connection. J. Consum. Res. 36, 277–291. doi: 10.1086/597161
- Montag, C., Becker, B., and Gan, C. (2018). The multipurpose application WeChat: a review on recent research. *Front. Psychol.* 9:2247. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018. 02247
- Montag, C., Błaszkiewicz, K., Sariyska, R., Lachmann, B., Andone, I., Trendafilov, B., et al. (2015). Smartphone usage in the 21st century: who is active on WhatsApp? *BMC Res. Notes* 8:331. doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1280-z
- Montag, C., Lachmann, B., Herrlich, M., and Zweig, K. (2019). Addictive features of social media/messenger platforms and freemium games against the background of psychological and economic theories. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* 16:2612. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16142612
- Morando, F., Iemma, R., and Raiteri, E. (2014). Privacy evaluation: what empirical research on users' valuation of personal data tells us. *Internet. Policy Rev.* 3. doi: 10.14763/2014.2.283
- Netflix as cited in Statista (2020). Gewinn bzw. Verlust von Netflix vom 1. Quartal 2009 bis zum 4. Quartal 2019. Statista. Available online at: https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/196637/umfrage/gewinn-vonnetflix-quartalszahlen/ (accessed April 3, 2020).
- Norberg, P. A., Horne, D. R., and Horne, D. A. (2007). The privacy paradox: personal information disclosure intentions versus behaviors. *J. Consum. Aff.* 41, 100–126. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6606.2006.00070.x
- Papadopoulos, P., Kourtellis, N., Rodriguez, P. R., and Laoutaris, N. (2017). "If you are not paying for it, you are the product: how much do advertisers pay to reach you?," in *Proceedings of the 2017 Internet Measurement Conference*, New York, NY: ACM, 142–156.
- Paus-Hasebrink, I., Kulterer, J., and Sinner, P. (2019). Social Inequality, Childhood and the Media: A Longitudinal Study of the Mediatization of Socialisation. Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Peterka-Bonetta, J., Sindermann, C., Sha, P., Zhou, M., and Montag, C. (2019). The relationship between internet use disorder, depression and burnout among Chinese and German college students. *Addict. Behav.* 89, 188–199. doi: 10.1016/ j.addbeh.2018.08.011
- Rammstedt, B., and Danner, D. (2017). Die Facettenstruktur des Big Five Inventory (BFI). *Diagnostica* 63, 70–84. doi: 10.1026/0012-1924/a000161
- Rheingold, H. (1993). The Virtual Community. Available online at: https:// rheingold.com/vc/book/intro.html (accessed April 3, 2020).
- Rozgonjuk, D., Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., and Montag, C. (2020). Fear of missing out (FoMO) and social media's impact on daily-life and productivity at work: do WhatsApp, Facebook, Instagram and Snapchat use disorders mediate that association? *Addict. Behav.* 106487. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106487
- Schmidt, J., and Bijmolt, T. H. A. (2020). Accurately measuring willingness to pay for consumer goods: a meta-analysis of the hypothetical bias. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 48, 499–518. doi: 10.1007/s11747-019-00666-6
- Schreiner, M., and Hess, T. (2015). "Why are consumers willing to pay for privacy? an application of the privacy-freemium model to media companies," in *ECIS* 2015 Completed Research Papers, Münster, 164.
- Sha, P., Sariyska, R., Riedl, R., Lachmann, B., and Montag, C. (2019). Linking Internet communication and smartphone use disorder by taking a closer look at the Facebook and WhatsApp applications. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 9:100148. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2018.100148
- Sindermann, C., Duke, É., and Montag, C. (2020a). Personality associations with Facebook use and tendencies towards Facebook use disorder. *Addict. Behav. Rep.* 11:100264. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2020.100264

- Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., and Montag, C. (2020b). Predicting tendencies towards the disordered use of Facebook's social media platforms: on the role of personality, impulsivity, and social anxiety. *Psychiatry Res.* 285:112793. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112793
- Sindermann, C., Elhai, J. D., Moshagen, M., and Montag, C. (2020c). Age, gender, personality, ideological attitudes and individual differences in a person's news spectrum: how many and who might be prone to "filter bubbles" and "echo chambers" online? *Heliyon* 6:e03214. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2020. e03214
- Spotify (2020). Spotify Report to Shareholders. Available online at: https://s22.q4cdn.com/540910603/files/doc_financials/2019/q4/Shareholder-Letter-Q4-2019.pdf (accessed April 4, 2020).
- Stroud, N. J. (2010). Polarization and partisan selective exposure. J. Commun. 60, 556–576. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2010.01497.x
- Sunstein, C. R. (2004). Demogracy & filtering. Commun. ACM 47, 57-59.
- Thibaut, J. W., and Kelley, H. H. (1959). *The Social Psychology of Groups*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Throuvala, M. A., Griffiths, M. D., Rennoldson, M., and Kuss, D. J. (2019a). A 'control model' of social media engagement in adolescence: a grounded theory analysis. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* 16:4696. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16234696
- Throuvala, M. A., Griffiths, M. D., Rennoldson, M., and Kuss, D. J. (2019b). Motivational processes and dysfunctional mechanisms of social media use among adolescents: a qualitative focus group study. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 93, 164–175. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.12.012
- Throuvala, M. A., Griffiths, M. D., Rennoldson, M., and Kuss, D. J. (2020). The role of recreational online activities in school-based screen time sedentary behaviour interventions for adolescents: a systematic and critical literature review. *Int. J. Ment. Health Addict.* doi: 10.1007/s11469-019-00213-y [Epub ahead of print].
- Tukey, J. W. (1977). Exploratory Data Analysis, 1st Edn. Reading, MA. Pearson.
- We Are Social, Hootsuite, and Datareportal (2020). Digital 2020: Global digital overview. DataReportal – Glob. Digit. Insights. Available online at: https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2020-global-digital-overview (accessed March 19, 2020).
- Woodruff, A., Pihur, V., Consolvo, S., Brandimarte, L., and Acquisti, A. (2014). Would a Privacy Fundamentalist sell their {DNA} for \$1000.if Nothing Bad Happened as a Result? The Westin Categories, Behavioral Intentions, and Consequences. 1–18. Available online at: https://www.usenix.org/ conference/soups2014/proceedings/presentation/woodruff (accessed May 14, 2020).
- World Health Organization (2004). *Tobacco Industry and Corporate Social Responsibility. An Inherent Contradiction.* San Franciscom CA: Center for Tobacco Control Research and Education.
- Zuboff, S. (2015). Big other: surveillance capitalism and the prospects of an information civilization. J. Inf. Technol. 30, 75–89. doi: 10.1057/jit. 2015.5
- Zuboff, S. (2019). The Age of Surveillance Capitalism: The Fight for a Human Future at the New Frontier of Power: Barack Obama's Books of 2019. London: Profile Books.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sindermann, Kuss, Throuvala, Griffiths and Montag. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Career as a Professional Gamer: Gaming Motives as Predictors of Career Plans to Become a Professional Esport Player

Fanni Bányai^{1,2†}, Ágnes Zsila^{1,3†}, Mark D. Griffiths⁴, Zsolt Demetrovics^{1*} and Orsolya Király¹

¹ Institute of Psychology, ELTE Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest, Hungary, ² Doctoral School of Psychology, ELTE Eötvös Loránd University, Budapest, Hungary, ³ Institute of Psychology, Pázmány Péter Catholic University, Budapest, Hungary, ⁴ International Gaming Research Unit, Psychology Department, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elias Aboujaoude, Stanford University, United States

Reviewed by:

Máté Smohai, Károli Gáspár University of the Reformed Church in Hungary, Hungary António Fernando Coelho, University of Porto, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Zsolt Demetrovics demetrovics@t-online.hu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human-Media Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 09 March 2020 **Accepted:** 07 July 2020 **Published:** 05 August 2020

Citation:

Bányai F, Zsila Á, Griffiths MD, Demetrovics Z and Király O (2020) Career as a Professional Gamer: Gaming Motives as Predictors of Career Plans to Become a Professional Esport Player. Front. Psychol. 11:1866. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01866 Increasing numbers of young video gamers view esports (i.e., competitive video gaming) as a career opportunity, rather than just a recreational activity. Previous studies have explored the motivational differences between esport and recreational gamers and the motivational changes through career journey to become a professional esport player. The present study explored the predictors of career plans to become a professional esport player, with a specific focus on gaming motivations. Gaming time, gaming motivations, and esport-related playing experience were also examined among Hungarian gamers with competitive gaming experience (N = 190), such as years spent in esports, medium and frequency of participating in esport tournaments, the effort put into training before the tournaments, and the plans to become a professional esport player. Binary logistic regressions were carried out and results showed that the gaming motivations of competition, skill development, and social motivations predicted career planning as a professional esport player. Additionally, results showed that younger players were more likely to seek career opportunity as professional esport players than older players. Future studies should focus on novice esport players' psychological exposure to the hypercompetitive scene of esports, such as high expectations or the risk of becoming problematic videogame users due to their motivational changes.

Keywords: eSports, professional video gaming, mental health, gaming motivations, career planning

INTRODUCTION

Although research in videogames predominantly focuses on problematic use or addiction (Király et al., 2017; Rumpf et al., 2018; Müller et al., 2019), playing videogames is a recreational activity for most gamers, and it can even be a highly paid job for a minority of them who master their game-related skills and become professional esport players sponsored by well-known companies (e.g., *Coca Cola, T-Mobile*). Esports (i.e., electronic sports) refers to competitive video gaming where teams or individuals compete against each other in a videogame. It is now considered by some to be a sporting activity in which gamers can develop and train their mental skills and hand-eye coordination while playing (Hemphill, 2005; Wagner, 2006; Jonasson and Thiborg, 2010; Adamus, 2012). Esports started to gain popularity in the gaming community in the early 2000s (Bányai et al., 2019a), and today the number of esport consumers (i.e., actively participating in or watching

26

esport events) is 201.2 million (Newzoo, 2019). Furthermore, 1,757.5 million people have heard of esports without participating in it or viewing it (Newzoo, 2019). In the last 2 years, esport revenue (e.g., merchandise, tournament tickets, brands, media rights, sponsorship) also grew markedly. In 2017, the total revenue was \$655 million (US), while in 2019 there was a 26.7% increase from 2018 to \$1,096 million (Newzoo, 2019).

Competitive video gaming comprises organized esport tournaments with similar rules, systems, play, judging, and broadcasting like more traditional sporting events. Furthermore, professional esport players face similar training requirements as other sporting athletes (Taylor, 2012). Esports can be played via LAN (local area network) when gaming devices are connected or online, and events are supported by sponsors, while the large audience can follow the games with live sport-commentary via streaming platforms (e.g., Twitch, YouTube, Mixer) (Taylor, 2012; Jenny et al., 2016; Hamari and Sjöblom, 2017). Due to the popularity of esports and being considered as a sport activity, some universities provide sport scholarships for professional players (e.g., University of California-Irvine and University of California-Berkeley). Furthermore, the Olympic Council of Asia has included esports in the official program of 2022 Asian Games of China (the follow-up event to the Olympic Games) (Hallmann and Giel, 2018).

According to a recent online survey with a convenience sample of 1814 Hungarian esport players, esport as career option is most popular among adolescents and young adults aged below 24 years (eNet, 2017), and esport players are mostly males (92%) (Newzoo, 2017). The popularity to seek a career in esports among aspiring young gamers is not surprising considering the high earning potential and the respect and fame given toward the top esport players. Earnings can include cash prizes for esport tournament participation and rewards, team salaries (average around \$3,000-5,000 per month, and up to \$15,000 per month in top tiers), sponsorship money (e.g., Astralis Counter Strike franchise and team ownership by Audi), streaming (e.g., viewers' subscription fees on streaming channels of individual esport players or esport event broadcasts via platforms like *Twitch*), media rights, merchandising, and tickets (Newzoo, 2019; TheStreet, 2019).

Seeking a career in esports means that in addition to being a hobby or a sporting activity, playing videogames competitively can also be considered as an individual's job. Professional video gaming as a career has given rise to considerate debate among researchers in the field. On one hand, Caillois (2001) argued that competing as a professional gamer can negatively affect the concept of video gaming as a free activity, because it may compromise the core elements of play (i.e., free, separate, uncertain, unproductive, regulated, and fictive). Following Caillois' work (2001), Brock (2017) highlighted that esports could cause gamers to be driven by more extrinsic motivations (e.g., rewards, prize pools of tournaments) than intrinsic ones (e.g., self-development, self-concept and identity, the rewarding nature of the activity itself) (Ryan and Deci, 2000; Ryan et al., 2006). On the other hand, previous studies have shown that even professional esport players, whose job it is to compete and perform at maximum gaming level against their

opponents, describe esports as "serious leisure" (i.e., intermediate activity between work with beneficial implications and casual leisure) (Seo, 2016) and are driven by intrinsic motivations such as improving their in-game skills, and making esports part of their identity (Kim and Thomas, 2015).

Motivations that drive gamers to play videogames competitively are also important in influencing players to pursue esports as a career choice. Therefore, research is not only needed to identify the core motivations of professional esport players, but also to examine which motivations are most associated with gamers' aspiration to become professional esport players.

Previous studies have highlighted that intrinsic motivations and acquiring an esport player identity can be a detrimental part of becoming a professional. To acquire an esport player identity, Seo (2016) found in field observation and interview sessions with 10 professional esport players that aspiring gamers view playing videogames as a casual leisure activity (i.e., playing for fun), gain interpersonal relationships within the esport community, and as their skills and knowledge improve, esports gradually becomes an important aspect of their lives and their identity. Seo (2016) also found that the main characteristics of esport players who choose competitive gaming as a career were the celebration of mastering skills, pursuit of self-improvement, importance of fairness, equality, respect in the community, experiencing high self-esteem, accomplishment, and recognition.

Kim and Thomas (2015) also examined how motivations (intrinsic, extrinsic), goals, and learning style of professional esport players change during the process of becoming professionals. Following their interviews with professional esport players, their team coaches, team director, and psychological consultant, five different stages of becoming an esport player were identified. The motivational pattern of the gamers changed during each phase. For a beginner in the esports scene, the activity of gaming itself is motivating enough. Through gaining more experience as well as struggles with winning and losing, meeting more experienced opponents, and competing in videogames itself, gaming loses its fun factor. However, by developing greater competency, the enjoyment of gaming intrinsically motivates experienced esport players. Nevertheless, Kim and Thomas (2015) drew attention to the need to distinguish casual players and esport players based on the change in their motivational patterns. More specifically, competing in top tiers should be considered as work and it is usually driven by extrinsic motivation (e.g., tournament prizes, rewards, and fame) rather than intrinsic motivation.

Two recent studies investigated different aspects of gaming motivations comparing esport players with casual gamers. Martončik (2015) highlighted, that professional gamers compete in videogame playing to satisfy their life goals (i.e., intimacy, affiliation, altruism, power, achievement, and diversion). Affiliation (i.e., the need to help others, being in active interaction, and relation with others) differentiated esport players from casuals most probably because esport players tend to develop meaningful relationships with team members, and other members of the esport scene. Moreover, diversion motivation (i.e., the need for excitement, tension, and new experiences) also drives esport players more than casual players to compete in playing videogames. Furthermore, those professionals who were leaders of the esport teams also satisfied their need for power by holding the leader position. In a more recent study, Bányai et al. (2019b) found that esport players played more (i.e., longer game times on weekdays and weekends) and scored higher in social (i.e., developing and maintaining relationships with other gamers), competition, and skill-development motives than casual gamers.

In addition, research among traditional sportsmen has shown similar results. More specifically, the motivational pattern of sport has both intrinsic and extrinsic aspects. Traditional sports athletes enjoy the competition itself, internalize the professional athlete identity, and constantly strive for self-improvement, but can also be motivated by extrinsic motivations, such as prizes or fame (Baker et al., 2009; Van De Pol and Kavussanu, 2012; Pelletier et al., 2013; Rottensteiner et al., 2015; Clancy et al., 2016; Lochbaum et al., 2016).

In summary, previous studies have reported that competition, seeking challenge, social factors, and the drive for self-development are core motivations among professional esport players. Furthermore, esport players have different motivations than casual players, and that these motivations change during their career path. Nevertheless, the findings of previous studies still raise the question as to which motivations are most important in the initial stages of becoming an esport professional. Therefore, the present study explored the predictors of career plans to become a professional esport player among gamers with competitive videogame playing experience. Drawing upon previous literature, the present study specifically focused on motives as possible predictors of career planning. The identification of relevant predictors is likely contribute to the growing body of literature on the increasingly researched area of esports by providing an insightful examination of motives associated with professional videogame playing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

Participants were recruited from the largest gaming community in Hungary (GameStar.hu). Data were collected using an online survey that specifically focused on competitive gaming experiences. The survey was available in Hungarian, therefore participants came from countries with Hungarian-speaking population, such as Hungary, Romania, or Slovakia. Prior to survey completion, respondents were informed about the general aims of the research and that participation was voluntary. Respondents were requested to provide informed consent by ticking a box if they were over 14 years of age and agreed to the terms. For underage participants (those below 18 years of age), parental approval was also required. As an incentive, two 60,000 HUF-worth (approximately €200) of shopping vouchers were raffled off among participants. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the research team's university and was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki (World Medical Association, 2018).

A total of 190 participants with a history of competitive gaming experience completed the survey. All respondents were male aged between 14 and 52 years ($M_{age} = 21.6$ years, SD = 6.2). Participants had spent an average of 12–13 years in education (M = 12.6 years, SD = 3.1). A considerable proportion of participants studied (n = 75; 39.5%), worked (n = 59; 31.1%), or studied and worked (n = 52; 24.7%) at the time of the data collection, while only four respondents (2.1%) were unemployed. Approximately half of the esport players in the sample were single (n = 102; 53.7%), 38.5% in an intimate relationship (n = 73), 5.8% were married (n = 11) and 2% did not provide information regarding their relationship status (n = 4).

Measures

Demographic Characteristics

Data concerning major demographic variables were collected including gender, age, the number of years spent in education, current educational study and/or work experience, and marital status.

Competitive Gaming Experience

Participants were asked to provide information about their competitive gaming activities such as the medium of the tournaments [1 = online, 2 = offline (LAN), 3 = offline andonline], the number of years spent in competitive gaming as a participant of tournaments, the frequency of attendance in online and/or offline tournaments during the past year [1 = "I didnot participate in such tournaments," 2 = "1-2 times," 3 = "3-5times," 4 = 6-11 times," 5 = a few times a month (1-3 times)," 6 = "weekly or more frequently"], the type of tournaments based on location (1 = international, 2 = national, 3 = regional, 4 = local tournaments), the effort put into training for the tournaments (1 = "I do not train myself for the tournaments, I just register when I wish to participate," 2 = "I train less than 1 h a day," 3 = "I train 1-2 h a day," 4 = "I train 2-4 h a day," 5 = "I spend more than 4 h training"), and whether the participant planned to pursue a career as a professional esport player [1 = "I do not plan," 2 = "yes,"]I am already planning," 3 = "yes, this is in progress (I have a team forming, being a professional esport player is within my reach)," 4 = "yes, I am already a member of a professional team/I am a professional esport player playing solo"].

Motives for Playing Online Games

The Motives for Online Gaming Questionnaire (MOGQ; Demetrovics et al., 2011) was used to assess players' motives. The 27-item MOGQ comprises seven subscales: social (four items; e.g., "... because I can get to know new people"), escape (four items; e.g., "... because it makes me forget real life"), competition (four items; e.g., "... because it like to win"), coping (four items; e.g., "... because it like to stress"), skill development (four items; e.g., "... because it improves my skills"), fantasy (four items; e.g., "... to feel as if I was somebody else"), and recreation (three items; e.g., "... because it is entertaining"). Participants were asked to indicate why they played online games using a five-point Likert scale (ranging from 1 = "never" to 5 = "almost always/always"). Higher scores indicate stronger motivation to play online games for the respective aspect.

Statistical Analysis

Data analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 22.0 (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois). Participants who reported plans to pursue a career as a professional esport player [i.e., those who selected 2 = "yes, I am already planning," 3 = "yes, this is in progress (I have a team forming, being a professional esport player is within reach, or 4 = "yes, I am already a member of a professional team/I am a professional esport player playing solo" for the question of whether they planned to pursue a career as a professional esport player] were considered as players with plans to become a professional esport player (coded as 1 in the binary logistic regression analysis) (n = 72, 37.9%), while participants who had no career plans (i.e., selected 1 = "I do not plan" for the same question as above) were considered as players who had no plans to pursue a career as a professional esport player (coded as 0 in the binary logistic regression analysis) (n = 118, 62.1%).

Pearson correlations were carried out to explore associations between motives for playing online games. The strength of correlations is interpreted according to Evans (1996): r = 0.00-0.19 "very weak," 0.20-0.39 "weak," 0.40-0.59 "moderate," and 0.60-0.79 "strong." Provided that several moderate and strong correlations were found between motives, two separate binary logistic regressions were performed. In the single-predictor model, age was treated as a control variable, whereas predictor variables were added separately to the model, which resulted in a regression analysis wherein inter-correlations among predictor variables were not allowed. Therefore, associations between motives had no impact on the results. By contrast, all predictor variables were added in the analysis at the same time in the multiple-predictor model, meaning that inter-correlations between variables were allowed, and which may influence the results.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

With regard to the specifics of competitive gaming experiences, the vast majority of players participated in online tournaments (n = 184; 96.8%), and only a small minority of players participated exclusively in offline (LAN) tournaments (n = 6; 3.2%) (see **Table 1** for details).

On average, players spent 3–4 years in competitive gaming (ranging from 0 to 18 years). Participation in offline and online tournaments varied across players during the past year. Nearly half of the sample did not participate in offline tournaments in the past year (43.7%), while the majority of players participated in online tournaments at least 1–3 times a month (n = 156; 82.1%). In relation to the location of tournaments, overlapping categories were used indicating that a considerable proportion of players participated in international, national, regional, and local tournaments. The effort put into training for the tournaments varied across players. More than one-third of respondents reported they did not train for the tournaments (n = 68; 35.8%), while nearly half of them (n = 92; 48.5%) trained for at least 1 h a day preceding the tournaments. With regard to career plans, more than one-third of players had plans to become a

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of competitive playing experiences among male players with a history of competitive playing activities.

	Participants (<i>N</i> = 190)
Medium of the tournaments <i>n</i> (%)	
Offline (LAN)	6 (3.2%)
Online	114 (60.0%)
Offline (LAN) and online	70 (36.8%
Years spent in competitive playing Mean (SD)	3.5 (3.6)
Frequency of attendance in tournaments in the past year <i>n</i> (%)	
Offline tournaments	
Weekly or more frequently	12 (6.3%)
A few times a month (1–3 times)	34 (17.9%)
6–11 times	23 (12.1%)
3–5 times	15 (7.9%)
1–2 times	23 (12.1%)
No participation	83 (43.7%)
Online tournaments	
Weekly or more frequently	56 (29.5%)
A few times a month (1–3 times)	100 (52.6%)
6–11 times	19 (10.0%)
3–5 times	7 (3.7%)
1–2 times	5 (2.6%)
No participation	3 (1.6%)
Participation in tournaments based	
on location in the past year <i>n</i> (%)	
International	90 (47.4%)
National	78 (41.1%)
Regional	57 (30.0%)
Local	87 (45.8%)
Training for the tournaments <i>n</i> (%)	
More than 4 h a day	15 (7.9%)
2–4 h a day'	29 (15.3%)
1–2 h a day	48 (25.3%)
Less than 1 h a day	30 (15.8%)
No training	68 (35.8%)
Career plans n (%)	
Already member of a professional team/professional esports player	3 (1.6%)
In progress to become a professional esports player (team or solo)	19 (10.0%)
Already planning a career	50 (26.3%)
No career plans	118 (62.1%)

professional esport player (n = 69; 36.3%), although only three players were already a member of a professional team or a solo professional esport player (1.6%).

Correlations Between Motives for Playing Online Games

Means, standard deviations, and indices of internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) relating to the subscales of the motive dimensions alongside the associations between motives are presented in **Table 2**.

	Mean (SD)	α	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.
1. Social	2.75 (1.05)	0.87	_						
2. Escape	2.31 (1.13)	0.90	0.21**	-					
3. Competition	3.33 (1.12)	0.88	0.27***	0.28***	-				
4. Coping	3.03 (1.08)	0.84	0.27***	0.62***	0.21**	_			
5. Skill development	3.46 (1.08)	0.90	0.51***	0.23**	0.35***	0.43***	_		
6. Fantasy	2.85 (1.21)	0.87	0.28***	0.61***	0.26***	0.61***	0.34***	-	
7. Recreation	4.34 (0.71)	0.76	0.19*	0.24**	0.18*	0.42***	0.36***	0.39***	_

TABLE 2 Zero-order correlations among motives for playing online games (N = 190).

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001. Motives for playing online games were scored on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5.

All seven motives were positively associated. The strongest associations were observed for escape, coping, and fantasy on one hand, and between social and skill development motives on the other. The weakest associations were found between recreation and social and competition motives. Given that significant associations were found between motives (mostly weak and moderate associations with a few strong associations) which could possibly influence the results of a binary logistic regression analysis in which all variables are entered at the same time, two separate logistic regressions (i.e., a single-predictor model and a multiple-predictor model) were conducted in the following steps.

Binary Logistic Regressions

In order to explore possible predictors of career planning as a professional esport player among players with competitive gaming experience, binary logistic regression analysis was performed between players who had no plans to pursue a career as a professional esport player (n = 118, 62.1%) and players who had career plans (n = 72, 37.9%). In the first step, motives were added separately to the model while adjusting for age. Results are presented in **Table 3**.

Results of the single-predictor model showed that three motives were significant predictors of career plans: social,

skill development, and competition. This result indicates that high levels of the motivation to enhance social relationships, develop gaming-related skills, and compete with others predict career planning as a professional esport player among players with a history of competitive gaming experiences. The strongest predictor was competition, followed by skill development, and social motives. However, these motives explained only a small proportion of the total variance of players' career plans (Nagelkerke R^2 was below 0.20 for all three motives).

In the second step, a multiple-predictor model was tested in which age and motives for online playing were added to the model at the same time, allowing for intercorrelations between predictor variables. In contrast to the first regression model, the association between age and career plans was marginally significant, indicating that being younger in age was associated with a greater likelihood of planning a career as a professional esport player. The strongest predictor of career planning was again the motive of competition. Additionally, skill development also predicted career plans to be a professional esport player. The social motive just failed to reach the level of significance in this model (p = 0.09), while coping negatively predicted career plans. This result suggests that players with higher coping motives are less likely to have plans to become a professional

TABLE 3 | Binary logistic regression models predicting plans to pursue a career as a professional esports player (N = 190).

Single-predictor model					Multiple-predictor model			
	В	SE	OR (95% CI)	Nagelkerke <i>R</i> ²	В	SE	OR (95% CI)	
Control variable								
Age	-0.05	0.03	0.95 (0.90; 1.00)	0.03	-0.06	0.03	0.94 (0.88; 1.00)†	
Motives for playing o	nline games							
Social	0.45	0.15	1.57 (1.16; 2.11)**	0.09	0.34	0.20	1.40 (0.95; 2.05)	
Escape	-0.10	0.14	0.91 (0.69; 1.19)	0.03	-0.05	0.21	0.95 (0.63; 1.44)	
Competition	0.67	0.16	1.95 (1.44; 2.65)***	0.17	0.66	0.17	1.94 (1.38; 2.72)**	
Coping	-0.19	0.15	0.82 (0.62; 1.10)	0.04	-0.51	0.25	0.60 (0.37; 0.99)*	
Skill development	0.49	0.16	1.63 (1.20; 2.22)**	0.10	0.52	0.23	1.68 (1.07; 2.64)*	
Fantasy	-0.06	0.13	0.94 (0.73; 1.21)	0.03	-0.15	0.21	0.86 (0.58; 1.30)	
Recreation	0.02	0.21	1.02 (0.67; 1.54)	0.03	-0.17	0.29	0.85 (0.48; 1.49)	

***p < 0.001; **p < 0.01; *p < 0.05; †p = 0.05. SE, standard error; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval. In single predictor models, motives for playing online games were entered separately in the regression analysis while controlling for age. Reference category is "players who have no plans to pursue a career as a professional esports player" coded as 0 (n = 118, 62.1% of the total sample).

esport player than players with lower coping motives. However, it should be acknowledged that intercorrelations between motive dimensions could have influenced the results of this analysis. Furthermore, the explanatory power of motives in the total variance of career planning was again relatively low, indicating that 29% of the total variance of career planning is explained by age and motives for online playing (Nagelkerke R^2 was 0.29).

DISCUSSION

The present study explored the possible predictors of a career as a professional esport player among videogame players with competitive gaming experience. It drew on previous studies' findings, which highlighted that the motivational pattern of professional esport players included competition and self-improvement related motives, such as competing, seeking challenges, obtaining and maintaining relationships, and the willingness to develop one's own skills (Kim and Thomas, 2015; Seo, 2016). The findings of the present study highlighted that higher levels of competition, skill-development, and social motives predicted career planning to become professional esport player. Moreover, younger players were more likely to seek career opportunities as professional esport players than older players with competitive gaming experience.

According to the recent study, competition was the most powerful predictor among gaming motivations for aspiring esport players to become professionals. According to Kim and Thomas (2015), the motivation to compete can be beneficial through obtaining the esport player's identity and help to maintain the career, even if the professional esport players struggle with losing. Moreover, during the process of becoming an esport player, playing the game itself can be rewarding and can motivate the gamers intrinsically, which means competing with others in an esport game can help esport players in their early career (i.e., the enjoyment stage) and also later on when they need to cope with winning and losing (i.e., the achievement stage) (Kim and Thomas, 2015).

Skill-development also appears to play a large role in becoming a professional esport player. It is not just an intrinsic motivation that drives esport players to challenge themselves and master their skills in an esport game, but also the requirement to adapt to the changes of videogame mechanics, rules and playstyles of the opponents, and to their team-members, which is ultimately key to being (and remaining) successful. Skill-development includes the willingness to obtain deep knowledge about game mechanics, strategic thinking, and quick decision-making, as well as being motivated to keep playing and competing, and maintaining a growth mindset (Himmelstein et al., 2017). Skill-development can be meaningful for professional esport players. As Seo (2016) highlighted, during the stage of personal transformation called "the road of trials," esport players develop and specialize their skills and knowledge about the game itself and its mechanics, and their attitude changes from viewing esport as a leisure activity to focus on practice.

Social motivations, such as obtaining and maintaining relationships with esport team members, gaming community members, and even opponent esport players can be also beneficial for aspiring esport players who seek a career opportunity. Martončik (2015) highlighted, that esport players satisfy their affiliation life goals (i.e., the need to help others, interact with others) more than casual gamers, which means that being more sociable can be a requirement for an esport player to be successful in the esport community (e.g., developing friendly relationships, being supportive, and being a real team-member).

The coping motive, which was associated negatively with the career plan to become professional esport player, also confirms the different approach in how casual gamers and aspiring players with competitive gaming experience view their video gaming activity. Coping motivation means that videogames are played to get rid of daily stress (Demetrovics et al., 2011). However, previous studies have highlighted that esport players usually describe esport as "serious leisure" (i.e., intermediate activity between work and casual leisure) even if they enjoy the gaming itself (Kim and Thomas, 2015; Seo, 2016; Bányai et al., 2019b). This means that their aim is not to get rid of stress but to self-improve and be successful.

Limitations

Due to the voluntary participation in the current study, participants were self-selected and came from countries with Hungarian-speaking population, such as Hungary, Romania, or Slovakia. Therefore, sampling affects the generalizability and the representativeness of the results. In the present study, only male esport players were recruited. However, in the esport scene a small minority of female users are also present (8% of the competitors are female esport players) (Newzoo, 2017), and female esport players may have differed in their motivations to male esport players. Furthermore, planning to become a professional esport player was assessed utilizing a single-item question in the present study. However, according to the results of recent market research, a wide range of factors affect the career planning of an esports player besides ambition, such as the opportunity to test and master their skills, competition, self-development, the possible high income (prizes), fame, and becoming a community member (eNet, 2017; Pintér, 2018). Furthermore, experience in competitive gaming - which ranged from 0 to 18 years in the present sample - may also influence (further) career planning. Therefore, future research should focus on the influence of the different factors in esport career planning and should use more complex methods and measures to assess it.

Gaming motivations explained approximately 30% of the variance in the present study of esport career, but other factors such as social support (e.g., parental attitudes), availability of training opportunities in the region (e.g., scholarships, sport associations), cultural differences, and attitudes of the society toward esports (e.g., in South Korea esport players are widely respected as traditional sportsmen) also have a considerable explanatory power.

IMPLICATIONS AND CONCLUSION

Esport is not just gaining popularity in the gaming community, but also draws the attention from the representatives of traditional sports, big companies, and even the education sector (e.g., in the form of university scholarships). In this new era of video gaming, new professions have emerged, including professional esport players, esport managers, esport coaches, esport psychologists, esport sport commentators, and esport event organizers. Therefore, it is not surprising that esport is considered as a career option and is most popular among youth who represent the largest proportion of esport consumers (eNet, 2017). According to previous studies, which explored the identity transformation and motivational changes of esport players in order to become professionals (Kim and Thomas, 2015; Seo, 2016), it is important to stress that young gamers who enter this hypercompetitive gaming community have to deal with immense stress and expectations from team members, coaches, sponsors and the esport community itself. They have similar requirements and challenges as traditional athletes (Taylor, 2012), such as being sociable, competitive, and a willingness to invest time and practice in improving their skills. Furthermore, research suggests that esport players have similar motivational patterns to traditional sportsmen (e.g., intrinsic motivation meaning that the sport activity itself is rewarding, internalizing the professional athlete identity, and striving for self-improvement, as well as extrinsic motivation such as gaining respect and fame in the community, winning high prizes) (Baker et al., 2009; Van De Pol and Kavussanu, 2012; Pelletier et al., 2013; Rottensteiner et al., 2015; Clancy et al., 2016; Lochbaum et al., 2016).

Previous studies have shown that intrinsic motivations such as self-development and enjoying the game itself can help esport players during their professional career journey (from the very beginning to the top tier leagues) and cope with ongoing struggles (Kim and Thomas, 2015; Seo, 2016). Moreover, the findings of the present study highlighted that high levels of competition, skill development, and social motivations predicted initial career planning among esport players. These results highlight the importance of identifying specific motive patterns that can be predictive of long-term career plans among youth with a history of competitive gaming. The identification of such motive patterns (e.g., similarly high levels of social, skill development, and competition motives) constitute a reliable indicator of long-term career goals in young esport players, which can help sponsors and managers prepare for decisions about financial support or training programs that can improve the performance of professional esport teams.

Additionally, motive patterns can help coaches with a more nuanced understanding of attitudes, intentions, and behaviors that can contribute to more targeted and effective decisions about specific roles and positions within a team. In addition, the present findings highlight that the fostering of some specific motives in players may facilitate favorable attitudes toward esports as career. However, extrinsic motivations can also drive esport players' career plans (e.g., fame, rewards) and can lead professionals to pursue extrinsic rewards through

excessive videogame use. Increasing numbers of adolescents view esports as an activity from which they can make a professional living. From this perspective, novice esport players can also be affected by problematic use of videogames (Chung et al., 2019) due to the stress level of the hypercompetitive esport scene, high expectations toward them, and extrinsic motives (Bányai et al., 2019b). Moreover, the social context and individual vulnerability to problematic gaming and gaming disorder can also affect esport players, such as the level of experienced real life stress and related coping strategies (e.g., escaping/avoiding real life problems by plaving video games), lower self-esteem (Kardefelt-Winther, 2014), additional mental health issues (e.g., depression, social anxiety) (Allison et al., 2006; Mehroof and Griffiths, 2010; Kneer et al., 2014; Király et al., 2018). Social features such as the quality of social support in the family, the presence or lack of meaningful relationships, and subjective wellbeing in the workplace or in education (Zhou and Li, 2009; Rehbein et al., 2010; Haagsma et al., 2012; Rehbein and Baier, 2013) could also influence novice esport players' video game usage. Consequently, future research should focus on esport players' psychological vulnerability, especially because this activity is more popular among youth who are generally in an identity transformation in their adolescence and young adulthood.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of ELTE Eötvös Loránd University Faculty of Pedagogy and Psychology. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FB, ÁZ, MG, and ZD contributed to the conception and design of the study. FB organized the database. ÁZ performed the statistical analysis. FB, ÁZ, and OK wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office (Grant numbers: KKP126835, NKFIH-1157-8/2019-DT). OK was supported by the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences and by the ÚNKP-19-4 New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology. The study was also supported by the Hungarian Ministry of Human Capacities (ELTE Institutional Excellence Program, 783-3/2018/FEKUTSRAT).

REFERENCES

- Adamus, T. (2012). "Playing computer games as electronic sport search of a theoretical framework for a new research field," in *Computer Games and New Media Multures: A Handbook of Digital Games Studies*, eds J. Fromme and A. Unger (Dordrecht: Springer), 477–490. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2777-9_30
- Allison, S. E., Von Wahlde, L., Shockley, T., and Gabbard, G. O. (2006). The development of the self in the era of the internet and role-playing fantasy games. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 163, 381–385. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.163.3.381
- Baker, J., Horton, S., and Weir, P. (2009). The Masters Athlete: Understanding the Role of Sport and Exercise in Optimizing Aging. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Bányai, F., Griffiths, M. D., Király, O., and Demetrovics, Z. (2019a). The psychology of esports: a systematic literature review. *J. Gambl. Stud.* doi: 10.1007/s10899-018-9763-1 [Epub ahead of print].
- Bányai, F., Griffiths, M. D., Demetrovics, Z., and Király, O. (2019b). The mediating effect of motivations between psychiatric distress and gaming disorder among esport gamers and recreational gamers. *Comprehens. Psychiatry* 94:152117. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2019.152117
- Brock, T. (2017). Roger Caillois and e-sports: on the problems of treating play as work. *Games Cult.* 12, 321–339. doi: 10.1177/1555412016686878
- Caillois, R. (2001). Man, Play and Games. Chicago, IL: University of Illinois Press.
- Chung, T., Sum, S., Chan, M., Lai, E., and Cheng, N. (2019). Will esports result in a higher prevalence of problematic gaming? A review of the global situation. *J. Behav. Addict.* 8, 384–394. doi: 10.1556/2006.8.2019.46
- Clancy, R. B., Herring, M. P., MacIntyre, T. E., and Campbell, M. J. (2016). A review of competitive sport motivation research. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 27, 232–242. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2016.09.003
- Demetrovics, Z., Urbán, R., Nagygyörgy, K., Farkas, J., Zilahy, D., Mervó, B., et al. (2011). Why do you play? The development of the motives for online gaming questionnaire (MOGQ). *Behav. Res. Methods* 43, 814–825. doi: 10. 3758/s13428-011-0091-y
- eNet (2017). Almost 200,000 Hardcore Gamers in Hungary E-Sports in Figures [Online]. Available online at: https://enet.hu/news/almost-200000-hardcoregamers-in-hungary-e-sports-in-figures/?lang=en (accessed July 23, 2020).
- Evans, J. D. (1996). Straightforward Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences. Pacific Grove, CA: Thomson Brooks/Cole Publishing Co.
- Haagsma, M. C., Pieterse, M. E., and Peters, O. (2012). The prevalence of problematic video gamers in the Netherlands. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 15, 162–168. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2011.0248
- Hallmann, K., and Giel, T. (2018). eSports-Competitive sports or recreational activity? Sport Manag. Rev. 21, 14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.smr.2017.07.011
- Hamari, J., and Sjöblom, M. (2017). What is eSports and why do people watch it? *Int. Res.* 27, 211–232. doi: 10.1108/intr-04-2016-0085
- Hemphill, D. (2005). Cybersport. J. Philos. Sport 32, 195-207.
- Himmelstein, D., Liu, Y., and Shapiro, J. L. (2017). An exploration of mental skills among competitive League of Legend players. Int. J. Gaming Comp. Mediat. Simulat. 9, 1–21. doi: 10.4018/ijgcms.2017040101
- Jenny, S. E., Manning, R. D., Keiper, M. C., and Olrich, T. W. (2016). Virtual(ly) athletes: where esports fit within the definition of "sport". *Quest* 69, 1–18. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2016.1144517
- Jonasson, K., and Thiborg, J. (2010). Electronic sport and its impact on future sport. Sport Soc. 13, 287–299. doi: 10.1080/17430430903522996
- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2014). The moderating role of psychosocial well-being on the relationship between escapism and excessive online gaming. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 38, 68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.05.020
- Kim, S. H., and Thomas, M. K. (2015). A stage theory model of professional video game players in South Korea: the socio-cultural dimensions of the development of expertise. *Asian J. Inform. Technol.* 14, 176–186.
- Király, O., Griffiths, M. D., King, D., Lee, H.-K., Lee, S.-Y., Bányai, F., et al. (2017). Policy responses to problematic video game use: a systematic review

The funding institutions had no role in the study design or the data collection, analysis and interpretation of the data, writing the manuscript, or the decision to submit the article for publication.

of current measures and future possibilities. J. Behav. Addict. 7, 503–517. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.050

- Király, O., Lajtai, L., Bányai, F., Zsila, Á, Magi, A., Túri, A., et al. (2018). Preliminary findings of clinical interviews with gamers scoring high on problematic gaming tests. *Paper presented at the 5th International Conference on Behavioral Addictions, Cologne*, Germany, 23–25.
- Kneer, J., Rieger, D., Ivory, J. D., and Ferguson, C. (2014). Awareness of risk factors for digital game addiction: interviewing players and counselors. *Int. J. Mental Health Addict*. 12, 585–599. doi: 10.1007/s11469-014-9489-y
- Lochbaum, M., Kazak, ÇZ., Graham, K.-A., Wright, T., and Zazo, R. (2016). Task and ego goal orientations in competitive sport: a quantitative review of the literature from 1989 to 2016. *Kinesiology* 48, 3–29. doi: 10.26582/k.48.1.14
- Martončik, M. (2015). e-Sports: playing just for fun or playing to satisfy life goals? Comput. Hum. Behav. 48, 208–211. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.056
- Mehroof, M., and Griffiths, M. D. (2010). Online gaming addiction: the role of sensation seeking, self-control, neuroticism, aggression, state anxiety, and trait anxiety. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 13, 313–316. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2009. 0229
- Müller, K. W., Beutel, M. E., Dreier, M., and Wölfling, K. (2019). A clinical evaluation of the DSM-5 criteria for Internet Gaming Disorder and a pilot study on their applicability to further Internet-related disorders. J. Behav. Addict. 8, 16–24. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.140
- Newzoo (2017). 2017 Global Esports Market Report [Online]. Available online at: https://asociacionempresarialesports.es/wp-content/uploads/newzoo_free_2017_global_esports_market_report.pdf (accessed July 23, 2020).
- Newzoo (2019). Global Esports Market Report [Online]. Available online at: https://newzoo.com/insights/trend-reports/newzoo-global-esports-marketreport-2019-light-version/ (accessed July 23, 2020).
- Pelletier, L. G., Rocchi, M. A., Vallerand, R. J., Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2013). Validation of the revised sport motivation scale (SMS-II). *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 14, 329–341. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.12.002
- Pintér, R. (2018). A gamer bennük van-Az eNET Internetkutató, az Esportmilla és az Esport1 közös magyar videojátékos és e-sport kutatásának főbb eredményei. [The gamer is inside them – The main results of the eNET Internet Research's, the Esportmilla's and Esport1's research with Hungarian video gamers and e-sport.]. *Informá. Társ.* 18, 107–119.
- Rehbein, F., and Baier, D. (2013). Family-, media-, and school-related risk factors of video game addiction. J. Media Psychol. 25, 118–128. doi: 10.1027/1864-1105/a000093
- Rehbein, F., Psych, G., Kleimann, M., Mediasci, G., and Mößle, T. (2010). Prevalence and risk factors of video game dependency in adolescence: results of a German nationwide survey. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 13, 269–277. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2009.0227
- Rottensteiner, C., Tolvanen, A., Laakso, L., and Konttinen, N. (2015). Youth athletes' motivation, perceived competence, and persistence in organized team sports. J. Sport Behav. 38, 1–18.
- Rumpf, H.-J., Achab, S., Billieux, J., Bowden-Jones, H., Carragher, N., Demetrovics, Z., et al. (2018). Including gaming disorder in the ICD-11: the need to do so from a clinical and public health perspective: commentary on: a weak scientific basis for gaming disorder: let us err on the side of caution (Van Rooij et al., 2018). J. Behav. Addict. 7, 556–561. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.59
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: classic definitions and new directions. *Contemp. Educ. Psychol.* 25, 54–67. doi: 10. 1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. M., Rigby, C. S., and Przybylski, A. (2006). The motivational pull of video games: a self-determination theory approach. *Motiv. Emot.* 30, 344–360. doi: 10.1007/s11031-006-9051-8
- Seo, Y. (2016). Professionalized consumption and identity transformations in the field of eSports. J. Bus. Res. 69, 264–272. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.07.039
- Taylor, T. (2012). Raising the Stakes: E-Sports and the Professionalization of Computer Gaming. Cambridge: MIT Press.

- TheStreet. (2019). *How Much Do eSports Players Make?* [Online]. Available online at: https://www.thestreet.com/personal-finance/how-much-do-esports-players-make-15126931 (accessed July 23, 2020).
- Van De Pol, P. K., and Kavussanu, M. (2012). Achievement motivation across training and competition in individual and team sports. Sport Exerc. Perform. Psychol. 1, 91–105. doi: 10.1037/a0025967
- Wagner, M. G. (2006). "On the scientific relevance of esports," in Proceedings of the International Conference on Internet Computing & Conference on Computer Games Development, ICOMP), Las Vegas, NE.
- World Medical Association (2018). WMA Declaration Of Helsinki Ethical Principles For Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. Available online at: https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethicalprinciples-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/ (accessed June 15, 2018).
- Zhou, Y., and Li, Z. (2009). Online game addiction among Chinese college students measurement and attribution. *Ann. Rev. Cyberther. Telemed.* 7, 149–154.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bányai, Zsila, Griffiths, Demetrovics and Király. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mobile Internet Technologies, Ecological Momentary Assessment, and Intervention—Poison and Remedy for New Online Problematic Behaviors in ICD-11

Karol Lewczuk^{1*}, Monika Gorowska^{2,3}, Yonghui Li^{2,3} and Mateusz Kazimierz Gola^{4,5*}

¹ Institute of Psychology, Cardinal Stefan Wyszyński University, Warsaw, Poland, ² Key Laboratory of Mental Health, Institute of Psychology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China, ⁴ Swartz Center for Computational Neuroscience, Institute for Neural Computation, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁵ Institute of Psychology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Louis W. Leung, Hong Kong Shue Yan University, Hong Kong

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Carrà, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy Qiaolei Jiang, Tsinghua University, China

*Correspondence:

Karol Lewczuk k.lewczuk@uksw.edu.pl Mateusz Kazimierz Gola mgola@ucsd.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 June 2020 Accepted: 27 July 2020 Published: 13 August 2020

Citation:

Lewczuk K, Gorowska M, Li Y and Gola MK (2020) Mobile Internet Technologies, Ecological Momentary Assessment, and Intervention— Poison and Remedy for New Online Problematic Behaviors in ICD-11. Front. Psychiatry 11:807. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00807 Keywords: problematic behavior, mobile technologies, addictive behavior, Internet technologies, ecological momentary assessment, ecological momentary intervention

INTRODUCTION

Technological advancements often present new challenges to mental health and well-being while, at the same time, creating the possibility for new, effective interventions for its preservation, improvement, and recovery (1). In the current commentary, on one hand, we discuss the category of problematic behaviors for which mobile internet technologies have created an outlet. We also consider research challenges related to the conceptualization of these problems, as proposed by the World Health Organization (WHO) for the upcoming 11th revision of International Classification of Disorders (2). On the other hand, we discuss what the development of mobile and online technologies offers for solving or mitigating these problems. Specifically, we focus on ecological momentary assessment (EMA) and intervention (EMI) methodologies (3, 4) and how they can help in overcoming difficulties currently faced in problematic online behavior research, diagnosis, and therapy.

NEW ARENAS FOR PROBLEMATIC AND ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOR

High-speed internet that can be accessed cheaply, at whim, using convenient pocket-sized portable devices and through a multitude of entertaining applications have created a new environment in which gratifying behavior can be easily engaged in and repeated, leading in some cases to the development of detrimental habits. In this way, some online-mediated activities, like cybersex and pornography use, gambling, gaming, buying, social networking, video streaming, or general internet use, can become problematic and—for a subset of users—constitute a mental health problem (5–7). Although some of these behaviors were potentially problematic before the Internet era, the advent of high-speed Internet and widespread use of mobile technology has dramatically increased their

35
addictive potential, making them more significant mental-health threats both on a personal and societal level (8, 9).

ICD-11 AND PROBLEMATIC ONLINE BEHAVIORS

To address clinical concerns on growing societal significance of new behavioral problems related to the development of technology, WHO recently classified some of them as new diagnostic entities in the ICD-11 (2). Pathological gambling, as well as pathological gaming were described in the "Disorders due to substance use and addictive behaviors" category, while Compulsive Sexual Behavior Disorder (CSBD) was deemed a member of "Impulse Control Disorders" (2, 10), although the discussion on the addictive, compulsive, and/or impulsive roots of the disorder is still ongoing (11–13). An alike debate for some of the other problematic behavior types, e.g., gambling (14, 15), gaming (16) or buying (17, 18) is still in progress.

In our opinion, this discussion raises important questions on determinants for the classification of problematic behavior. Why are some of them classified as addiction-type disorders while others as impulse control disorders? It is worth mentioning that in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual IV-TR (19) gambling disorder was classified as an impulse control disorder and in the 5th edition (20) as an addiction. A similar change occurred between ICD-10 (21) and ICD-11 (3) for pathological gambling. It raises further important questions: what are the main mechanisms underlying problematic gaming, gambling, or CSBD, and are they homogeneous within each unit? Recognizing these pathological behaviors as psychiatric conditions naturally require further research on their accurate conceptualization and development of effective treatments. Here, another significant question emerges: how do we examine the effectiveness of the treatment? In the case of substance use disorders, there is plenty of objective measures of abstinence such as urinal, saliva, or blood tests (22, 23). In contrast, there is no such objective and retrospective method of assessment for problematic behaviors. However, if the behavior is engaged in online, reliable tracking of activity can be made possible by using EMA.

ECOLOGICAL MOMENTARY ASSESSMENT: A WAY TO BETTER UNDERSTAND NEW PROBLEMATIC BEHAVIORS

EMA is a method delivered through mobile devices aimed to collect and record a person's activities and inner states in real time as they occur, by periodically prompting the user to fill-out short assessment questionnaires (3, 24, 25). Among the most appreciated benefits of EMA are: (a) minimization of recall bias by assessing the current, instead of retrospective data; (b) maximization of ecological validity through data collection in a real-world setting, as opposed to data collection in controlled laboratory environments; (c) enabling to gather a large amount of quantitative data from individuals across time and different contexts (3); as well as (d) to identify the dynamic interplay between the variables, thereby helping (e) to infer causal relationships between them (26). Most recent versions of EMA running on new mobile devices equipped with sophisticated sensors and features allow for real-time geolocation, active tracking, objective inferring on stress or arousal level based on biosensors (e.g., heart rate and temperature measurements with smartwatches) and tracking of actual online behavior (e.g., on smartphone or tablet) (3, 24, 25). Recent advances in the research have transformed EMA from an initially a valuable data collection method into real-time intervention tool - EMI (5), providing not only the assessment but also the management of momentary variables (22, 27, 28). In our opinion research involving EMA may help (a) to solve the etiological debate on the correct conceptualization and behavioral phenotyping of gambling, gaming, CSBD, and not-yet classified behaviors such as problematic social media use of video binging. (b) It provides a more reliable and objective measure of frequency and severity, progression, or improvement of actual behaviors; and in combination with EMI (c) can offer new scientifically verified treatments.

ADDICTIVE, IMPULSIVE, AND COMPULSIVE MODELS: SOLVING THE PUZZLE

To illustrate the benefits of using EMA in advancing the debate between addictive, impulsive, and compulsive models of online problematic behaviour, we will use the example of CSBD, for which the discussion is especially lively (11). The validity of each model is based on the presence and relative importance of symptoms predicted by each of the three models (29). The presence of obsessions driving sexual behavior, as well as its relative rigidity and ritualism, can indicate its kinship to obsessive-compulsive disorders and support the validity of the compulsive model. The presence of withdrawal symptoms and tolerance lends support to the addictive model, while impulsive sexual behavior-driven mainly by pleasure-seeking with associated general impulse control deficits indicates the validity of the impulsive model (12, 13, 29, 30). Compared to a standard self-report method, EMA can be better suited to investigate these predictions and the concurrent validity of these models because: (a) it enables ecologically valid measurements of symptom feature predicted by the three models, which is especially important as addictive behavior have a highly contextual character; (b) phenomena-like obsessions, withdrawal symptoms and cravings are transient states and the adopted method of measurement should be able to reflect their fluctuation (which is hard to achieve with retrospective, aggregate measurements); (c) frequency of a targeted problematic behavior can be assessed with higher accuracy, using ecological declarative measurements or objective indicators (see the section below); (d) multiple points of measurement over time allow for directional relationships between variables to be investigated; (e) Lastly, the most valid solution to the debate on etiology may not rely on singling out the model that is the best universal descriptor of symptoms for all subjects, but on investigating possible subtypes or profiles of the disorder that pertain to the three described models and the prevalence of these subtypes (allowed due to the possibility for gathering large amounts of data with EMA) (31). In this way, EMA can provide unique contributions to an accurate classification of gambling, gaming, CSBD, as well as problematic behavior not yet classified (e.g., problematic buying, social networking), which are harder to obtain using more traditional approaches.

FOR ONLINE PROBLEMATIC BEHAVIOR, ACCURATE BEHAVIOR TRACKING IS CRUCIAL

Self-reports are associated with numerous errors, related to faulty memory, memory bias, or social desirability bias (32). We have evidence of inaccuracies of self-reports regarding problematic behaviors like gambling (33) or gaming (34). Moreover, these biases can be the strongest for the most active/problematic users (33). This is especially important, as for online problematic behavior the frequency of the behavior is one of the main factors contributing to the severity of experienced negative symptoms (35). With respect to this, EMA delivered on smartphones offers unique advantages, as the methodology allows for more accurate tracking of frequencies of a target behavior, thoughts or moods, with higher compliance and lower data loss compared to standard paper-pencil or computerbased questioners or diaries (36). Additionally, in conjunction with biosensors and specific software solutions, it enables objective data collection continuously and passively, with little or no burden to participants (heart rate, temperature, location, smartphone use, or social media and online engagement gathered through data mining), which provide reliable diagnostic and predictive biomarkers of examined constructs (25, 28, 37). Future studies in online problematic behaviors may combine both subjective and objective measurements that help to accurately assess behavioral and psychological changes over time and between contexts as well as to better monitor progression, recovery, and possible relapses in problematic behavior treatment (28, 37, 38). Although objective tracking of problematic behavior in its offline form is harder, EMA can still provide more accurate assessments based on subjective indicators (36). Additionally, as (a) offline vs online forms of problematic activities can have differing features, patterns of use, as well as risk and protective factors; (b) subjects engaging in online vs offline problematic behaviors can have different characteristics; (c) similar differences can potentially appear depending on the used device [e.g., computer vs mobile mediated form of problematic behavior, see examples for problematic gambling (39-42)], EMA/ EMI can be employed as a useful tool for investigating these differences.

EMI AS A PROMISING METHOD FOR ADDICTIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTION

A significant gap between the number of people that need or could benefit from treatment and the number of people actually

receiving it is one of the most urgent problems in therapy (43). Due to its high cost-effectiveness, EMI offers the possibility to improve access to evidence-based treatment for various populations, democratizing it (1, 5). EMI seems to be promising owning the possibility of identifying contextual (social interaction, location) and intra-individual (craving, mood, physiological responses) precipitating factors of lapses through the employment of machine learning algorithms and data mining (44, 45). EMI has the potential to tailor the intervention to the demographic, psychological, and behavioral characteristics of a person and specific symptoms experienced (46), meta-analytic evidence shows that such adaptive features increase the effectiveness of the interventions (47). As online problematic behavior can be induced by external cues, delivering just-in-time adaptive interventions (46) can contribute to successful behavioral management in many cases. Recent research has shown that physiological information gathered with EMA can be positively used for EMI (e.g., when the stress indicators exceed a threshold value, relaxation exercises can be prompted) (48). Moreover, EMI allows for the preservation of anonymity, therefore helping to overcome the fear of socialstigmatization (49). Lastly, EMI is well suited for the group of people manifesting online problematic behavior as a barrier to entry does not exist: members of this group are used to smartphones and mobile applications.

Additionally, it is worth underlying that the discussed methodology has already proven to be useful in assessment and therapy of substance addictions and related behavior: aiding recovery from alcoholism by reducing risky drinking episodes (50), helping to limit binge drinking among young people (51), supporting smoking cessation (52), reducing marijuana cravings (53), and significantly predicting substance use relapse after treatment (54).

Despite these factors, to the best of our knowledge, and recent-meta-analytic work (55), no randomized controlled trials for interventions delivered *via* smartphones are available for online problematic behavior. Supplementing this lack in the near future is key for further advancements.

NEW ETHICAL ISSUES

Although tracking objective indicators of online behavior and offering tailored interventions are possible with mobile devices, it raises ethical issues connected to gathering, managing, and storing sensitive, personal data (56). Also, using mobile applications as the method of delivery of interventions can potentially result in increasing, not decreasing, the reliance of a person on technology (2). Researchers and commentators now point to the fact that in order to attract users and extend time online, application creators often make them, in fact, more addictive (57), which results in a dangerous possibility of exchanging one addiction to another in the process of treatment (3). Repetitive assessment of problematic behavior and associated variables can make the behavior itself more salient and increase the risk of relapse or increase craving, which has to be monitored and taken into account by researchers

and developers (58). Overall, there is an existing need to improve the evidence base behind mobile app products through careful evaluation of their safety and effectiveness before the public distribution or clinical use (59).

CONCLUSION

The development of mobile and online technologies has allowed for the proliferation of online problematic behavior, but can also be harnessed for more effective intervention and therapy, as well as effective tackling of remaining theoretical questions. Although challenges exist (e.g., ethical issues), EMA and EMI methodologies seem to have huge potential for online problematic behavior research and therapy, which is—as yet—untapped.

REFERENCES

- Aboujaoude E, Gega L. From Digital Mental Health Interventions to Digital "Addiction": Where the Two Fields Converge. *Front Psychiatry* (2019) 10:2019.01017. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.01017
- World Health Organization. International Classification of Diseases 11th Revision (2020). Available at: https://icd.who.int/dev11/l-m/en (Accessed Access: June 2020).
- Shiffman S, Stone AA, Hufford MR. Ecological momentary assessment. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2008) 4:1–32. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091415
- McDevitt-Murphy ME, Luciano MT, Zakarian RJ. Use of Ecological Momentary Assessment and Intervention in Treatment With Adults. *Focus* Am Psychiatr Publ (2018) 16(4):370–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20180017
- Fineberg NA, Demetrovics Z, Stein DJ, Ioannidis K, Potenza MN, Grunblatt E, et al. Manifesto for a European research network into Problematic Usage of the Internet. *Eur Neuropsychopharm* (2018) 28(11):1232–46. doi: 10.1016/ j.euroneuro.2018.08.004
- Holden C. "Behavioral" addictions: Do they exists? Science (2001) 294 (5544):980-2. doi: 10.1126/science.294.5544.980
- Kuss DJ, Griffiths MD. Internet gaming addiction: A systematic review of empirical research. Int J Ment Health Ad (2012) 10(2):278–96. doi: 10.3390/ brainsci2030347
- 8. Cooper A. Sexuality and the Internet: Surfing into the new millennium. *Cyberpsychol Behav* (1998) 1(2):187–93. doi: 10.1089/cpb.1998.1.187
- Young KS. What makes the Internet addictive: Potential explanations for pathological Internet use. In: 105th annual conference of the American Psychological Association Annual convention. Chicago, IL, USA. (1997). vol. 15. p. 12–30.
- Kraus SW, Krueger RB, Briken P, First MB, Stein DJ, Kaplan MS, et al. Compulsive sexual behaviour disorder in the ICD-11. World Psychiatry (2019) 17(1):109–10. doi: 10.1002/wps.20635
- Fuss J, Lemay K, Steinet DJ, Briken P, Jakob R, Reed GM, et al. Public stakeholders' comments on ICD-11 chapters related to mental and sexual health. *World Psychiatry* (2019) 18(2):233–5. doi: 10.1002/wps.20635
- Bancroft J, Vukadinovic Z. Sexual addiction, sexual compulsivity, sexual impulsivity, or what? *Toward Theor Model J Sex Res* (2004) 41(3):225–34. doi: 10.1080/00224490409552230
- Stein DJ. Classifying hypersexual disorders: compulsive, impulsive, and addictive models. *Psychiatr Clin* (2008) 31(4):587–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.psc.2008.06.007
- Blanco C, Moreyra P, Nunes EV, Saiz-Ruiz J, Ibanez A. Pathological gambling: addiction or compulsion? *Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry* (2001) 6(3):167–76. doi: 10.1053/scnp.2001.22921
- Fauth-Bühler M, Mann K, Potenza MN. Pathological gambling: a review of the neurobiological evidence relevant for its classification as an addictive disorder. *Addict Biol* (2017) 22(4):885–97. doi: 10.1111/adb.12378

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Review of the literature was conducted by KL and MG. The manuscript draft was developed by KL, MG, and MKG. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

YL is supported by National Key Research and Development Program of China (2017YFC1310405) and the National Natural Science Foundation of China (U1736124). MKG is supported by the Bekker programme grant of the Polish National Agency for Academic Exchange (PPN/BEK/2019/1/ 00245/U/00001).

- Aarseth E, Bean AM, Boonen H, Coulson C M, Coulson M, Das D, et al. Scholars' open debate paper on the World Health Organization ICD-11 Gaming Disorder proposal. J Behav Addict (2006) 6(3):267-70. doi: 10.1556/2006.5.2016.088
- Hartston H. The case for compulsive shopping as an addiction. J Psychoact Drugs (2012) 44(1):64–7. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2012.660110
- Müller A, Brand M, Claes L, Demetrovics Z. Buying-shopping disorder—Is there enough evidence to support its inclusion in ICD-11. CNS Spectr (2019) 24(4):374–9. doi: 10.1017/S1092852918001323
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders 4th Edition Text Revision. Washington, DC: Author (2000). doi: 10.1176/ appi.books.9780890423349
- American Psychiatric Association. Anxiety Disorders. In: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 5th Edition. Washington, DC: Author (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596.dsm05
- World Health Organization. The ICD-10 classification of mental and behavioural disorders: Clinical descriptions and diagnostic guidelines. Geneva: Author (1992). Available at: https://www.who.int/classifications/ icd/en/bluebook.pdf
- 22. Cone EJ. Testing human hair for drugs of abuse. i. individual dose and time profiles of morphine and codeine in plasma, saliva, urine, and beard compared to drug-induced effects on pupils and behavior. *J Anal Toxicol* (1990) 14(1):1–7. doi: 10.1093/jat/14.1.1
- 23. Schramm W, Smith RH, Craig PA, Kidwell DA. Drugs of abuse in saliva: a review. J Anal Toxicol (1992) 16(1):1–9. doi: 10.1093/jat/16.1.1
- Shiffman S. Ecological momentary assessment (EMA) in studies of substance use. *Psychol Assess* (2009) 21(4):486–97. doi: 10.1037/a0017074
- Serre F, Fatseas M, Swendsen J, Auriacombe M. Ecological momentary assessment in the investigation of craving and substance use in daily life: A systematic review. *Drug Alcohol Depend* (2015) 148:1–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.drugalcdep.2014.12.024
- Borsboom D. A network theory of mental disorders. World Psychiatry (2017) 16(1):5–13. doi: 10.1002/wps.20375
- Witkiewitz K, Desai SA, Bowen S, Leigh BC, Kirouac M, Larimer ME. Development and evaluation of a mobile intervention for heavy drinking and smoking among college students. *Psychol Addict Behav* (2014) 28(3):639– 50. doi: 10.1037/a0034747
- Ruwaard J, Kooistra L, Thong M. Ecological Momentary Assessment in Mental Health Research: A Practical Introduction, with Examples in R (1st edition build 2018-11-26). Amsterdam: APH Ment Health (2018).
- Walton MT, Cantor JM, Bhullar N, Lykins AD. Hypersexuality: A critical review and introduction to the "sexhavior cycle". Arch Sex Behav (2017) 46 (8):2231–51. doi: 10.1007/s10508-017-0991-8
- Kraus SW, Voon V, Potenza MN. Should compulsive sexual behavior be considered an addiction? *Addiction* (2016) 111(12):2097–106. doi: 10.1111/ add.13297

- Knight RA, Graham FJ. Hypersexuality: Equifinal, cohesive, clinical presentation or symptom cluster with multiple underlying mechanisms? *Arch Sex Behav* (2017) 46(8):2261–4. doi: 10.1007/s10508-017-1089-z
- Fisher RJ. Social desirability bias and the validity of indirect questioning. J Consum Res (1993) 20(2):303–15. doi: 10.1086/209351
- Auer M, Griffiths MD. Self-reported losses versus actual losses in online gambling: An empirical study. J Gambl Stud (2017) 33(3):795–806. doi: 10.1007/s10899-016-9648-0
- Kahn AS, Ratan R, Williams D. Why we distort in self-report: Predictors of self-report errors in video game play. *JCMC* (2014) 19(4):1010–23. doi: 10.1111/jcc4.12056
- 35. Lewczuk K, et al. Moral incongruence and religiosity as predictors of selfperceived behavioral addictions (pornography, internet, social media and gaming addiction). Preregistered study based on a nationally representative sample. Under review.
- Faurholt-Jepsen M, Frost M, Vinberg M, Christensen EM, Bardram JE, Kessing LV. Smartphone data as objective measures of bipolar disorder symptoms. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 217(1-2):124–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.03.009
- Dogan E, Sander C, Wagner X, Hegerl U, Kohls E. Smartphone-based monitoring of objective and subjective data in affective disorders: Where are we and where are we going? Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res (2017) 19 (7):e262. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7006
- Young JJ, Silber T, Bruno D, Galatzer-Levy IR, Pomara N, Marmar CR. Is there progress? An overview of selecting biomarker candidates for major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry* (2016) 7:72. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00072
- Hubert P, Griffiths MD. A comparison of online versus offline gambling harm in Portuguese pathological gamblers: An empirical study. *Int J Ment Health* AD (2018) 16(5):1219–37. doi: 10.1007/s11469-017-9846-8
- Montes KS, Weatherly JN. Differences in the gambling behavior of online and non-online student gamblers in a controlled laboratory environment. *J Gamb Stud* (2017) 33(1):85–97. doi: 10.1007/s10899-016-9613-y
- Estévez A, Rodríguez R, Díaz N, Granero R, Mestre-Bach G, Steward T, et al. How do online sports gambling disorder patients compare with land-based patients? J Behav Addict (2017) 6(4):639–47. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.067
- Gainsbury SM, Liu Y, Russell AM, Teichert T. Is all Internet gambling equally problematic? Considering the relationship between mode of access and gambling problems. *Comput Hum Behav* (2016) 55:717–28. doi: 10.1016/ j.chb.2015.10.006
- World Health Organization. Fact Sheet on Mental disorders. Geneva: Author (2017). Available at: https://www.who.int/campaigns/world-health-day/2017/ fact-sheets/en
- Bolman C, Verboon P, Thewissen V, Boonen V, Soons K, Jacobs N. Predicting smoking lapses in the first week of quitting: An ecological momentary assessment study. J Addict Med (2018) 12(1):65–71. doi: 10.1097/ADM.00000000000365
- 45. Kim H, Lee S, Lee S, Hong S, Kang H, Kim N. Depression Prediction by Using Ecological Momentary Assessment, Actiwatch Data, and Machine Learning: Observational Study on Older Adults Living Alone. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* (2019) 7(10):e14149. doi: 10.2196/14149
- 46. Nahum-Shani I, Smith SN, Spring BJ, Collins LM, Witkiewitz K, Tewari A, et al. Just-in-Time Adaptive Interventions (JITAIs) in Mobile Health: Key Components and Design Principles for Ongoing Health Behavior Support. Ann Behav Med (2018) 52(6):446–62. doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8
- Head KJ, Noar SM, Iannarino NT, Harrington NG. Efficacy of text messagingbased interventions for health promotion: a meta-analysis. *Soc Sci Med* (2013) 97:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.08.003

- Raugh IM, Chapman HC, Bartolomeo LA, Gonzalez C, Strauss GP. A comprehensive review of psychophysiological applications for ecological momentary assessment in psychiatric populations. *Psychol Assess* (2019) 31 (3):304–17. doi: 10.1037/pas0000651
- Heron KE, Smyth JM. Ecological momentary interventions: incorporating mobile technology into psychosocial and health behaviour treatments. Br J Health Psychol (2010) 15(Pt 1):1–39. doi: 10.1348/135910709X466063
- Gustafson DH, McTavish FM, Chih MY, Atwood AK, Johnson RA, Boyle MG, et al. A smartphone application to support recovery from alcoholism: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71(5):566–72. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2013.4642
- 51. Carrà G, Crocamo C, Bartoli F, Carretta D, Schivalocchi A, Bebbington PE, et al. Impact of a mobile E-Health intervention on binge drinking in young people: The digital–alcohol risk alertness notifying network for adolescents and young adults project. *J Adolesc Health* (2016) 58(5):520–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.01.008
- 52. Businelle MS, Ma P, Kendzor DE, Frank SG, Vidrine DJ, Wetter DW. An ecological momentary intervention for smoking cessation: evaluation of feasibility and effectiveness. *J Med Internet Res* (2016) 18(12):e321. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6058
- Shrier LA, Burke PJ, Kells M, Scherer EA, Sarda V, Jonestrask C, et al. Pilot randomized trial of MOMENT, a motivational counseling-plus-ecological momentary intervention to reduce marijuana use in youth. *Mhealth* (2018) 4:29. doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.07.04
- Scott CK, Dennis ML, Gustafson DH. Reprint of Using ecological momentary assessments to predict relapse after adult substance use treatment. *Addict Behav* (2018) 82:72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.02.025
- 55. Tønning ML, Kessing LV, Bardram JE, Faurholt-Jepsen M. Methodological Challenges in Randomized Controlled Trials on Smartphone-Based Treatment in Psychiatry: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res (2019) 21 (10):e15362. doi: 10.2196/15362
- Huckvale K, Prieto JT, Tilney M, Benghozi P-J, Car J. Unaddressed privacy risks in accredited health and wellness apps: a cross-sectional systematic assessment. *BMC Med* (2015) 13:2014. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0444-y
- 57. Ding X, Xu J, Chen G, Xu C. Beyond smartphone overuse: identifying addictive mobile apps. In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. San Jose, CA: CHI'16 Extended Abstracts (2016). p. 2821–8. doi: 10.1145/2851581.2892415
- Roth AM, Rossi J, Goldshear JL. Potential risks of ecological momentary assessment among persons who inject drugs. *Subst Use Misuse* (2016) 52 (7):840–7. doi: 10.1080/10826084.2016.1264969
- Capon H, Hall W, Fry C, Carter A. Realizing the technological promise of smartphones in addiction research and treatment: an ethical review. *Int J Drug Policy* (2016) 36:47–57. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2016.05.013

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lewczuk, Gorowska, Li and Gola. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Fear of Missing Out and Smartphone Addiction Mediates the Relationship Between Positive and Negative Affect and Sleep Quality Among Chinese University Students

Li Li^{1*}, Mark D. Griffiths^{2*}, Songli Mei³ and Zhimin Niu¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Z. Yao, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Jung-Seok Choi, Seoul Metropolitan Government -Seoul National University Boramae Medical Center, South Korea Mei Yang, Shenzhen Mental Health Centre, China

*Correspondence:

Li Li janetlee2007@126.com Mark D. Griffiths mark.griffiths@ntu.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 June 2020 Accepted: 11 August 2020 Published: 27 August 2020

Citation:

Li L, Griffiths MD, Mei S and Niu Z (2020) Fear of Missing Out and Smartphone Addiction Mediates the Relationship Between Positive and Negative Affect and Sleep Quality Among Chinese University Students. Front. Psychiatry 11:877. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00877 **Background and Aims:** The widespread use of social media on smartphones has lead to the fear of missing out (FoMO) and smartphone addiction among a minority of adolescents and adults. However, few studies have investigated the impact of trait affect on sleep quality *via* FoMO and smartphone addiction. The present study examined whether FoMO (trait-FoMO and state-FoMO) and smartphone addiction mediated the relationship between positive affect (PA)/negative affect (NA) and sleep quality, and the prevalence of sleep disturbance among Chinese university students.

¹ School of Humanities and Social Sciences, Gannan Medical University, Ganzhou, China, ² International Gaming Research

Unit, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom, ³ School of Public Health, Jilin University, Changchun, China

Methods: The sample comprised 1,164 university students and they completed a survey which included the Chinese Trait-State Fear of Missing Out Scale (T-SFoMOS-C), Mobile Phone Addiction Index (MPAI), International Positive and Negative Affect Scale Short-Form (I-PANAS-SF), and the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI).

Results: The prevalence of sleep disturbance was found to be 15.98% among Chinese university students. The serial multiple mediation effects indicated that PA directly impacted on sleep quality, but the mediation effects of trait-FoMO and state-FoMO were not found. NA impacted on sleep quality *via* the mediation effects of trait-FoMO/ state-FoMO and smartphone addiction.

Conclusion: Negative affect was positively associated with poor sleep quality, which was partially mediated by FoMO and smartphone addiction among Chinese university students. Individuals with high negative affect were more likely to have high levels of FoMO and were more prone to smartphone addiction as well as experiencing poor sleep quality. These findings provide an evidence base for emotion management, prevention of smartphone addiction, and sleep improvement.

Keywords: trait-fear of missing out, state-fear of missing out, smartphone addiction, sleep quality, positive affect, negative affect

40

INTRODUCTION

The phenomenon of 'fear of missing out' (FoMO) has become more prevalent due to social media use over past few years (1, 2). A survey from *Xinli001* (i.e., a professional psychological information and service platform in China) reported that 15.2% of respondents experienced severe FoMO (3). As "a pervasive apprehension that others might be having rewarding experiences from which one is absent" (1), FoMO is also considered as a two-dimensional construct including trait-FoMO (i.e., "a relatively stable individual characteristic") and state-FoMO (i.e., "fear of missing out online content and interaction with others using social media") (4).

Recent studies have identified that social media use (5-9), psychological need satisfaction (1, 10-12), and personality traits (13-17) may be considered as risk factors of FoMO. Wolniewicz et al. also reported that FoMO was most strongly associated with both problematic smartphone use and normal smartphone use (e.g., video and voice calls, text/instant messaging, email, social networking sites) relative to negative affect and fears of negative and positive evaluation (18), similar to the relationship between FoMO and other types of internet addiction (e.g., Facebook addiction, social networking site [SNS] addiction) (19-23). State-FoMO has been found to directly and indirectly impact phubbing via problematic Instagram use, whereas trait-FoMO has been indirectly associated with phubbing via state-FoMO and problematic Instagram use (24). Additionally, some studies have shown the associations between high levels of FoMO and negative outcomes, such as bad school performance, fatigue, and decreased sleep (25-28).

In March 2020, the China Internet Network Information Centre reported that the total number of Chinese internet users was 904 million, with 897 million accessing the internet *via* smartphones (99.3%) (29). Smartphone addiction has been found to be prevalent among adolescents and emerging adults in China and elsewhere in the world (30–32). The prevalence of problematic smartphone use/smartphone addiction was estimated in one study to be 21.3% among Chinese undergraduates (33).

As a form of technological addiction or one of generalized internet addictions (34-37), smartphone addiction is also described as "an inability by individuals to regulate their use of smartphones and which eventually leads to negative consequences and clinical impairment in daily life" (38). Some risk factors of smartphone addiction have been examined such as negative affect (e.g., depression, anxiety and loneliness), low Internet selfefficacy, high impulsivity, as well as narcissism (39-45). In studies of smartphone addiction, Additionally, smartphone addiction has shown demonstrable association with alcohol use disorder symptoms, specific mental health diagnoses (i.e., ADHD, anxiety, depression, and PTSD), poor scholastic performance (46), vision problems (47), driving risk (48), and musculoskeletal pain (49-52). Smartphone addiction is also associated with poor sleep guality (32, 53, 54). Most studies have also shown that smartphone addiction is often associated with social media addiction because social media use is primarily engaged in via smartphones (55, 56).

Negative urgency has been shown to mediate the relationship between negative emotion and smartphone addiction (57). Moreover, smartphone addiction may serve as a mediator between loneliness and sleep quality (30).

Trait affect as a key personality construct has been an important concept in applied psychology (58). The positive and negative dimensions of trait affect have been defined by several scholars (59, 60). Positive affect (PA) reflects "the extent to which a person feels enthusiastic, active, and alert", whereas negative affect (NA) is "a general dimension of subjective distress and unpleasurable engagement that subsumes a variety of aversive mood states, including anger, contempt, disgust, guilt, fear, and nervousness" (61).

Positive affect and negative affect as ambivalent emotions have been found to be associated with high levels of FoMO when using Facebook (1). Przybylski et al. developed the Fear of Missing Out Scale (FoMOS), which is a unidimensional scale for assessing trait FoMO. Individuals experiencing lower levels of general mood reported higher levels of FoMO (1). Moreover, FoMO has been found to mediate the relationship between general mood and social media engagement, as well as basic need satisfaction/life satisfaction and social media engagement (1). Riordan et al. reported that negative affect has been associated with FoMO when using Facebook (62). Shin et al. also reported the mediating effects of affect on the associations between personality factors and internet gaming disorder (63). In addition, envy as a specific negative affect has been shown to impact on problematic smartphone use and SNS addiction via FoMO (64, 65). In the interaction of Person-Affect-Cognition-Execution (I-PACE) model, Brand et al. proposed that internetrelated disorders (e.g., smartphone addiction, social media addiction) were the consequence of interactions between predisposing variables (e.g., neurobiological and psychological components), moderators (e.g., coping style and internet-related cognitive biases), and mediators (e.g., affective and cognitive responses to specific stimuli in combination with reduced executive functioning) (66, 67). In the early stages of behavioral addiction, negative or positive moods as internal triggers may be perceived, which result in affective (e.g., FoMO) and cognitive responses and increase attention to stimuli and urges to behave in specific ways (e.g., urge to use smartphone, play online gaming) (67, 68).

Some studies have reported that sleep disturbances are common among Chinese university students (69, 70). A recent meta-analysis examining sleep problems and internet addiction reported a significant odds ratio (OR) for sleep problems and a significant reduction in sleep duration among individuals addicted to the internet (71). Some studies have reported that sleep quality is positively associated with NA and negatively associated with PA (72, 73). Although, some scholars argue that the relationship between sleep quality and affect may be bidirectional (74–76), previous research has also shown that both positive and negative affect can mediate the impact of expressive suppression on sleep quality (73, 77). Another recent study showed that insomnia partially mediated a significant association of interpersonal stress and FoMO with mental health (78). Moreover, the relationship between negative affect and sleep quality may also be mediated by smartphone addiction (79).

Based on the I-PACE theory and previous studies, the aim of the present study was to carry out a multiple mediation analysis examining PA/NA to sleep quality, in which trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were the mediator variables. It was hypothesized that a) PA/NA, trait-FoMO/state-FoMO, and smartphone addiction would be associated with sleep quality; b) trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction would mediate the association between PA and sleep quality; c) state-FoMO and Smartphone addiction would mediate the association between PA and sleep quality; d) trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction would mediate the association between NA and sleep quality; and e) state-FoMO and smartphone addiction would mediate the association between NA and sleep quality (**Figure 1**).

METHODS

Participants

A cross-sectional study was carried out from October 2019 to November 2019. The survey was completed on the Wenjuanxing platform (www.wjx.cn). The participants comprised 1,258 students (from 17 to 25 years; mean age = 20.1 years; SD \pm 1.6) by cluster convenience sampling from three universities in Jiangxi province and Liaoning province of China. However, 94 participants were excluded from the dataset owing to incomplete information. The final sample comprised 1,164 participants (656 females, 508 males) with a 92.5% response rate.

Measures

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

Sleep quality was assessed using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (80), which assessed sleep disturbances during a 1month time period. The PSQI was translated into Chinese by Liu et al. (81). The instrument contains 19 items assessing seven components: subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medication, and daytime dysfunction. The seven component scores are summed to produce a global PSQI score, where the total score ranges from 0 to 21 points (0 to 3 points for each component), with higher scores indicating worse sleep quality. The cut-off value for sleep disturbance is 7 (81). The Cronbach's alpha of the PSQI was 0.71 in the present study.

International Positive and Negative Affect Scale Short-Form (I-PANAS-SF)

Positive affect and negative affect were assessed using the International Positive and Negative Affect Scale Short-Form (I-PANAS-SF) (82). The I-PANAS-SF comprises 10 items originating from the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) (61), and was translated into Chinese by Huang, Yang and Ji (83). NA and PA have five items respectively answered on a 5-point scale from 1 ("*not at all*") to 5 ("*extremely*"). A higher NA total score indicated more negative affect or the extent to which the individual feels aversive mood states and general distress, whereas a higher PA total score indicates more positive affect or the extent to which the individual feels enthusiastic, active, and alert. The Cronbach's alpha of the I-PANAS-SF was 0.72, for PA was 0.71, and for NA was 0.81 in the present study.

Chinese Trait-State Fear of Missing Out Scale (T-SFoMOSC)

The 12-item Trait-State Fear of Missing Out Scale (T-SFoMOS) was developed by Wegmann et al. (4) and assesses fear of missing out across two domains (i.e., trait-FoMO and state-FoMO). The first five items reflect trait-FoMO, whereas the remaining seven items are state-FoMO. Each item is rated on a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (*"totally disagree"*) to 5 (*"totally agree"*). Higher total scores represent a higher level of FoMO. The Cronbach's alpha value of the trait-FoMO and state-FoMO were 0.82 and 0.81, respectively. In the present study, using the T-SFoMOSC, the Cronbach's alpha for the total scale was 0.82, 0.78 for the trait-FoMO, and 0.81 for state-FoMO.

Mobile Phone Addiction Index (MPAI)

Smartphone addiction was assessed using the Mobile Phone Addiction Index (MPAI) (84), which was translated into Chinese (85) and is used widely in Chinese contexts (86, 87). The MPAI contains 17 items assessing four domains: inability to control craving, feeling anxious and lost, withdrawal/escape, and productivity loss. Each item is responded to from 1 ("*not at all*") to 5 ("*always*"). Final scores were summed and higher total scores reflect higher levels of smartphone addiction. The Cronbach's alpha of the MPAI was 0.86 in the present study.



Procedure

The survey was conducted in three universities [Gannan Medical University (542 participants), Jiangxi University of Science and Technology (418 participants), and Jinzhou Medical University (298 participants)] in the two provinces of China from October 2019 to November 2019. Participants received a detailed explanation of the study' purpose and completed the survey, and participants received course credits in mental health education classes. Four self-report scales including the PQSI, the I-PANAS-SF, the T-SFoMOS, and the MPAI were completed in approximately 10 min.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 20 was used for the present study analysis. The skewness and kurtosis levels were examined for data distribution (with a skewness cut-off of 2.0 and kurtosis cut-off of 7.0) (88). Descriptive analysis of the sample' characteristics was conducted by means, standard deviations, and frequency analysis. A chi-square test was utilized for analyzing the gender difference in sleep disturbance. Pearson correlation tests were applied among all variables. The series of multiple mediation models of positive/negative affect on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were tested using Model 6 of Hayes's PROCESS tool (89).

Ethics

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Gannan Medical University, and was carried out in accordance with the requisite ethical standards (e.g., the Helsinki declaration). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics and Correlation Analyses

Descriptive statistics are displayed in **Table 1**. Data were regarded as normal distribution due to the maximum values of skewness (< 2) and kurtosis (< 7). PA was significantly positively associated with state-FoMO (r = 0.09, p < .01), but significantly negatively associated with smartphone addiction (r = -0.06, p < .05) and poor sleep quality (r = -0.09, p < .01). PA was not significantly associated with the total scores of FoMO (r = 0.05, p = 0.110) and trait-FoMO (r = -0.02, p = 0.509). NA was significantly positively associated with trait-FoMO

(r = 0.26, p <.01), state-FoMO (r = 0.16, p <.01), smartphone addiction (r = 0.31, p <.01), and poor sleep quality (r = 0.42, p <.01). Trait-FoMO was significantly positively associated with smartphone addiction (r = 0.33, p <.01) and poor sleep quality (r = 0.23, p <.01). State-FoMO was significantly positively associated with smartphone addiction (r = 0.42, p <.01) and poor sleep quality (r = 0.19, p <.01). Smartphone addiction was also significantly positively associated with smartphone with poor sleep quality (r = 0.32, p <.01).

The Prevalence of Sleep Disturbance

Based on 7 as the threshold value for the PQSI (81), of the 1,164 participants, 978 (84.02%) reported normal sleep quality and 186 (15.98%) reported sleep disturbance. The numbers of males (18.38%, male 506) and females (14.13%, female 658) with sleep disturbance were both 93. There was no significant difference between gender ($\chi^2 = 3.53$, p = 0.06).

Testing of the Mediation Effects From PA to Sleep Quality

The series multiple mediation effects of PA on sleep quality via trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were tested using Model 6 of Hayes' PROCESS tool. Gender and age were regarded as control variables in the present study. As shown in Table 2, the total mediation effects of PA on sleep quality via trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction ($\beta = -0.018$, 95%CI: -0.043, 0.006) as well as state-FoMO and smartphone addiction $(\beta = -0.009, 95\%$ CI: -0.033, 0.014) were both non-significant, whereas the direct effects of PA on sleep quality ($\beta = -0.062, 95\%$ CI: -0.114, -0.010; β = -0.070, 95%CI: -0.122, -0.018) were both significant. In the serial mediation model of trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction, the relationship between PA and poor sleep quality was not mediated by trait-FoMO (β = -0.003, 95% CI: -0.012, 0.006) or smartphone addiction ($\beta = -0.014$, 95%CI: -0.032, 0.003). However, in the serial mediation model of state-FoMO and smartphone addiction, the relationship between PA and poor sleep quality was mediated by smartphone addiction $(\beta = -0.024, 95\%$ CI: -0.042, -0.007), but not state-FoMO ($\beta =$ 0.006, 95%CI: 0.000, 0.015).

Testing of the Mediation Effects From NA to Sleep Quality via Trait-FoMO and Smartphone Addiction

The serial multiple mediation effects of NA on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were also

		М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Sleep quality	5.26	2.29	0.279	-0.051	1.00						
2.	Positive affect	14.12	3.13	-0.206	0.504	-0.09**	1.00					
З.	Negative affect	10.69	3.37	0.389	-0.176	0.42**	0.07*	1.00				
4.	FoMO	29.07	6.95	-0.160	0.151	0.25**	0.05	0.24**	1.00			
5.	Trait-FoMO	12.19	3.63	0.008	-0.170	0.23**	-0.02	0.26**	0.79**	1.00		
6	State-FoMO	16.88	4.63	0.121	-0.007	0.19**	0.09**	0.16**	0.88**	0.41**	1.00	
7	Smartphone addiction	42.09	10.24	0.052	-0.116	0.32**	-0.06*	0.31**	0.45**	0.33**	0.42**	1.00

**p < .01, *p < .05.

Path (PA→trait-FoMO)	В	SE	95%CI	Path (PA→state-FoMO)	В	SE	95%CI
Total effect	-0.079	0.028	-0.134, -0.024	Total effect	-0.079	0.028	-0.134, -0.024
Direct effect	-0.062	0.026	-0.114, -0.010	Direct effect	-0.070	0.027	-0.122, -0.018
Total mediation effect	-0.018	0.012	-0.043, 0.006	Total mediation effect	-0.009	0.012	-0.033, 0.014
Ind1	-0.003	0.004	-0.012, 0.006	Ind1	0.006	0.004	0.000, 0.015
Ind2	-0.014	0.009	-0.032, 0.003	Ind2	-0.024	0.009	-0.042, -0.008
Ind3	-0.002	0.003	-0.007, 0.004	Ind3	0.008	0.004	0.000, 0.017
Path (NA→trait-FoMO)	В	SE	95%CI	Path (NA→state-FoMO)	В	SE	95%CI
Total effect	0.414	0.027	0.362, 0.466	Total effect	0.414	0.027	0.362, 0.466
Direct effect	0.336	0.028	0.282, 0.391	Direct effect	0.348	0.027	0.295, 0.402
Total mediation effect	0.078	0.012	0.055, 0.103	Total mediation effect	0.066	0.011	0.046, 0.089
Ind1	0.021	0.008	0.006, 0.037	Ind1	0.012	0.005	0.002, 0.024
Ind2	0.045	0.009	0.028, 0.063	Ind2	0.044	0.009	0.027, 0.062
Ind3	0.013	0.003	0.007, 0.019	Ind3	0.011	0.003	0.006, 0.017
C1	-0.024	0.013	-0.050, 0.002	C1	-0.032	0.012	-0.056, -0.009
C2	0.008	0.009	-0.009, 0.026	C2	0.001	0.006	-0.011, 0.014
C3	0.032	0.008	0.017, 0.049	C3	0.033	0.008	0.018, 0.049
Effect ratio (%)	19.1			Effect ratio (%)	16.2		

TABLE 2 | Total effect, direct effect, and mediation effects of PA/NA on sleep quality via trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction.

Confidence intervals for effects are bias corrected based on 5,000 bootstrap samples. a1. PA/NA to Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO, a2. PA/NA to smartphone addiction, b1. Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO to sleep quality, b2. Smartphone addiction to sleep quality, d1. Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO to smartphone addiction. Ind1 = PA/NA \rightarrow Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO/State-FoMO to smartphone addiction. Ind1 = PA/NA \rightarrow Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO/State-FoMO to smartphone addiction. Sleep quality, Ind3 = PA/NA \rightarrow Trait-FoMO/State-FoMO/State-FoMO \rightarrow Smartphone addiction-Sleep quality. Cl = Ind1 minus Ind2, C2 = Ind1 minus Ind3, C3 = Ind2 minus Ind3. Effect ratio = Total mediation effect/Total effect.

Bold values are highlighted to show where the 95% confidence interval (CI) contains zero, then the effect will not be significant at the 0.05 level.

examined and gender and age were also regarded as control variables. As Figure 2 shows, NA was positively associated with trait-FoMO (β = 0.28, t = 9.21, p <.001) and smartphone addiction (β = 0.26, t = 8.74, p <.001). Trait-FoMO was positively associated smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.26$, t = 9.41, p < .001) and poor sleep quality ($\beta = 0.07, t = 2.84, p < .01$). Smartphone addiction was positively associated with poor sleep quality ($\beta = 0.17$, t = 6.47, p < .001). In addition, the total indirect effect of NA and sleep quality via Trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction was significant ($\beta = 0.078, 95\%$ CI: 0.055, 0.103), as well as the direct effect ($\beta = 0.336$, 95%CI: 0.282, 0.391) and total effect ($\beta = 0.414$, 95%CI: 0.362, 0.466). Three indirect paths from NA to sleep quality via Trait-FoMO ($\beta = 0.021$, 95%CI: 0.006, 0.037), smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.045, 95\%$ CI: 0.028, 0.063), and Trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.013, 95\%$ CI: 0.007, 0.019), were significant respectively. Moreover, differences in the three paths were tested using Model 6 of the PROCESS tool. A significant difference ($\beta = 0.032$, 95%CI: 0.017, 0.049) between Path 2 (NA on sleep quality *via* smartphone addiction) and Path 3 (NA on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO and smartphone addiction) was found (**Table 2**).

Testing of the Mediation Effects From NA to Sleep Quality via State-FoMO and Smartphone Addiction

NA was positively associated with state-FoMO ($\beta = 0.17, t = 5.55, p < .001$) and smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.26, t = 9.65, p < .001$). State-FoMO was positively associated with smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.38, t = 14.98, p < .001$) and poor sleep quality ($\beta = 0.07, t = 2.54, p < .05$). Smartphone addiction was positively associated with poor sleep quality ($\beta = 0.17, t = 5.84, p < .001$) (**Figure 3**). In addition, the total indirect effect from NA to sleep quality *via* state-FoMO and smartphone addiction was significant ($\beta = 0.066, 95\%$ CI: 0.046, 0.089), as well as the direct effect ($\beta = 0.348, 95\%$ CI: 0.295, 0.402) and total effect ($\beta = 0.414, 95\%$ CI: 0.362, 0.466). Three indirect paths from NA to sleep quality *via* state-FoMO ($\beta = 0.012, 95\%$ CI:





0.002, 0.024), smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.044$, 95%CI: 0.027, 0.062), and state-FoMO and smartphone addiction ($\beta = 0.011$, 95%CI: 0.006, 0.017) were all significant. Moreover, differences in the three paths were tested using Model 6 of the PROCESS tool. Significant differences between Path 1 (NA on sleep quality *via* state-FoMO) and Path 2 (NA on sleep quality *via* smartphone addiction) ($\beta = -0.032$, 95%CI: -0.056, -0.009), as well as Path 2 (NA on sleep quality *via* smartphone addiction) and Path 3 (NA on sleep quality *via* state-FoMO and smartphone addiction) ($\beta = -0.033$, 95% CI: -0.018, 0.049) were found. The proportion of total effect from NA to sleep quality *via* state-FoMO and smartphone addiction was 19.1% and *via* state-FoMO and smartphone addiction was 16.2%.

DISCUSSION

The present study reported the prevalence of sleep disturbance and the mediation effects of positive and negative affect on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction among Chinese university students. The prevalence of sleep disturbance was 15.98%, which finding is similar to previous findings among Chinese samples (13.93%–15.8%) (29, 69, 70).

NA was positively associated with state-FoMO and trait-FoMO, whereas there was a positive correlation between PA and state-FoMO [e.g., "When I have a good time it is important for me to share the details online (e.g. updating status)"]. This may be because individuals with high state-FoMO like to share their enjoyment, interests, achievements with others anywhere at any time. As Przybylski et al. noted, individuals who experience high FoMO have mixed feelings [i.e., positive affect (excitement and joy) and negative affect (fear and anxiety)] when they use social media (1).

The correlation coefficient between FoMO and smartphone addiction (r = 0.42) was similar to study samples from other countries (ranging from 0.40 to 0.60) (11, 18, 90–92). This indicates that the impact of FoMO and excessive smartphone use are arguably ubiquitous in the global context (93–97).

NA was significantly positively associated with FoMO and smartphone addiction, which is consistent with other findings (18, 98). Elhai et al. reported that NA (i.e., depression and

anxiety) may impact on smartphone addiction via FoMO (91), which was also consistent with the finding's here. However, depression and interpersonal sensitivity on internet-communication disorder (ICD) via avoidance expectancies and state-FoMO have been found, but not for trait-FoMO (4). This perhaps indicates FoMO is a more complex construct. According to self-determination theory (SDT) (99), FoMO is considered as "a phenomenon of selfregulatory limbo arising from a situational or chronic deficit in psychological need satisfaction" (1). Consequently, FoMO was described as "a relatively stable individual characteristic, representing the general fear of a person of missing out on something" (i.e., trait-FoMO) (4). On the contrary, state-FoMO is considered important in the context of utilizing social media, where messages are updated and exchanged. State-FoMO even may increase general trait-FoMO (4). Based on the Brand et al.'s theory of specific internet addiction, a person's core characteristics (e.g., depression and social anxiety) and personality (e.g., stress vulnerability, self-esteem, self-efficacy) predict specific cognitions, consequently causing different types of internet addiction (e.g., smartphone addiction and internet-communication addiction) (100, 101). In terms of interaction in the person-affect-cognitionexecution (I-PACE) model (64), State-FoMO may represent a specific cognition, which mediates individual core characteristics (NA) and smartphone addiction, whereas trait-FoMO being a dispositional trait, may develop state-FoMO and specific internet cognition (4).

Results also showed that PA and NA both predicted sleep quality, and that NA had a more prominent influence than PA. These results suggest that regulation of NA for sleep disturbance therapy may be more successful than improvement of PA (73). Therefore, treatments targeting a reduction of NA may decrease insomnia symptoms and improve sleep quality (77). The mediation effects of NA on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were statistically significant. However, the total indirect effects of PA on sleep quality *via* trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction were not found. Moreover, smartphone addiction had higher mediation effect from NA to sleep quality. The relationship between NA, smartphone addiction, and sleep quality was also consistent with findings from a previous study (79).

Smartphone use may be pleasurable and exciting in the early stage when individuals communicate with others or engage in other activities (i.e., individuals experience positive affect). However, for a small minority of individuals, excessive smartphone use can trigger greater negative affect, such as irritable, anxiety, and depression, which may lead to smartphone addiction, and disturb individuals' sleep quality. Some studies have reported that negative events impacting on sleep quality mainly included bad dormitory conditions (e.g., noisy roommates, snoring, gaming, lighting, mosquitos), interpersonal conflict, academic pressure, freshmen maladjustment, as well as romantic relationship problems) (102, 103). Due to specific characteristics of smartphones (e.g., the many different types of applications), smartphones can be considered as tools that provide selfcomfort and satisfy basic need of communication with others in a timely way (i.e., individuals, especially females prefer texting, blogging and chatting via smartphone) (104-106). Consequently, all kinds of messages from Chinese SNSs such as WeChat and QQ (e.g., different groups comprising class, grade, students' union, different courses, etc.) can seriously influence their academic performance and daily lives among Chinese university students. Therefore, one possible explanation is that NA (triggered by negative events and all kinds of stress) may increase the level of FoMO, and leads to students constantly check their smartphones (so as not to miss out on what they perceive to be important information) which among some individuals may give rise to smartphone addiction, and subsequently deteriorating sleep quality. The mediation effect of FoMO from NA to sleep quality appears to be weaker than smartphone addiction. These finding suggest that FoMO is closely associated with social media use, whereas smartphone addiction may be related to more specific activities (e.g., smartphone gaming addiction, smartphone shopping addiction, smartphone gambling addiction, etc.).

FoMO and smartphone addiction may mediate the relationship between negative affect and sleep quality. The pressures from school, college or university may prevent faceto-face social activity but being bombarded with excessive information via smartphone, which could lead to greater negative affect and affect both FoMO and smartphone addiction, subsequently leading students to have poorer sleep. However, several limitations are present in the present study. First, all data were self-report which may result in some biases (e.g., social desirability and memory recall). The cross-sectional study from three universities was non-representative, and is unable to explain any causal relationships between the variables tested. Future studies should be performed using more representative samples and longitudinal designs to determine if there are causal relationships between the variables FoMO, smartphone addiction, positive and negative affect, and sleep quality. Owing to gender and age as control variables in the present study, gender differences were not examined and there may be differences in relation to smartphone addiction as well as the relationship between affect and smartphone addiction. Demographic variables may potentially impact mediation effect (e.g., gender and age). Therefore such variables should be examined in future

research. Second, further research is required to more deeply explore the characteristics of trait-FoMO and state-FoMO (e.g., studies evaluating the difference between trait-FoMO and state-FoMO as mediators). Third, further research is necessary to explain the specific positive affect and negative affect factors (e.g., alert, anxiety, fear) responsible for the relationships studied here.

Overall, the results demonstrate the mediation effects of trait-FoMO/state-FoMO and smartphone addiction between negative affect and sleep quality. More specifically, smartphone addiction had higher effect size than the role of FoMO. Based on the findings, negative affect on sleep quality may be mediated *via* smartphone addiction and FoMO among Chinese university students.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Gannan Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceived and designed the experiments: LL and ZN. Performed the experiments: LL and ZN. Analyzed the data: LL and MG. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: SM. Wrote the paper: LL and ZN. Edited and contributed to the revised paper: MG.

FUNDING

The Science Education Program Project "Thirteenth Five-Year Plan" of Jiangxi Province 2020GX184, Doctor start-up fund of Gannan Medical University QD201819, Key project of Gannan Medical University ZD201838, The International Innovation Team of Jilin University 2019GJTD06.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to express our gratitude to Wenying Wang and Shuli Xu for their assistance in this study.

This manuscript "Fear of missing out (FoMO) and gaming disorder among Chinese university students: Impulsivity and game time as mediators" has been released as a pre-print at (Issues in Mental Health Nursing), (doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-25628/v1).

REFERENCES

- Przybylski AK, Murayama K, DeHaan CR. & Gladwell V. Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. *Comput Hum Behav* (2013) 29(4):1841–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.014
- Alt D. Students' social media engagement and fear of missing out (FoMO) in a diverse classroom. J Computing Higher Educ (2017) 29(2):388–410. doi: 10.1007/s12528-017-9149-x
- Xinli001. How to say goodbye to the fear of missing out. China: Guangzhou Renxin Network Technology Co. LTD. (2016). Retrieved January, 27, 2020, from:http://www.xinli001.com/info/100001714/
- Wegmann E, Oberst U, Stodt B, Brand M. Online-specific fear of missing out and Internet-use expectancies contribute to symptoms of internet communication disorder. *Addictive Behav Rep* (2017) 5:33–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.abrep.2017.04.001
- Lai C, Altavilla D, Ronconi A, Aceto P. Fear of missing out (FOMO) is associated with activation of the right middle temporal gyrus during inclusion social cue. *Comput Hum Behav* (2016) 61:516–21. doi: 10.1016/ j.chb.2016.03.072
- Buglass SL, Binder JF, Betts LR, Underwood JDM. Motivators of online vulnerability: The impact of social network site use and FOMO. *Comput Hum Behav* (2017) 66:248–55. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.055
- Błachnio A, Przepiórka A. Facebook intrusion, fear of missing out, narcissism, and life satisfaction: A cross-sectional study. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 259:514–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.11.012
- Primack BA, Shensa A, Escobar-Viera CG, Barrett EL, Sidani JE, Colditz JB, et al. Use of multiple social media platforms and symptoms of depression and anxiety: A nationally-representative study among U.S. young adults. *Comput Hum Behav* (2017) 69:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.013
- Andreassen CS, Billieux J, Griffiths MD, Kuss DJ, Demetrovics Z, Mazzoni E, et al. The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: A large-scale cross-sectional study. *Psychol Addictive Behav* (2016) 30(2):252–62. doi: 10.1037/adb0000160
- Beyens I, Frison E, Eggermont S. "I don't want to miss a thing": Adolescents' fear of missing out and its relationship to adolescents' social needs, Facebook use, and Facebook related stress. *Comput Hum Behav* (2016) 64:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.083
- Oberst U, Wegmann E, Stodt B, Brand M, Chamarro A. Negative consequences from heavy social networking in adolescents: The mediating role of fear of missing out. J Adolescence (2017) 55:51–60. doi: 10.1016/ j.adolescence.2016.12.008
- Xie X, Wang Y, Wang P, Zhao F, Lei L. Basic psychological needs satisfaction and fear of missing out: Friend support moderated the mediating effect of individual relative deprivation. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 268:223–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.07.025
- Alt D. Students' wellbeing, fear of missing out, and social media engagement for leisure in higher education learning environments. *Curr Psychol* (2018) 37(1):128–38. doi: 10.1007/s12144-016-9496-1
- Tresnawati FR. Hubungan antara the big five personality traits dengan fear of missing out about social media pada mahasiswa. *Intuisi: J Ilmiah Psikologi* (2016) 8(3):179–85. doi: 10.15294/intuisi.v8i3.8661
- Stead H, Bibby PA. Personality, fear of missing out and problematic internet use and their relationship to subjective well-being. *Comput Hum Behav* (2017) 76:534–40. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.08.016
- Alt D, Boniel-Nissim M. Using multidimensional scaling and PLS-SEM to assess the relationships between personality traits, problematic internet use, and fear of missing out. *Behav Inf Technol* (2018) 37(12):1264–76. doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2018.1502353
- Blackwell D, Leaman C, Tramposch R, Osborne C, Liss M. Extraversion, neuroticism, attachment style and fear of missing out as predictors of social media use and addiction. *Pers Individ Dif* (2017) 116:69–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2017.04.039
- Wolniewicz CA, Tiamiyu MF, Weeks JW, Elhai JD. Problematic smartphone use and relations with negative affect, fear of missing out, and fear of negative and positive evaluation. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 262:618–23. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2017.09.058
- Pontes HM, Taylor M, Stavropoulos V. Beyond "Facebook addiction": The role of cognitive-related factors and psychiatric distress in social networking

site addiction. *Cyberpsychology Behavior Soc Networking* (2018) 21(4):240–7. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0609

- Dempsey AE, O'Brien KD, Tiamiyu MF, Elhai JD. Fear of missing out (FoMO) and rumination mediate relations between social anxiety and problematic Facebook use. *Addictive Behav Rep* (2019) 9:100150. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2018.100150
- 21. Liu C, Ma J. Social support through online social networking sites and addiction among college students: The mediating roles of fear of missing out and problematic smartphone use. *Curr Psychol* (2018) 37:1–8. doi: 10.1007/ s12144-018-0075-5
- Tunc-Aksan A, Akbay SE. Smartphone addiction, fear of missing out, and perceived competence as predictors of social media addiction of adolescents. *Eur J Educ Res* (2019) 8(2):559–66. doi: 10.12973/eu-jer.8.2.559
- Li L, Griffiths MD, Mei SL, Niu ZM. Fear of missing out (FoMO) and gaming disorder among Chinese university students: Impulsivity and game time as mediators. *Issues Ment Health Nurs* (2020). doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-25628/v1. Advance online publication.
- 24. Balta S, Emirtekin E, Kircaburun K, Griffiths MD. Neuroticism, trait fear of missing out, and phubbing: The mediating role of state fear of missing out and problematic Instagram use. *Int J Ment Health Addict* (2020) 18:628–39. doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-9959-8
- Alt D. College students' academic motivation, media engagement and fear of missing out. *Comput Hum Behav* (2015) 49:111–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.chb.2015.02.057
- Milyavskaya M, Saffran M, Hope N, Koestner R. Fear of missing out: prevalence, dynamics, and consequences of experiencing FOMO. *Motivation Emotion* (2018) 42(5):725–37. doi: 10.1007/s11031-018-9683-5
- Gezgin DM. Relationship among smartphone addiction, age, lack of sleep, fear of missing out and social networking sites use among high school students. *Cypriot J Educ Sci* (2018) 13(2):409-21. doi: 10.18844/ cjes.v13i2.2938
- Gezgin DM. Understanding patterns for smartphone addiction: Age, sleep duration, social network use and fear of missing out. *Cypriot J Educ Sci* (2018) 13(2):166–77. doi: 10.18844/cjes.v13i2.2938
- China Internet Network Information Center (CNNIC). The 45th statistical report on internet development in China. China: China Internet Network Information Center (2020). Retrieved June 4, 2020. from: http://www.cnnic. net.cn/hlwfzyj/hlwxzbg/hlwtjbg/202004/P020200428596599037028.pdf
- Li L, Mei SL, Niu ZM, Song YT. Loneliness and sleep quality in university students: mediator of smartphone addiction and moderator of gender. *Chin J Clin Psychol* (2016) 24(2):345–8. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2016.02.036
- Kwon M, Kim DJ, Cho H, Yang S. The smartphone addiction scale: development and validation of a short version for adolescents. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(12):e83558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083558
- Kumar VA, Chandrasekaran V, Brahadeeswari H. Prevalence of smartphone addiction and its effects on sleep quality: A cross-sectional study among medical students. *Ind Psychiatry J* (2019) 28(1):82–5. doi: 10.4103/ipj.ipj_56_19
- 33. Long J, Liu TQ, Liao YH, Qi C, He HY, Chen SB, et al. Prevalence and correlates of problematic smartphone use in a large random sample of Chinese undergraduates. *BMC Psychiatry* (2016) 16(1):408. doi: 10.1186/ s12888-016-1083-3
- 34. Griffiths MD. Technological addictions. Clin Psychol Forum (1995) 76:14-9.
- 35. Griffiths MD. Internet addiction: Does it really exist? In: Gackenbach J, editor. Psychology and the internet: Intrapersonal, interpersonal and transpersonal applications. New York: Academic Press (1998). p. 61–75.
- 36. Montag C, Bey K, Sha P, Li M, Chen YF, Liu WY, et al. Is it meaningful to distinguish between generalized and specific Internet addiction? Evidence from a cross-cultural study from Germany, Sweden, Taiwan and China. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry* (2015) 7(1):20–6. doi: 10.1111/appy.12122
- 37. Chen IH, Strong C, Lin YC, Tsai MC, Leung H, Lin CY, et al. Time invariance of three ultra-brief internet-related instruments: Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS), Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS), and the nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form (IGDS-SF9)(Study Part B). Addictive Behav (2020) 101:105960. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.04.018
- Billieux J. Problematic use of the mobile phone: a literature review and a pathways model. *Curr Psychiatry Rev* (2012) 8(4):299–307. doi: 10.2174/ 157340012803520522

- Jiang Q, Li Y, Shypenka V. Loneliness, Individualism, and Smartphone Addiction Among International Students in China. *Cyberpsychology Behavior Soc Networking* (2018) 21(11):711–8. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2018.0115
- Matar Boumosleh J, Jaalouk D. Depression, anxiety, and smartphone addiction in university students- A cross sectional study. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(8):e0182239. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182239
- Park N, Lee H. Social implications of smartphone use: Korean college students' smartphone use and psychological well-being. *Cyberpsychology Behavior Soc Networking* (2012) 15(9):491–7. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2011.0580
- Wu AM, Cheung VI, Ku L, Hung EP. Psychological risk factors of addiction to social networking sites among Chinese smartphone users. J Behav Addict (2013) 2(3):160–6. doi: 10.1556/JBA.2.2013.006
- Li C, Liu D, Dong Y. Self-esteem and problematic smartphone use among adolescents: A moderated mediation model of depression and interpersonal trust. *Front Psychol* (2019) 10:2872. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02872
- 44. Kim E, Cho I, Kim EJ. Structural equation model of smartphone addiction based on adult attachment theory: Mediating effects of loneliness and depression. *Asian Nurs Res* (2017) 11(2):92–7. doi: 10.1016/j.anr.2017. 05.002
- Hussain Z, Griffiths MD, Sheffield D. An investigation into problematic smartphone use: The role of narcissism, anxiety, and personality factors. *J Behav Addict* (2017) 6(3):378–86. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.052
- Grant JE, Lust K, Chamberlain SR. Problematic smartphone use associated with greater alcohol consumption, mental health issues, poorer academic performance, and impulsivity. J Behav Addict (2019) 8(2):335–42. doi: 10.1556/2006.8.2019.32
- Kim J, Hwang Y, Kang S, Kim M, Kim TS, Kim J, et al. Association between Exposure to Smartphones and Ocular Health in Adolescents. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol* (2016) 23(4):269–76. doi: 10.3109/09286586.2015.1136652
- Nguyen-Phuoc DQ, Oviedo-Trespalacios O, Su DN, De Gruyter C, Nguyen T. Mobile phone use among car drivers and motorcycle riders: The effect of problematic mobile phone use, attitudes, beliefs and perceived risk. *Accident Anal Prev* (2020) 143:105592. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2020.105592
- Alsalameh AM, Harisi MJ, Alduayji MA, Almutham AA, Mahmood FM. Evaluating the relationship between smartphone addiction/overuse and musculoskeletal pain among medical students at Qassim University. *J Family Med Primary Care* (2019) 8(9):2953. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc. jfmpc_665_19
- Yang SY, Chen MD, Huang YC, Lin CY, Chang JH. Association between smartphone use and musculoskeletal discomfort in adolescent students. *J Community Health* (2017) 42(3):423–30. doi: 10.1007/s10900-016-0271-x
- Lee J, Seo K. The comparison of cervical repositioning errors according to smartphone addiction grades. J Phys Ther Sci (2014) 26(4):595–8. doi: 10.1589/jpts.26.595
- Zirek E, Mustafaoglu R, Yasaci Z, Griffiths MD. A systematic review of musculoskeletal disorders related to mobile phone usage. *Musculoskeletal Sci Pract* (2020) 49:102196. doi: 10.1016/j.msksp.2020.102196
- Chung JE, Choi SA, Kim KT, Yee J, Kim JH, Seong JW, et al. Smartphone addiction risk and daytime sleepiness in Korean adolescents. J Paediatrics Child Health (2018) 54(7):800–6. doi: 10.1111/jpc.13901
- Demirci K, Akgönül M, Akpinar A. Relationship of smartphone use severity with sleep quality, depression, and anxiety in university students. J Behav Addict (2015) 4(2):85–92. doi: 10.1556/2006.4.2015.010
- Kuss DJ, Griffiths MD. Social networking sites and addiction: Ten lessons learned. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2017) 14(3):311. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph14030311
- 56. Sha P, Sariyska R, Riedl R, Lachmann B, Montag C. Linking internet communication and smartphone use disorder by taking a closer look at the Facebook and WhatsApp applications. *Addictive Behav Rep* (2019) 9:100148. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2018.100148
- Lee AK, Lee H. Negative urgency mediates the relation between negative emotion and smartphone addiction. *Korean J Stress Res* (2019) 27(4):396– 403. doi: 10.17547/kjsr.2019.27.4.396
- Zajonc RB. Feeling and thinking. Preferences need no inferences. Am Psychol (1980) 35:151–75. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.35.2.151
- Diener E, Emmons RA. The independence of positive and negative affect. J Pers Soc Psychol (1984) 47:1105–17. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.47.5.1105

- Watson D, Tellegen A. Toward a consensual structure of mood. *Psychol Bull* (1985) 98(2):219–35. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.219
- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J Pers Soc Psychol (1988) 54(6):1063–70. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Riordan BC, Cody L, Flett JA, Conner TS, Hunter J, Scarf D. The development of a single item FoMO (fear of missing out) scale. *Curr Psychol* (2018) 37:1–6. doi: 10.1007/s12144-018-9824-8
- 63. Shin D, Choi AR, Lee J, Chung SJ, Kim B, Park M, et al. The mediating effects of affect on associations between impulsivity or resilience and internet gaming disorder. J Clin Med (2019) 8(8):1102. doi: 10.3390/jcm8081102
- 64. Wang P, Wang X, Nie J, Zeng P, Liu K, Wang J, et al. Envy and problematic smartphone use: The mediating role of FOMO and the moderating role of student-student relationship. *Pers Individ Dif* (2019) 146:136–42. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.04.013
- Yin L, Wang P, Nie J, Guo J, Feng J, Lei L. Social networking sites addiction and FoMO: The mediating role of envy and the moderating role of need to belong. *Curr Psychol* (2019) 38:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00344-4
- 66. Brand M, Young KS, Laier C, Wölfling K, Potenza MN. Integrating psychological and neurobiological considerations regarding the development and maintenance of specific Internet-use disorders: An Interaction of Person-Affect-Cognition-Execution (I-PACE) model. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 71:252-66. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.08.033
- 67. Brand M, Wegmann E, Stark R, Müller A, Wölfling K, Robbins TW, et al. The Interaction of Person-Affect-Cognition-Execution (I-PACE) model for addictive behaviors: Update, generalization to addictive behaviors beyond Internet-use disorders, and specification of the process character of addictive behaviors. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2019) 104:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2019.06.032
- Starcke K, Antons S, Trotzke P, Brand M. Cue-reactivity in behavioral addictions: A meta-analysis and methodological considerations. J Behav Addict (2018) 7(2):227–38. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.39
- Liu XC, MQ T, Hu L, Wang AZ, Chen K, Zhao GF. Sleep quality and its correlates in college students. *Chin Ment Health J* (1995) 9(4):148–50. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1000-6729.1995.04.003
- Tong P, Wu CH. Correlation between sleep quality and health condition of college students. *China J Health Psychol* (2010) 18(2):181–4. doi: 10.13342/ j.cnki.cjhp.2010.02.056
- Alimoradi Z, Lin CY, Broström A, Bülow PH, Bajalan Z, Griffiths MD, et al. Internet addiction and sleep problems: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Sleep Med Rev* (2019) 47:51–61. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.06.004
- MacDonald S, Kormi-Nouri R. The affective personality, sleep, and autobiographical memories. J Positive Psychol (2013) 8(4):305–13. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2013.800904
- Latif I, Hughes AT, Bendall RC. Positive and negative affect mediate the influences of a maladaptive emotion regulation strategy on sleep quality. *Front Psychiatry* (2019) 10:628. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00628
- Alvaro PK, Roberts RM, Harris JK. A systematic review assessing bidirectionality between sleep disturbances, anxiety, and depression. *Sleep* (2013) 36(7):1059–68. doi: 10.5665/sleep.2810
- Steptoe A, O'Donnell K, Marmot M, Wardle J. Positive affect, psychological well-being, and good sleep. J Psychosomatic Res (2008) 64(4):409–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.11.008
- 76. van Zundert RM, van Roekel E, Engels RC, Scholte RH. Reciprocal associations between adolescents' night-time sleep and daytime affect and the role of gender and depressive symptoms. J Youth Adolescence (2015) 44 (2):556–69. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-0009-3
- 77. Stewart JC, Rand KL, Hawkins MA, Stines JA. Associations of the shared and unique aspects of positive and negative emotional factors with sleep quality. *Pers Individ Dif* (2011) 50(5):609–14. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.12.004
- Adams SK, Murdock KK, Daly-Cano M, Rose M. Sleep in the social world of college students: Bridging interpersonal stress and fear of missing out with mental health. *Behav Sci* (2020) 10(2):54. doi: 10.3390/bs10020054
- Li L, Mei SL, Niu ZM. Influences of smartphone addiction and negative affect on sleep quality among university students. *Chin J Public Health* (2016) 32(5):646–9. doi: 10.11847/zgggws2016-32-05-22

- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res* (1989) 28(2):193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Liu XC, MQ T, Hu L, Wang AZ, Wu HX. Reliability and validity of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index. *Chin J Psychiatry* (1996) 29(2):103–7. doi: 10.1007/BF02951625
- Thompson ER. Development and validation of an internationally reliable short-form of the positive and negative affect schedule (PANAS). J Cross-Cultural Psychol (2007) 38(2):227–42. doi: 10.1177/0022022106297301
- Huang L, Yang T, Li Z. Applicability of the Positive and Negative Affect Scale in Chinese. *Chin Ment Health J* (2003) 17(1):54–6. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1000-6729.2003.01.018
- Leung L. Linking psychological attributes to addiction and improper use of the mobile phone among adolescents in Hong Kong. J Children Media (2008) 2(2):93–113. doi: 10.1080/17482790802078565
- Huang H, Niu LY, Zhou CY, Wu HM. Reliability and validity of mobile phone addiction index for Chinese college students. *Chin J Clin Psychol* (2014) 22(5):835–8. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2014.05.062
- Zhao Y. Relationship between mobile phone dependence and perfectionism among college students in Nanjing: the mediating effect of social anxiety. *Modern Preventive Med* (2019) 46(12):2213–6. doi: CNKI:SUN:XDYF. 0.2019-12-024
- Chen Y, Li C, Mu XL, Bie Z, Gu CH. The effect of subjective well-being on mobile phone addiction: the chain mediating effects of autonomous support and self-esteem. *Chin J Special Educ* (2019) 26(5):91–6. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1007-3728.2019.05.015
- Curran PJ, West SG, Finch JF. The robustness of test statistics to nonnormality and specification error in confirmatory factor analysis. *Psychol Methods* (1996) 1(1):16–29. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.1.1.16
- 89. Hayes AF. Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. Guilford Press: New York (2013).
- Elhai JD, Levine JC, Dvorak RD, Hall BJ. Fear of missing out, need for touch, anxiety and depression are related to problematic smartphone use. *Comput Hum Behav* (2016) 63:509–16. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.079
- Elhai JD, Levine JC, Alghraibeh AM, Alafnan A, Aldraiweesh A, Hall BJ. Fear of missing out: Testing relationships with negative affectivity, online social engagement, and problematic smartphone use. *Comput Hum Behav* (2018) 89:289–98. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.08.020
- Chotpitayasunondh V, Douglas KM. How "phubbing" becomes the norm: The antecedents and consequences of snubbing via smartphone. Comput Hum Behav (2016) 63:9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.018
- 93. Elhai JD, Yang H, Fang J, Bai Y, Hall BJ. Depression and anxiety symptoms are associated with problematic smartphone use severity in Chinese young adults: Fear of missing out as a mediator. *Addictive Behav* (2020) 101:105962. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.04.020
- Elhai JD, Yang H, Rozgonjuk D, Montag C. Using machine learning to model problematic smartphone use severity: the significant role of fear of missing out. *Addictive Behav* (2020) 103:106261. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh. 2019.106261

- 95. Long J, Wang P, Liu S, Lei L. Materialism and adolescent problematic smartphone use: The mediating role of fear of missing out and the moderating role of narcissism. *Curr Psychol* (2019) 38:1–9. doi: 10.1007/ s12144-019-00526-0
- 96. Swar B, Hameed T. Fear of missing out, social media engagement, smartphone addiction and distraction: Moderating role of self-help mobile apps-based interventions in the youth. *Biomed Eng Syst Technol* (2017) 5:139–46. doi: 10.5220/0006166501390146
- Wang J, Wang P, Yang X, Zhang GH, Wang XC, Zhao FQ, et al. Fear of missing out and procrastination as mediators between sensation seeking and adolescent smartphone addiction. *Int J Ment Health Addict* (2019) 17 (4):1049–62. doi: 10.1007/s11469-019-00106-0
- Fuster H, Chamarro A, Oberst U. Fear of Missing Out, online social networking and mobile phone addiction: A latent profile approach. *Aloma: Rev Psicologia Ciències l'Educació i l'Esport* (2017) 35(1):23–30.
- 99. Deci EL, Ryan RM. Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior. New York: Plenum (1985).
- Brand M, Young KS, Laier C. Prefrontal control and Internet addiction: a theoretical model and review of neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2014) 8:375. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.00375
- Wegmann E, Brand M. Internet-communication disorder: It's a matter of social aspects, coping, and Internet-use expectancies. *Front Psychol* (2016) 7:1747. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01747
- 102. Pan JJ, Tan XD, Xie ZJ. Survey of sleep quality and relevant influencing factors in college students. *China Trop Med* (2007) 7(5):845–7. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1009-9727.2007.05.100
- 103. Qi DG, Liu R, Wu XQ, Pang J, Deng JB. Investigation on sleep quality of university students and its influential factors. *Modern Preventive Med* (2007) 134(5):875–7. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1003-8507.2007.05.018
- Billieux J, Van der Linden M, d'Acremont M, Ceschi G, Zermatten A. Does impulsivity relate to perceived dependence on and actual use of the mobile phone? *Appl Cogn Psychol* (2007) 21(4):527–37. doi: 10.1002/acp.1289
- Vyjayanthi S, Makharam S, Afraz M, Gajrekar S. Gender differences in the prevalence and features of internet addiction among Indian college students. *MedicaInnovatica* (2014) 3(2):49–53.
- 106. Baloğlu M, Kozan HİÖ, Kesici Ş. Gender differences in and the relationships between social anxiety and problematic internet use: Canonical analysis. J Med Internet Res (2018) 20(1):e33. doi: 10.2196/jmir.8947

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Li, Griffiths, Mei and Niu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psychometric Properties of Three Simplified Chinese Online-Related Addictive Behavior Instruments Among Mainland Chinese Primary School Students

I-Hua Chen^{1,2†}, Daniel Kwasi Ahorsu^{3†}, Amir H. Pakpour^{4,5}, Mark D. Griffiths⁶, Chung-Ying Lin^{3,7*} and Chao-Ying Chen³

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elias Aboujaoude, Stanford University, United States

Reviewed by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy Deena Marie Walker, Oregon Health and Science University, United States

*Correspondence:

Chung-Ying Lin cylin36933@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 17 March 2020 Accepted: 11 August 2020 Published: 03 September 2020

Citation:

Chen I-H, Ahorsu DK, Pakpour AH, Griffiths MD, Lin C-Y and Chen C-Y (2020) Psychometric Properties of Three Simplified Chinese Online-Related Addictive Behavior Instruments Among Mainland Chinese Primary School Students. Front. Psychiatry 11:875. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00875 ¹ Chinese Academy of Education Big Data, Qufu Normal University, Shandong, China, ² School of Education Science, Minnan Normal University, Zhangzhou, China, ³ Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, ⁴ Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Prevention of Non-Communicable Diseases, Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, Qazvin, Iran, ⁵ Department of Nursing, School of Health and Welfare, Jönköping University, Jönköping, Sweden, ⁶ International Gaming Research Unit, Psychology Department, Nottingham Trent University, Nottingham, United Kingdom, ⁷ Institute of Allied Health Sciences, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan

Background/Objective: There are inadequate screening instruments for assessing specific internet-related addictions among mainland Chinese primary school students. Therefore, the present study validated the psychometric properties of three simplified Chinese online-related addictive behavior instruments among mainland Chinese primary school students.

Method: Fourth to sixth graders (n = 1108; 48.3% males; mean [SD] age = 10.37 years [0.95]) completed the nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scales-Short Form (IGDS-SF9), Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS), and Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS) in a classroom. The factorial structures and the unidimensionality of the three scales were examined using confirmatory factor analyses (CFAs). Measurement invariance of the three scales was examined using multigroup confirmatory factor analyses (MGCFAs) across gender.

Results: The findings demonstrated that the three scales (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.73$ to 0.84) had unidimensional structure as supported by satisfactory fit indices (comparative fit index = 0.98 to 1.00). The MGCFA findings indicated that the unidimensional structures of the three scales were invariant across gender.

Conclusions: The findings indicate that the three simplified Chinese scales (IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS) are valid instruments for assessing online-related addictive behaviors among mainland Chinese primary school students irrespective of their gender.

Keywords: child technology use, gaming addiction, psychometrics, social media addiction, smartphone addiction

HIGHLIGHTS

The present study tested the appropriateness of three online-related addictive behavior instruments (*i.e.*, Internet Gaming Disorder Scales-Short Form [IGDS-SF9], Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale [BSMAS], and Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale [SABAS]), and they were found to be suitable for use among Chinese children. These instruments will be of importance to researchers and clinicians as they may help ascertain the risk of online-related addictions among these children.

INTRODUCTION

Internet use has become an important part in individuals' daily lives, especially during the past decade given the rapid growth of modern technology. With the emergence of new technologies, internet accessibility and the availability *via* Wi-Fi enabled devices such as smartphones, tablets, laptops, and desk computers have become widespread. This technological advancement has eliminated geographical barriers between people by facilitating communication, business transactions, online games, online shopping, and other forms of entertainment (1). While there are many benefits associated with internet use (*e.g.*, communication, information searching, and entertainment), use of such technology may lead to mental health challenges such as addiction, alexithymia, and suicide risk (2, 3) for a small minority of individuals if not properly managed.

Internet-related addiction has been a notable problem among young people and increasingly among children given that children are now being given access to tablets and smartphones (4). Internetrelated addiction basically involves problematic overuse of the internet for various activities such as online gaming, chatting (e.g., Facebook, Twitter, QQ, and Wechat), and gambling purposes (5). For some individuals, such internet-related activities may seem entertaining and benign at first. However, with poor self-control, it may become an addictive behavior and may subsequently lead to serious and negative psychosocial effects (e.g., preoccupation and cognitive distortions, worsening social behaviors, and unpleasant feelings or physical discomfort) (6). In addition, there are significant associations between internet-related addiction and poor mental health (e.g., depression, anxiety, and stress) (7-9). It has further been reported that in China (where the present study was carried out) there is a pooled internet addiction prevalence rate of 7.5% among Chinese adolescents (10) and approximately 11% among college students (11). These rates were higher in males than in females (11, 12). The relatively high prevalence rate in China demonstrates a worrisome situation. Therefore, there is a need for effective measures to prevent further internet addiction.

Notwithstanding these negative effects, apart from Internet Gaming Disorder (IGD) being in the appendix of the *Diagnostic* and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5) (13), internet-related disorders are not officially recognized. Consequently, more studies are needed to establish the diagnostic criteria and course descriptions required to identify problematic internet-related behaviors as mental disorders (13). Since 2013, increasingly more studies have been conducted to identify these

behaviors and to establish how to accurately assess and diagnose the subcategories of internet-related addictive disorders.

The broad content area of online-related addictive behaviors (e.g., gaming, social media) has led several studies to focus on developing and/or standardizing scales that can reliably and validly assess an aspect of internet-related behavior (or disorder) to help establish diagnostic criteria [e.g., Leung et al. (14); Yam et al. (15)]. Also, knowing that specific internet-related addictions such as smartphone addiction, social media addiction, and internet gaming disorder do not share similar features with generalized internet addiction (5, 16, 17), helps researchers and practitioners to better understand general and specific internet-related addictive behaviors so as to better diagnose and offer effective treatment strategies. Additionally, there is very limited research on understanding of addictive behaviors related to internet and smartphone use among mainland Chinese children (18-20), taking into consideration that China has one of the highest prevalence rates for internet-related addictions such as internet gaming (13). Therefore, there is a need to validate culturally-specific instruments that are brief enough to assess some specific internetrelated addictions among mainland Chinese children. More specifically, the simplified Chinese versions of the nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scale (IGDS-SF9), the Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS), and the Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS) were the main instruments of validation in this study. Consequently, the major aims of the present study were to translate these three internet-related instruments into simplified Chinese versions and to validate these translated versions among children and to examine its relationships with different types of psychological distress (i.e., depression, anxiety, and stress).

METHODS

Translation Procedure

Because the three instruments have already been translated into traditional Chinese character versions (14, 15, 21), these versions were used to create simplified Chinese character versions. More specifically, the first step was to convert every traditional Chinese character into its corresponding simplified Chinese character. The second step was to modify some terms to make the simplified Chinese character versions be better understood by mainland Chinese individuals. For example, mainland Chinese rarely use *Facebook* or *Twitter* (in fact, using *Facebook* or *Twitter* is not officially allowed in mainland China). Therefore, commonly used social media like QQ and *Wechat* were used instead in the simplified Chinese character versions. The final step was to ask five primary school teachers to evaluate the simplified Chinese character versions and to ensure their readability.

Participants and Procedure

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (IRB ref: HSEARS20190718001) before the targeted participants (*i.e.*, primary school children in the fourth to sixth grades) were approached. Three primary

schools in Sichuan were contacted and agreed to assist in this study. Teachers in the three schools further helped in distributing the study information to children in the fourth to sixth grades. After ensuring the willingness to participate from both the primary school students and their parents, several scales together with a background information sheet were given to the students to complete. Also, written informed consent was obtained for every participant (and one of their parents) who agreed to participate. The survey was conducted in the classroom under the supervision of the school teachers in the precise order outlined in the 'Measures' section. The inclusion criteria for participants were that they had to (i) understand written Chinese in simplified characters; (ii) understand spoken Mandarin; (iii) have had their smartphone with internet access over three months; and (iv) have the ability to complete the survey without difficulties. Out of 1,150 participants, 1,108 (96.35% response rate) participated in the present study. The participants did not receive any incentive; however, the present authors expressed appreciation to the participants.

Measures

Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form (IGDS-SF9)

The nine-item IGDS-SF9 developed by Pontes and Griffiths (22) is a short self-report scale that is used to assess Internet Gaming Disorder based on DSM-5 criteria (13). It uses a five-point Likertscale response format that ranges from 1 (Never) to 5 (Very often) with a higher sum of item scores indicating a greater degree of internet gaming disorder. An example item is "Do you systematically fail when trying to control or cease your gaming activity?". The confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) of the IGDS-SF9 demonstrated a unidimensional structure with satisfactory psychometric properties which include internal consistency (Cronbach's α of 0.9), criterion and construct validity especially among Hong Kong university students (15). It also has acceptable psychometric properties in different languages including English (22, 23), Persian (24), Portuguese (25), Spanish (26), Slovenian (27), Italian (28), Malaysian (29), and Turkish (30, 31), making it one of the best scales for assessing IGD.

Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS)

The BSMAS, developed by Andreassen et al. (32), is a six-item scale used to assess the risk of social media addiction based on the addiction component model (*i.e.*, salience, mood modification, tolerance, withdrawal conflict and relapse) (6, 33). It uses a fivepoint Likert-scale response format that ranges from 1 (*Very rarely*) to 5 (*Very often*) with a higher sum of item scores indicating a greater degree of social media addiction. An example item is "*How often during the last year have you felt an urge to use social media more and more?*". A CFA of the BSMAS demonstrated a unidimensional structure with satisfactory psychometric properties which include internal consistency (Cronbach's α of 0.82), criterion and construct validity among Hong Kong university students (15). A national representative study among 5,961 Hungarian adolescents proposed a cutoff score of 19 out of 30 to indicate problematic use of social media (34). It has acceptable psychometric properties in different languages including English (32), Persian (35), and Italian (36).

Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS)

The SABAS, developed by Csibi, Demetrovics, and Szabo (35), is a six-item scale that is used to assess the risk of smartphone addiction and is also based on addiction components model (i.e., salience, mood modification, tolerance, withdrawal conflict and relapse) (6, 33). Its items (e.g., "My smartphone is the most important thing in my life.") are on a six-point Likert-scale response format that ranges from 1 (Strongly disagree) to 5 (Strongly agree) with a higher sum of item scores indicating a greater degree of smartphone addiction. A CFA of SABAS demonstrated a unidimensional structure with satisfactory psychometric properties which include internal consistency (Cronbach's α of 0.75), criterion and construct validity among Hong Kong university students (15). Furthermore, other studies reported acceptable psychometric properties in different languages which includes Persian (37), English (38), Turkish (39, 40), Italian (41), Serbian (42), and Hungarian (35).

Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale-21 (DASS-21)

The DASS-21, developed by Lovibond and Lovibond (43), is a 21-item scale that is used to assess three types of psychological distress (*i.e.*, depression, anxiety, and stress). Each type of distress (depression, anxiety, and stress) is assessed by seven items rated on a four-point Likert scale response format ranging from 0 (*Did not apply to me at all*) to 3 (*Applied to me very much, or most of the time*). A higher sum of item score for each type of distress indicates that an individual suffers more from that specific distress. It has been reported to have high internal consistency indices among adolescents (44, 45).

Data Analysis

The participants' characteristics were analyzed using descriptive statistics, including means (and SDs) for continuous variables, and frequency (%) for categorical variables. The associations between the studied variables (including IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, SABAS, DASS-21, and time spent on gaming, social media, and smartphone) were analyzed using Pearson's correlation. Psychometric properties of the three instruments in scale level were analyzed using floor and ceiling effects (acceptable effects were <20.0%) (46), internal consistency by Cronbach's α (acceptable value was >.7) (47), and CFA. Psychometric properties of the three instruments in item-level were analyzed using corrected item-total correlation (acceptable correlation was >.4) (48) and factor loadings derived from CFA.

CFA with diagonally weighted least squares (DWLS) estimator was applied to test whether the three psychometric instruments were unidimensional, according to the literature (27, 36, 38). Several fit indices were accordingly used to evaluate the unidimensionality of the three instruments: a nonsignificant χ^2 , the comparative fit index (CFI) > 0.9, the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) < 0.08, and the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR) <0.08 (49, 50). After ensuring the unidimensionality of the three instruments, measurement invariance across gender was

carried out to examine whether male and female primary school students interpreted the three instruments similarly. Multigroup CFA (MGCFA) was used by three nested models to determine whether measurement invariance was supported. The nested models were a configural model, a model with factor loadings constrained equal across gender, and a model with factor loadings and item thresholds constrained equal across gender (51, 52). Two comparisons were conducted in the nested models (i.e., configural model vs. model with factor loadings constrained equal, and model with factor loadings constrained equal vs. model with factor loadings and item thresholds constrained equal) to examine whether measurement invariance was supported. The following indices were used for the evaluation: $\Delta CFI > -0.01$ (53), $\Delta RMSEA <$ 0.02 (54), and Δ SRMR < 0.03 (for invariant loadings) or 0.01 (for invariant thresholds) (55). The analyses were performed using LISREL 8.8 (Scientific Software International, Lincolnwood, IL, USA) for CFA and MGCFA; IBM SPSS Statistic version 24.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY) for the rest of the analyses.

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the participant characteristics (N = 1,108) whose mean age was 10.37 years (SD = 0.95). Nearly half of the participants were males (48.3%), and the participants were roughly equally distributed in three grades (fourth graders = 30.9%; fifth graders = 35.5%; sixth graders = 32.3%). On average, the participants spent 1.11 h/day (SD = 1.64) on their smartphone, 0.40 h/day (SD = 0.89) on social media, and 0.76 h/day (SD = 1.52) on gaming. Additionally, their psychological distress scores were 2.51 (SD = 3.61) for depression; 3.92 (SD = 3.86) for anxiety; and 4.31 (SD = 4.10) for stress.

Table 2 shows the satisfactory properties of the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS at the scale level among the primary school students, except for the slightly high proportion in floor effects (IGDS-SF9 = 24.6%; BSMAS = 28.2%; SABAS = 25.7%). More specifically, all the fit indices used in the CFA supported the unidimensional structure for IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS. Additionally, Cronbach's α was satisfactory in all three scales: α = 0.84 for IGDS-SF9; 0.73 for BSMAS; and 0.81 for SABAS. Moreover, the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS were mutually significantly

TABLE 1	Participant cha	racteristics (n	= 1,108).
---------	-----------------	-----------------	-----------

	Mean (SD) or n (%)	Missing n
Age (Year)	10.37 (0.95)	46
Gender (male)	513 (48.3%)	9
Grade		15
Grade 4	328 (30.9%)	
Grade 5	377 (35.5%)	
Grade 6	343 (32.3%)	
Time on smartphone (hours per day)	1.11 (1.64)	27
Time on using social media (hours per day)	0.40 (0.89)	43
Time on gaming (hours per day)	0.76 (1.52)	38
Depression score ^a	2.51 (3.61)	94
Anxiety score ^a	3.92 (3.86)	82
Stress score ^a	4.31 (4.10)	94

^aAssessed using the Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale (DASS-21).

TABLE 2 | Psychometric properties of the three scales in scale level (n = 1,108).

Psychometric testing	IGDS-SF9	BSMAS	SABAS	Suggested cutoff
Ceiling effects (%)	0	0	0	<20
Floor effects (%)	24.6	28.2	25.7	<20
Internal consistency (Cronbach's <i>a</i>) Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA)	0.84	0.73	0.81	>0.7
χ^2 (df)	200.71(27)	25.93 (9)	19.51 (9)	Nonsignificant
Comparative fit index	0.98	0.99	1.00	>0.9
Tucker-Lewis index	0.98	0.99	1.00	>0.9
RMSEA	0.076	0.041	0.032	<0.08
SRMR	0.067	0.033	0.023	<0.08

IGDS-SF9, Internet Gaming Disorder Scale–Short-Form; no modification indices were done in the CFA; BSMAS, Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale; no modification indices were done in the CFA; SABAS, Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale; no modification indices were done in the CFA; RMSEA, Root-mean square error of approximation; SRMR, Standardized root mean square residual.

correlated (r = 0.55-0.69; all *p*-values < 0.01). Scores on the subscales for depression (r = 0.34-0.55; *p*-values < 0.01), anxiety (r = 0.35-0.47; *p*-values < 0.01), and stress (r = 0.37-0.52; *p*-values < 0.01) were all significantly correlated to scores on the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS as well as the daily time spent on smartphone, social media and gaming (**Table 3**).

The item properties were all satisfactory in the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS. In the IGDS-SF9, all factor loadings derived from the CFA were between 0.60 and 0.80; corrected item-total correlations between 0.55 and 0.76. In the BSMAS, all factor loadings derived from the CFA were between 0.59 and 0.73; corrected item-total correlations between 0.61 and 0.68. In the SABAS, all factor loadings derived from the CFA were between 0.63 and 0.80; corrected item-total correlations between 0.66 and 0.76 (**Table 4**).

After ensuring that both scale-level and item-level of the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS were satisfactory and all had a unidimensional structure, the MGCFAs were applied to evaluate whether male and female primary school students interpreted the scales differently. All three instruments had their measurement invariance supported at factor loadings and item thresholds without relaxing any parameters (**Table 5**).

DISCUSSION

The present study validated three instruments that are brief enough to assess some specific (*i.e.*, IGDS-SD9 and BSMAS) or general (*i.e.*, SABAS) internet-related addictions among mainland Chinese children. The results demonstrated that the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS all had robust psychometric properties among mainland Chinese primary school students. Furthermore, all three scales demonstrated a unidimensional structure which is consistent with previous studies (14, 15). Moreover, there were significant intercorrelations between all the variables including IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, SABAS, DASS-21 subscales, and the time spent on gaming, social media, and smartphones.

TABLE 3 | Correlation matrix among the studied factors (n = 1,065–1,108).

						r			
	1.IGDS-SF9	2.BSMAS	3.SABAS	4.Depression	5.Anxiety	6.Stress	7.Time on smartphone	8.Time on social media	9.Time on gaming
1.	_								
2.	0.55	_							
З.	0.69	0.55	-						
4.	0.55	0.34	0.44	-					
5.	0.47	0.35	0.39	0.69	_				
6.	0.52	0.37	0.42	0.69	0.75	-			
7.	0.29	0.20	0.30	0.19	0.17	0.21	_		
8.	0.16	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.17	0.17	0.60	-	
9.	0.20	0.16	0.23	0.17	0.13	0.19	0.70	0.59	-

All p-values < 0.01.

Depression, Anxiety, and Stress were assessed using Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale (DASS-21); IGDS-SF9, Internet Gaming Disorder Scale–Short-Form; BSMAS, Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale; SABAS, Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale.

TABLE 4 | Item properties and internal consistency (n = 1,108).

Scale or Item #	Item description	Mean (SD)	Factor loading ^a	Item-total correlation
IGD9-SF				
1	Preoccupied with gaming behavior	1.63 (0.88)	0.60	0.63
12	Feel more irritability, anxiety when reduce	1.46 (0.86)	0.78	0.71
13	Spend more time to achieve pleasure	1.61 (0.91)	0.80	0.76
14	Systematically fail when trying to control gaming activity	1.61 (0.95)	0.64	0.63
15	Lost interests in previous hobbies	1.39 (0.85)	0.75	0.69
16	Continued your gaming activity despite knowing it was causing problems	1.35 (0.73)	0.77	0.68
17	Deceived about the amount of gaming activity	1.22 (0.66)	0.74	0.60
18	Temporarily escape or relieve a negative mood	1.79 (1.12)	0.68	0.69
19	Jeopardized or lost an important relationship	1.27 (0.74)	0.70	0.55
BSMAS				
B1	Salience	1.62 (0.88)	0.73	0.68
B2	Craving/tolerance	1.67 (0.91)	0.70	0.67
B3	Mood modification	1.36 (0.75)	0.67	0.61
B4	Relapse/loss of control	1.74 (1.06)	0.65	0.68
B5	Withdrawal	1.65 (1.02)	0.68	0.68
B6	Conflict/functional impairment	1.56 (1.01)	0.59	0.61
SABAS				
S1	Most important thing	2.00 (1.32)	0.63	0.66
S2	Conflicts have arisen	1.63 (1.21)	0.77	0.70
S3	Preoccupying myself	2.15 (1.42)	0.69	0.71
S4	Fiddle around more	1.82 (1.24)	0.79	0.76
S5	Irritable	1.78 (1.30)	0.80	0.76
S6	Fail to use less	1.90 (1.41)	0.75	0.73

IGDS-SF9, Internet Gaming Disorder Scale–Short-Form; BSMAS, Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale; SABAS, Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale. ^aFactor loadings were derived from confirmatory factor analysis.

The results for IGDS-SF9 specifically showed that the scale had a unidimensional structure with acceptable internal consistency (α = 0.84). This indicates that IGDS-SF9 is reliable in assessing the risk of IGD among primary school students. These findings

TABLE 5 | Measurement invariance of the IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS across gender (n = 1,099).

	Configural model ^a	Loadings constrained equal ^a	Loadings and thresholds constrained equal ^a
BSMAS			
χ^2 (df) or $\Delta \chi^2$ (Δdf)	33.16 (18)	8.30 (5)	5.16 (5)
<i>p</i> -value	0.016	0.011	0.015
CFI or Δ CFI	0.99	0.000	0.000
RMSEA or ∆RMSEA	0.039	-0.001	-0.003
SRMR or ∆SRMR	0.040	0.010	0.000
SABAS			
χ^2 (df) or $\Delta\chi^2$ (Δ df)	32.43 (18)	5.80 (5)	4.37 (5)
<i>p</i> -value	0.019	0.024	0.038
CFI or Δ CFI	1.00	0.000	0.000
RMSEA or ∆RMSEA	0.038	-0.003	-0.004
SRMR or ∆SRMR	0.030	0.003	0.000
IGDS-SF9			
χ^2 (df) or $\Delta \chi^2$ (Δ df)	199.61 (54)	21.15 (8)	19.24 (8)
<i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001
CFI or Δ CFI	0.98	0.000	0.000
RMSEA or ∆RMSEA	0.070	-0.002	-0.001
SRMR or Δ SRMR	0.053	0.003	0.000

BSMAS, Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale; SABAS, Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale; IGDS-SF9, Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form; CFI, comparative fit index; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation; SRMR, standardized root mean square residual; ^aConfigural models are reported using χ^2 (df), CFI, RMSEA, and SRMR; other models are reported using $\Delta \chi^2$ (Δ df), Δ CFI, Δ RMSEA, and Δ SRMR.

(unidimensional structure and reliability) are similar to previous studies [*e.g.*, Arıcak et al. (30); Beranuy et al. (26); Monacis et al. (28); Pontes & Griffiths (22); Pontes et al. (25, 27); T'ng & Pau (29); Wu et al. (24); Yam et al. (15)]. Also, the floor effect (24.6%) was higher than the suggested cut-off although similar to a study by Yam et al. (15). This is possible because the students spent little time on internet gaming. Indeed, the present study's sample spent approximately 0.76 hours per day playing games, a shorter duration as compared with other studies (mean hours per day = 1.09 to 10.99) (15, 24, 56). The reasons for so little time spent on internet gaming may include parental restrictions on the use of gaming devices (and the like) as children. However, this floor effect finding is contrary to a study which found low floor and ceiling

effects for quality of life instruments among children (57). Therefore, a possible reason for the higher floor effect in the present study as compared with the quality of life instruments (57) may be due to the difficulty accessing technology among children. Additionally, measurement invariance across gender was supported for IGDS-SF9, indicating that both genders had similar interpretations on the item content in the IGDS-SF9.

The findings for BSMAS also indicated that the scale had a unidimensional structure with acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha =$ 0.73). This indicates that the BSMAS is reliable in assessing the students' challenges with social media use. These findings (unidimensional structure and reliability) are similar to previous studies (15, 36, 58). Results also showed the floor effect (28.2%) was higher than the suggested cut-off and that in previous studies (15, 35). This may be because the students spent little time on social media. Indeed, the present study's sample spent about 0.40 h per day on social media, a shorter duration as compared with past studies (mean hours per day = 3.11 to 3.75) (15, 58). This finding is contrary to a study by Lin et al. (57) which reported low floor and ceiling effects for quality of life instruments among children. Similar to the explanation for the IGDS-SF9, the higher floor effect in the present study as compared with the quality of life instruments (57) may be due to the difficulty accessing technology among children. In addition, measurement invariance across genders was supported for the BSMAS, indicating that both genders had similar interpretations on the item content in the BSMAS (58).

The SABAS had similar psychometric properties like IGDS-SF9 and BSMAS. The scale had a unidimensional structure with acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.81$). This indicates that the SABAS is reliable in assessing the students' challenges with smartphone use. These findings (unidimensional structure and reliability) are similar to previous studies (15, 35, 37-39, 41). Also, the floor effect (25.7%) was higher than the suggested cut-off and that in previous studies (15, 37, 57). This may be possible because the students had low levels of smartphone use. The present study's sample spent about 1.11 h per day on smartphones, a shorter duration as compared with previous research (mean hours per day = 5.29) (15). This may have accounted for the increased floor effect because they did not use smartphones excessively. Nonetheless, the ceiling effects were as anticipated. In addition, measurement invariance across genders was supported for the SABAS, indicating that both genders had similar interpretations on the item content in the SABAS.

In addition, there were significant positive relationships between the three scales (IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS) and psychological distress (depression, anxiety, stress; r = 0.34-0.55), as well as interrelationships between IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS (r =0.55-0.69). These results confirm the criterion validity of IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS. Also, the results re-affirm the association between individuals who are addicted to online-related activities and possibilities of them also having psychological distress (*i.e.*, depression, anxiety, and stress). Although the present study was unable to establish cause-and-effect relationship, possible reasons for these associations among heavy-using children may be that they are using online-related activities as a coping mechanism or they encounter challenges with the use of digital devices. This is similar to other studies (9, 15) except that the students used in this present study were children.

This study has practical implications for researchers and clinicians. The results indicate that future researchers in China may use these three scales for further studies of addiction risk to internet-related activities among Chinese children. Clinicians may also use it to assess the risk of online-related addictive behaviors among children. Although these scales are acceptable for assessing the risk of online-related addictive behaviors, they cannot be used as diagnostic tools. Consequently, further studies may be needed to help develop diagnostic criteria (or clinical cut-off scores) for the online-related behaviors examined in the present study.

The present study also has some limitations that should be considered when interpreting the findings. First, the study used mainland Chinese children. Therefore, the results cannot be generalized to other age groups. Moreover, most of the participants in the present study were Han Chinese. Therefore, the psychometric findings in the present study may not be able to generalize to other ethnic groups in mainland China. It is therefore recommended that this study be replicated in other ethnicities and age groups in China. Second, the study utilized self-reported instruments, and there is the chance that the findings may have been affected by social desirability biases or poor memory recall, especially given that children's cognition is still in development. Third, the study did not collect data on participants' psychiatric history which has the potential of confounding study findings. Fourth, the study did not examine the effect that the length of time that the student had owned a smartphone might have had on the results. This may have contributed to the slightly high floor effect found in the study. Future studies are thus needed to examine whether the length of time a student has owned a smartphone contributes to the high floor effect for the instruments. Future studies should take the recommendations into consideration when replicating this study. More specifically, future studies may consider using diagnostic measures (e.g., diagnosis using DSM-5 or Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-5 [SCID-5]) to examine the psychometric properties of the three online-related addiction behavior instruments. Also, respondents' psychiatric history should be collected in the future study to avoid the influence of inherent confounding psychiatric variables.

CONCLUSION

The findings of the present study indicated that the simplified Chinese IGDS-SF9, BSMAS, and SABAS had robust psychometric properties. Therefore, they are reliably and validly capable of assessing internet-related addictions among mainland Chinese children. These scales are, to date, the shortest and easiest to use instruments for assessing specific internet-related addictions. Furthermore, the items of all the three specific scales contributed significantly to the derived factor loadings. There were significant positive relationships between these scales and depression, anxiety, and stress as well as other variables such as time spent on these behaviors or activities demonstrating good construct validity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics committee of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (IRB ref: HSEARS20190718001) and the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Jiangxi Psychological Consultant Association (IRB ref: JXSXL-2019-J022). Written informed

REFERENCES

- Kumar M, Mondal A. A study on Internet addiction and its relation to psychopathology and self-esteem among college students. *Ind Psychiatry J* (2018) 27(1):61–6. doi: 10.4103/ipj.ipj_61_17
- De Berardis D, D'Albenzio A, Gambi F, Sepede G, Valchera A, Conti CM, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with dissociative experiences and Internet addiction in a nonclinical sample. *CyberPsychol Behav* (2009) 12 (1):67–9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0108
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and Suicide Risk in Psychiatric Disorders: A Mini-Review. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:148. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148
- Samaha M, Hawi NS, Griffiths MD. The Digital Addiction Scale for Children: Development and validation. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Network* (2019) 22:771– 8. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2019.0132
- Griffiths MD, Szabo A. Is excessive online usage a function of medium or activity? An empirical pilot study. J Behav Addict (2014) 3:74–7. doi: 10.1556/ JBA.2.2013.016
- Griffiths MD. Internet addiction-time to be taken seriously? Addict Res (2000) 8(5):413–8. doi: 10.3109/16066350009005587
- Anand N, Jain PA, Prabhu S, Thomas C, Bhat A, Prathyusha PV, et al. Internet Use Patterns, Internet Addiction, and Psychological Distress Among Engineering University Students: A Study from India. *Indian J Psychol Med* (2018) 40(5):458–67. doi: 10.4103/IJPSYM.JJPSYM_135_18
- Hasan AA-H, Abu Jaber A. The relationship between Internet addiction, psychological distress, and coping strategies in a sample of Saudi undergraduate students. *Perspect Psychiatr Care* (2019) 56(3):495–50. doi: 10.1111/ppc.12439
- Saikia AM, Das J, Barman P, Bharali MD. Internet addiction and its relationships with depression, anxiety, and stress in urban adolescents of Kamrup District, Assam. J Family Community Med (2019) 26(2):108–12. doi: 10.4103/jfcm.JFCM_93_18
- Wang L, Luo J, Bai Y, Kong J, Luo J, Gao W, et al. Internet addiction of adolescents in China: Prevalence, predictors, and association with well-being. *Addict Res Theory* (2013) 21(1):62–9. doi: 10.3109/16066359.2012.690053
- Shao Y-J, Zheng T, Wang Y-Q, Liu L, Chen Y, Yao Y-S. Internet addiction detection rate among college students in the People's Republic of China: a meta-analysis. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* (2018) 12:25–5. doi: 10.1186/s13034-018-0231-6
- Li L, Xu D-D, Chai J-X, Wang D, Li L, Zhang L, et al. Prevalence of Internet addiction disorder in Chinese university students: A comprehensive metaanalysis of observational studies. J Behav Addict (2018) 7(3):610–23. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.53
- 13. American Psychiatric Association DSMTF. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5. 5th ed.* American Psychiatric Association: Arlington, VA (2013).
- Leung H, Pakpour AH, Strong C, Lin Y-C, Tsai M-C, Griffiths MD, et al. Measurement invariance across young adults from Hong Kong and Taiwan among three internet-related addiction scales: Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS), Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS), and Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form (IGDS-SF9) (Study Part A). Addictive Behav (2020) 101:105969. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.04.027

consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

I-HC, C-YL, and AP contributed conception and design of the study. I-HC organized the database. I-HC and C-YL performed the statistical analysis. DA wrote the first draft of the manuscript. I-HC, C-YL, and C-YC wrote sections of the manuscript. MG, C-YL, and C-YC critically commented on the draft. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Yam C-W, Pakpour AH, Griffiths MD, Yau W-Y, Lo C-LM, Ng JMT, et al. Psychometric testing of three Chinese online-related addictive behavior instruments among Hong Kong university students. *Psychiatr Q* (2019) 90 (1):117–28. doi: 10.1007/s11126-018-9610-7
- Griffiths MD, Pontes HM. Internet addiction disorder and internet gaming disorder are not the same. J Addict Res Ther (2014) 5(4):e124. doi: 10.4172/ 2155-6105.1000e124
- Montag C, Bey K, Sha P, Li M, Chen Y-F, Liu W-Y, et al. Is it meaningful to distinguish between generalized and specific Internet addiction? Evidence from a cross-cultural study from Germany, Sweden, Taiwan and China. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry* (2015) 7(1):20–6. doi: 10.1111/appy.12122
- Liang L, Zhou D, Yuan C, Shao A, Bian Y. Gender differences in the relationship between internet addiction and depression: A cross-lagged study in Chinese adolescents. *Comput Hum Behav* (2016) 63:463–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.04.043
- Tao R, Huang X, Wang J, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Li M. Proposed diagnostic criteria for internet addiction. *Addiction* (2010) 105(3):556–64. doi: 10.1111/ j.1360-0443.2009.02828.x
- Zhang R-P, Bai B-Y, Jiang S, Yang S, Zhou Q. Parenting styles and internet addiction in Chinese adolescents: Conscientiousness as a mediator and teacher support as a moderator. *Comput Hum Behav* (2019) 101:144–50. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.07.019
- Chen IH, Strong C, Lin Y-C, Tsai M-C, Leung H, Lin C-Y, et al. Time invariance of three ultra-brief internet-related instruments: Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS), Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale (BSMAS), and the nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scale- Short Form (IGDS-SF9) (Study Part B). Addictive Behav (2020) 101:105960. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.04.018
- Pontes HM, Griffiths MD. Measuring DSM-5 internet gaming disorder: Development and validation of a short psychometric scale. *Comput Hum Behav* (2015) 45:137–43. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.006
- Pontes HM, Stavropoulos V, Griffiths MD. Measurement invariance of the Internet Gaming Disorder Scale–Short-Form (IGDS9-SF) between the United States of America, India and the United Kingdom. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 257:472–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.08.013
- 24. Wu T-Y, Lin C-Y, Årestedt K, Griffiths MD, Broström A, Pakpour AH. Psychometric validation of the Persian nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form: Does gender and hours spent online gaming affect the interpretations of item descriptions? J Behav Addict (2017) 6(2):256–63. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.025
- Pontes HM, Griffiths MD. Portuguese validation of the Internet Gaming Disorder Scale – Short-Form (IGD9-SF). *Cyberpsychol. Behav Soc Network*. (2016) 19:288–93. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2015.0605
- 26. Beranuy M, Machimbarrena JM, Vega MA, Carbonell X, Griffiths MD, Pontes HM, et al. Spanish Validation of the Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form (IGDS9-SF): Prevalence and relationship with online gambling and quality of life. *Int J Environ Public Health* (2020) 17:1562. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051562
- 27. Pontes HM, Macur M, Griffiths MD. Internet Gaming Disorder among Slovenian primary schoolchildren: Findings from a nationally representative

sample of adolescents. J Behav Addict (2016) 5:304-10. doi: 10.1556/ 2006.5.2016.042

- Monacis L, de Palo V, Griffiths MD, Sinatra M. Validation of the Internet Gaming Disorder Scale-Short Form (IGDS9-SF) in an Italian-speaking sample. J Behav Addict (2016) 5(4):683–90. doi: 10.1556/2006.5.2016.083
- 29. T'ng ST, Pau K. Validation of a translated Internet Gaming Disorder Scale (short form) and measurement invariance across sex groups in Malaysian samples. *Curr Psychol* (2020). doi: 10.1007/s12144-020-00668-6
- Arıcak OT, Dinç M, Yay M, Griffiths MD. Adapting the short form of the Internet Gaming Disorder Scale into Turkish: Validity and reliability. *Addicta: Turkish J Addict* (2019) 5:629–35. doi: 10.15805/addicta.2019.6.1.0027
- Evren C, Dalbudak E, Topcu M, Kutlu N, Evren B, Pontes HM. Psychometric validation of the Turkish nine-item Internet Gaming Disorder Scale–Short Form (IGDS9-SF). *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 265:349–54. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.002
- 32. Andreassen CS, Billieux J, Griffiths MD, Kuss DJ, Demetrovics Z, Mazzoni E, et al. The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: A large-scale cross-sectional study. *Psychol Addictive Behav* (2016) 30(2):252–62. doi: 10.1037/adb0000160
- Griffiths MD. A 'components' model of addiction within a biopsychosocial framework. J Subst Use (2005) 10(4):191–7. doi: 10.1080/14659890500114359
- Bányai F, Zsila Á, Király O, Maraz A, Elekes Z, Griffiths MD, et al. Problematic social media use: Results from a large-scale nationally representative adolescent sample. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(1), e0169839. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169839
- Csibi S, Demetrovics Z, Szabo A. Hungarian adaptation and psychometric characteristics of Brief Addiction to Smartphone Scale (BASS) [In Hungarian]. *Psychiatria Hungarica* (2016) 31(1):71–7.
- Monacis L, de Palo V, Griffiths MD, Sinatra M. Social networking addiction, attachment style, and validation of the Italian version of the Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale. J Behav Addict (2017) 6(2):178–86. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.023
- Lin C-Y, Imani V, Broström A, Nilsen P, Fung XCC, Griffiths MD, et al. Smartphone Application-Based Addiction among Iranian adolescents: A psychometric study. Int J Ment Health Addict (2019) 17(4):765–80. doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-0026-2
- Csibi S, Griffiths MD, Cook B, Demetrovics Z, Szabo A. The psychometric properties of the Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS). Int J Ment Health Addict (2018) 16(2):393–403. doi: 10.1007/s11469-017-9787-2
- Altundağ Y, Yandi A, Ali ÜNAL. Adaptation of Application-Based Smartphone Addiction Scale to Turkish cultures. Sakarya Univ J Educ (2019) 9(2):261–81. doi: 10.19126/suje.516365
- Gökler ME, Bulut YE. Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Smart Phone Application Based Addiction Scale. J Cognitive-Behav Psychother Res (2019) 8(2):100–6. doi: 10.5455/JCBPR.38288
- Soraci P, Ferrari A, Urso A, Griffiths MD. Psychometric properties of the Italian version of the Smartphone Application-Based Addiction Scale (SABAS). Int J Ment Health Addict (2020). doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00222-2
- Sojević M, Pećanac D, Latas M. Connection of depression, anxiety and impulsivity with the way of using modern mobile phones among students. *Medicinski Podmladak* (2018) 69(4):27–34. doi: 10.5937/mp69-17929
- Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. 2nd ed. Sydney: Psychology Foundation (1995).
- Shaw T, Campbell MA, Runions KC, Zubrick SR. Properties of the DASS-21 in an Australian community adolescent population. *J Clin Psychol* (2017) 73 (7):879–92. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22376
- Wang K, Shi H-S, Geng F-L, Zou L-Q, Tan S-P, Wang Y, et al. Cross-cultural validation of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scale–21 in China. *Psychol Assess* (2016) 28(5):e88–100. doi: 10.1037/pas0000207
- 46. Jette DU, Warren RL, Wirtalla C. Functional independence domains in patients receiving rehabilitation in skilled nursing facilities: Evaluation of

psychometric properties. Arch Phys Med Rehabil (2005) 86(6):1089-94. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2004.11.018

- Cheng C-P, Luh W-M, Yang A-L, Su C-T, Lin C-Y. Agreement of children and parents scores on Chinese Version of Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Version 4.0: Further psychometric development. *Appl Res Qual Life* (2016) 11 (3):891–906. doi: 10.1007/s11482-015-9405-z
- Wang Y-S, Wang H-Y, Shee DY. Measuring e-learning systems success in an organizational context: Scale development and validation. *Comput Hum Behav* (2007) 23(4):1792–808. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2005.10.006
- Bentler PM, Bonett DG. Significance tests and goodness of fit in the analysis of covariance structures. *Psychol Bull* (1980) 88(3):588–606. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.88.3.588
- Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equation Model.: A Multidiscip J* (1999) 6(1):1–55. doi: 10.1080/1070551 9909540118
- Jafari P, Nozari F, Ahrari F, Bagheri Z. Measurement invariance of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales-21 across medical student genders. *Int J Med Educ* (2017) 8:116–22. doi: 10.5116/ijme.58ba.7d8b
- 52. van den Brink W. ICD-11 Gaming Disorder: Needed and just in time or dangerous and much too early?: Commentary on: Scholars' open debate paper on the World Health Organization ICD-11 Gaming Disorder proposal (Aarseth et al.). J Behav Addict (2017) 6(3):290–2. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.040
- 53. Lin C-Y, Luh W-M, Cheng C-P, Yang A-L, Su C-T, Ma H-I. Measurement equivalence across child self-reports and parent-proxy reports in the Chinese Version of the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory Version 4.0. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev* (2013) 44(5):583–90. doi: 10.1007/s10578-012-0352-8
- 54. Lin C-Y, Luh W-M, Yang A-L, Su C-T, Wang J-D, Ma H-I. Psychometric properties and gender invariance of the Chinese version of the self-report pediatric quality of life inventory version 4.0: short form is acceptable. *Qual Life Res* (2012) 21(1):177–82. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-9928-1
- Chen FF. Sensitivity of goodness of fit indexes to lack of measurement invariance. Struct Equation Model (2007) 14(3):464–504. doi: 10.1080/ 10705510701301834
- Sigerson L, Li AYL, Cheung MWL, Luk JW, Cheng C. Psychometric properties of the Chinese Internet Gaming Disorder Scale. *Addictive Behav* (2017) 74:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.031
- Lin C-Y, Luh W-M, Cheng C-P, Yang A-L, Ma H-I. Evaluating the wording effect and psychometric properties of the kid-KINDL: Using the multitraitmultimethod approach. *Eur J Psychol Assess* (2014) 30(2):100–9. doi: 10.1027/ 1015-5759/a000175
- Lin C-Y, Broström A, Nilsen P, Griffiths M, Pakpour A. Psychometric validation of the Persian Bergen Social Media Addiction Scale using classic test theory and Rasch models. *J Behav Addict* (2017) 6(4):620–9. doi: 10.1556/ 2006.6.2017.071

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Chen, Ahorsu, Pakpour, Griffiths, Lin and Chen. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Do You Feel the Same as I Do? Differences in Virtual Reality Technology Experience and Acceptance Between Elderly Adults and College Students

Qian Liu1*, Yanyun Wang2*, Qingyang Tang1 and Ziwei Liu1

¹ School of Journalism and Communication, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China, ² Institute of Communications Research, College of Media, University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, Champaign, IL, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elias Aboujaoude, Stanford University, United States

Reviewed by:

Estêvão Bissoli Saleme, Federal University of Espirito Santo, Brazil Camino Fidalgo, University of Zaragoza, Campus de Teruel, Spain

*Correspondence:

Qian Liu qianliu@bnu.edu.cn Yanyun Wang wang518@illinois.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human-Media Interaction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 17 June 2020 Accepted: 03 September 2020 Published: 25 September 2020

Citation:

Liu Q, Wang Y, Tang Q and Liu Z (2020) Do You Feel the Same as I Do? Differences in Virtual Reality Technology Experience and Acceptance Between Elderly Adults and College Students. Front. Psychol. 11:573673. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.573673 Virtual reality (VR) has been widely applied in medical health areas and the entertainment and tourism industries, in which elderly people are a primary target. However, most studies on VR have focused on how people respond to this new technology and its effects on younger generations. Our study explored the differences in VR experience and acceptance between elderly adults and college students. A mixed method approach including both experiments and in-depth interviews was applied in this study. Our results show that elderly adults reported a higher level of telepresence and stronger emotional responses than young adults in VR viewing regardless of the VR device. The ways in which elderly people processed and evaluated VR content and devices were different from those of young people. Elderly people reported more positive attitudes toward the video they watched than young people, but this did not necessarily lead to more positive attitudes toward the viewing experience.

Keywords: virtual reality, technology acceptance, media experience, age differences, elderly, college students

INTRODUCTION

Virtual reality (VR) technology has been applied in various fields, such as news (La Peña et al., 2010), brand marketing and advertising (Coyle and Thorson, 2001; Klein, 2003; Hopkins et al., 2004; Fiore et al., 2005), tourism promotion (Guttentag, 2010; Huang et al., 2013), games and entertainment (Faiola et al., 2013), education (Roussou, 2004) and medical health (Bush, 2008; Garrett et al., 2014; Amin et al., 2017; Hsieh and Lee, 2018). In recent years, VR has become a powerful and popular tool for creating immersive experiences for brand marketing and advertising (Shen et al., 2019). VR technology has emerged in commercial activities, such as information dissemination, advertising and sales (Barnes, 2016). According to a business news report, 75% of the world's most valuable brands (such as Apple, Google, Coca-Cola, and Microsoft) have created VR projects to attract consumers (Korolov, 2015). VR technology also provides a variety of applications in tourism policy planning, tourism marketing, tourism attractions, entertainment and heritage conservation (Guttentag, 2010). VR has the potential to provide an immersive emotional experience in travel, including in urban and architectural landscapes, specific destinations, museum items, etc. (Barnes, 2016). Marriott Hotels uses VR to promote Hawaii honeymoon experiences, in which visitors

can walk around the virtual environment, view the scenery, and enjoy the sensory experience of fog and warm air (Huang et al., 2013). Previous research on the effectiveness of VR technology has achieved significant and promising results. Immersive VR goggles generate more telepresence than a traditional 2D broadcasting device (Shen et al., 2019), and the influence of telepresence in enhancing consumers' beliefs and attitudes toward brands, products and advertisements has been experimentally confirmed (Coyle and Thorson, 2001; Klein, 2003; Hopkins et al., 2004; Fiore et al., 2005). Nevertheless, most of these studies have focused on how people respond to this new technology and its effects on younger generations, but we do not know whether these effects exist in all age groups (Liu et al., 2020).

VR technology has been shown to be an effective health treatment approach and has achieved remarkable results in distraction from acute pain, the treatment of mental disorders and medical training (Amin et al., 2017). Herrero et al. (2014) asked patients with fibromyalgia to use VR goggles to view pictures with language guidance and found that the subjects reported significantly increased self-efficacy, increased positive emotions, decreased negative emotions and decreased pain caused by the disease. The sense of telepresence generated by VR can trigger different emotions, which is related to the emotional information provided by the application scenarios and specific virtual scenes. Felnhofer et al. (2015) created five VR park scenes with different emotional properties and successfully induced the corresponding emotions in participants. VR was found to be an effective tool for inducing emotions and has been applied to treat mental diseases. Stupar-Rutenfrans et al. (2017) significantly reduced the level of individuals' public speaking anxiety with virtual reality exposure therapy, and the effect was better for participants with higher initial anxiety levels. In addition to exposure therapy, mindfulness training has also been shown to be a therapeutic method combined with VR, and the combination has reduced negative emotions such as depression and anxiety, especially for groups with emotional problems (Flores et al., 2018). Evans et al. (2020) confirmed the better acceptability and effectiveness of personalized virtual reality experience therapy than other forms of therapy in promoting healthy emotions, and the degree of positive emotional improvement was related with personal characteristics and the initial emotional status. In addition, VR technology can also provide virtual anatomy and virtual operating tables to improve traditional medical teaching methods and medical nursing training by allowing trainees to interact with VR and reduce technical operating mistakes caused by negligence (Hsieh and Lee, 2018).

Moreover, researchers have conducted trials by applying VR technology to improve elderly adults' mental and physical well-being. To help elderly patients with impaired cognitive function problems, researchers designed a special VR therapy program for elderly patients to perform daily routines, and the program achieved allowed elderly patients to achieve significant improvements (Gamito et al., 2019). Ten veterans of the Vietnam War diagnosed with fourth-stage posttraumatic stress disorder received 10 VR therapy treatments (90 min each time), and in their 6-month follow-up assessments, their

symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder were significantly reduced (Rothbaum et al., 2001). Levy et al. (2016) designed a virtual reality game to treat the phobia of falling among elderly people. The results showed that this intervention had a significant effect on reducing their anxiety about falls.

In conclusion, VR has been studied in different areas with specific age groups. Since VR is becoming more prevalent as a greater variety of content is available to audiences and as the cost of devices is decreasing, VR has become widely applied in many fields including medical health areas and the entertainment and tourism industries, where elderly people can be a primary target, there is a need to study VR as a daily use digital media device similar to smartphones and computers. Huygelier et al. (2019) found that elderly participants' initial attitudes toward VR were neutral before experience and turned to be positive after the first-time exposure. After using VR for 15 min twice a week for 6 weeks, those elderly participants showed high acceptance of VR and reported positive perceptions toward adopting VR (Syed-Abdul et al., 2019). A recent review study on applying immersive VR technology to the elderly proposed an immersive experience model of 20 application methods and suggested that such applications could be expanded to various fields like entertainment, education, and media in the elderly welfare centers (Lee and Park, 2020).

It was not surprising to find age group differences in acceptance and experience with new technologies. An intrasubject design study revealed significant age-related differences (seniors above 60 years old vs. adults up to 40 years old) across head-mounted display vs. desktop platforms in both assessed performance and user experience after a virtual supermarket shopping task (Plechatá et al., 2019). In terms of emotion effects, an experimental study revealed differences in the processing of positive and negative emotions between age groups (seniors above 60 years old vs. college students) after watching a 360-degree video by a VR headset or an iPhone (Liu et al., 2020). However, studies that directly compare the two age groups (young people vs. elderly people) using the same VR stimuli and that explore whether they process the experience differently were still very few and lack of particulars.

The current study aims to explore the experience and acceptance differences between elderly adults and college students from the following aspects:

To evaluate the experience and acceptance difference levels in terms of perceived telepresence, video preference, viewing experience and purchase intention between the two age groups;

To test the mechanism of how telepresence, video preferences and viewing experiences work in different age groups;

To further explore the details and reasons behind those differences by qualitative in-depth interviews.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Materials

The study was conducted among two age groups (i.e., elderly adults aged 60 and above and college students) during 1 week of April 2019. The two experimental groups were subjected to the same study design, procedures and measurements. A prepost treatment between-subjects design was applied in our study. The participants in the elderly group and the college student group were randomly assigned to either the VR condition (Pico 4K G2) or the smartphone condition (iPhone 8) to watch the same video, named VR China, which was an 8-min scenery documentary provided by National Geographic (China). The study received university IRB approval.

Participants

The elderly participants in the study were recruited from a community service center in Beijing, China. The research notice was sent out to all the residents of the community through WeChat. Eventually, 58 elderly adults aged 60 and above signed up, showed up and completed all the procedures in our study. Their ages ranged from 60 to 91 years old (M = 68.84, SD = 7.095). There were 36 female and 22 male participants.

To recruit the young participants (i.e., college students), a group of university staff and students helped distribute the research notice to university students through WeChat. Sixty student participants, including 30 females and 30 males, completed the study. Among them, the youngest was 18 years old, and the eldest was 25 years old (M = 20.38, SD = 2.164).

Procedure

In this study, it took approximately 1 h to complete the 5-step experiment with the assistance of research assistants. Step 1: An informed consent form was prepared for each participant to read and sign before the experiment. Step 2: Each participant completed a pretest questionnaire containing several questions related to his or her previous VR experience, preferences, and attitudes toward VR. Step 3: Each participant watched an approximately 8-min stimulus video in Chinese voice-over with Chinese subtitles using a smartphone or wearing a VR headset. Step 4: The participants were asked to complete the postquestionnaire. Step 5: The research assistant conducted a semistructured interview with each participant for approximately 30 min. Part 1 of the study (for the elderly group) was conducted in the community service center rather than in the lab due to the consideration of the possible health and safety issues of the elderly participants during the transportation and experimental period. For the elderly participants who had difficulty reading, the research assistants read aloud and explained the information on the consent form and the pre- and postsurveys. Part 2 (for the college student group) was conducted with the college students in a lab at a university in Beijing.

An approximately 7-dollar cash coupon was given as a reward to each participant who completed the study. In addition, we asked those who were assigned to the non-VR condition whether they wanted to experience the VR viewing after the experiment.

Dependent Measures Perceived Telepresence

Telepresence was defined as a psychological state of presence brought by media content such as movies or TV dramas (Kim and Biocca, 1997; Suh and Lee, 2005), which was enhanced by the immersive VR technology (Biocca, 1997; Rupp et al., 2016; Van Damme et al., 2019). Participants' perceived telepresence while watching the video stimuli was measured on a 7-point scale adopted from Kim and Biocca (1997), with 1 being "strongly disagree" and 7 being "strongly agree." Participants were asked to what degree they agreed on the eight statements like "During the viewing experience, I felt I was in the world the television created." The average score was calculated as the overall telepresence score for each subject (some items were reverse coded).

Video Preference

Participants' preferences regarding the video were also measured in the questionnaire by asking to what extent they liked the video in general, with 1 being "dislike a lot" and 7 being "like a lot."

Viewing Experience

Participants' attitudes toward the viewing experience were measured by asking to what extent they liked the way they viewed the video, with 1 being "dislike a lot" and 7 being "like a lot."

Both video preference and viewing experience were measured by a single-item question as the two constructs are easily and uniformly understood (Bergkvist and Rossiter, 2007). Besides, a single-item measure can avoid the bias of the common methods (Williams et al., 1989).

Purchase Intention (PI)

Whitlark et al. (1993) defined purchase intention as a purchase probability associated with an intention category at the percentage of individuals that would buy a product. Similar to a measure used in Kergoat et al. (2017), purchase intention was measured on a 5-point Likert scale two times (Bearden et al., 1984), i.e., once before and once after people watched the video, by asking the participants to what extent they would like to purchase a VR headset, with 1 being "would like very much" and 5 being "would not like very much."

Qualitative Data

The data from semistructured interviews were also recorded for further analysis.

RESULTS

Quantitative Results

Previous studies have found that males and females differ in the ways they experience VR and in the levels of perceived telepresence. To avoid potential gender differences that would bias the results, a chi-square test was conducted to check whether male and female participants were randomly assigned to the VR and smartphone before performing the main analyses. For the elderly individuals, there was no significant difference in the gender distribution between the two conditions [χ^2 (1, 58) = 2.78, p = 0.096]. For the college students, there was also no significant difference in the gender distribution between the two conditions [χ^2 (1, 60) = 2.40, p > 0.5]. Therefore, gender differences should not have affected the results of our study. Besides, we conducted Levene's test to check the homogeneity of variance. The results showed that the Levene Statistics of perceived telepresence [Levene(1,116) = 0.202, p > 0.05], video preference [Levene(1,116) = 2.487, p > 0.05], and viewing experience [Levene(1,116) = 1.646, p > 0.05] in our study were all non-significant. Therefore, equal variances can be assumed for the following ANOVA analyses.

Perceived Telepresence

To explore the differences in the perceived telepresence in the two age groups (college students vs. elderly adults), a twoway ANOVA was conducted using the telepresence level as the dependent variable and age group (undergraduate students vs. elderly adults) and device (VR vs. smartphone) as the independent variables (see Figure 1). The results showed significant main effects of both the age [F(1,116) = 7.80], p < 0.01] and device [F(1,116) = 7.22, p < 0.01] on perceived telepresence. Regardless of age, viewing the video in an immersive VR environment elicited a higher level of perceived telepresence (M = 4.5, SD = 0.66) than viewing the video on a smartphone (M = 4.14, SD = 0.77). The elderly participants in both the smartphone group and the VR group reported a higher level of perceived telepresence (Msmartphone = 4.38, SD = 0.93; M_{VR} = 4.61, SD = 0.68) than the two groups of undergraduate students (Msmartphone = 3.90, SD = 0.48; $M_{VR} = 4.37$, SD = 0.63).

Video Preference

Then, a two-way ANOVA test was conducted to explore the difference in video preferences among the age groups and

device groups. The results suggested that there were two main effects. First, the VR groups ($M_{VR} = 6.42$, SD = 0.809) showed more positive attitudes toward the video than the smartphone groups (Msmartphone = 5.88, SD = 1.171) regardless of age [F(1,114) = 6.831, p < 0.01)]. Second, the elderly groups (Melder = 6.4, SD = 0.897) reported more positive attitudes toward the video than the student groups (Mstudent = 5.92, SD = 1.109) regardless of the device they used (see **Figure 2**).

Viewing Experience

To investigate whether there were differences among the age groups and device groups, a two-way ANOVA was conducted. The results suggested that there was no significant difference among all groups. The participants in the different age groups showed equal preferences for the full immersive experience using a VR device and the non-immersive 360-degree video using a smartphone.

Mediation Effects of Age Group

To test the mechanism of how telepresence, video preferences and experience preferences work in different age groups, mediation models were tested. First, we tested the mediating role of watching experiences created by different devices in the relationship between perceived telepresence and preference for the video in the young student groups (see **Figure 3A**). Baron and Kenny's (1986) mediation analysis was adopted to test the model. Three simple regression analyses were conducted. First, the video preference was regressed on perceived telepresence. The results showed that telepresence had a significant impact on





attitudes toward the video ($\beta = 0.32$, t = 2.574, p < 0.05); thus, the first step was supported. Then, viewing experience was regressed on telepresence. We found that telepresence had a significant positive impact on viewing experience ($\beta = 0.399$, t = 3.311, p < 0.005). Finally, attitudes toward the video were regressed on both viewing experience and telepresence. The results showed that the impact of viewing experience on video preference was significant ($\beta = 0.589$, t = 5.237, p < 0.001). The influence of telepresence on attitudes toward the VR video, however, was greatly reduced to a non-significant effect ($\beta = 0.085$, t = 0.760, p = 0.451). Overall, these results demonstrated that in the college student groups, the influence of perceived telepresence on attitudes toward the video was mediated by participants' viewing experience created by different devices.

In the elderly groups (see **Figure 3B**), the same procedures were used to test the same mediation model. The result of the first regression showed that the telepresence had a significant impact on attitudes toward the video ($\beta = 0.397$, t = 3.241, p < 0.01), so step 1 was supported. For the second regression, we found that telepresence had no significant impact on viewing experience ($\beta = 0.219$, t = 1.678, p = 0.099); therefore, step two was not supported. For the last regression, attitudes toward the video were regressed on both viewing experience ($\beta = 0.28$, t = 2.315, p < 0.05) and telepresence ($\beta = 0.336$, t = 2.77, p < 0.01). Both analyses suggested a significant positive impact on video preference. Because step 2 failed to be verified, the mediation effect of viewing experience between telepresence and attitude toward the video was not observed among elderly people.

In conclusion, for young students, perceived telepresence, video preferences and attitudes toward the viewing experience

were all positively related. Moreover, their attitudes toward the viewing experience were affected by their perceived telepresence, which in turn influenced their attitudes toward the video. However, for the elderly participants, perceived telepresence did not necessarily lead to more positive attitudes toward the viewing experience, although telepresence and viewing experience were both positively related to video preference.

Purchase Intention

For the analysis related to purchasing intention toward VR devices, we only included the participants who were in VR viewing conditions. First, an independent T-test was conducted on pre-purchase intention between the elderly group and the student group. Interestingly, the results (see **Table 1**) demonstrated that elderly people (M = 3.63, SD = 1.088) reported a higher purchase intention toward the VR device than young students [M = 2.87, SD = 0.346, t(58) = 3.528, p < 0.05], even though only 13% of elderly people in the experiment had tried VR before. Then, another independent T-test was conducted on purchase intention after they watched the video. The result suggested an inverse trend: young people (M = 2.90, SD = 0.995) indicated higher purchase intention than elderly people [M = 2.10, SD = 0.712, t(58) = 3.528, p < 0.01] after viewing the video using the VR device.

Qualitative Results

To further understand the differences in VR experience and acceptance between the two age groups, we analyzed the in-depth interviews. Two different aspects were examined: subjective experience and VR device evaluation.



Subjective Experience

Regarding the subjective experiences of those who had VR viewing experiences, we found both similarities and differences between the two age groups. Generally, we extracted five themes, including (a) telepresence, (b) emotional appeal, (c) surrealness, (d) strangeness and (e) physical discomfort, from the interview materials of the elderly group. We extracted four themes from the interview materials of the student group, including

Variable	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	t	df	p
Purchase intention (pre)	Elderly adults	30	3.63	1.088	2.72	58	0.015*
	College students	30	2.87	0.346	-	_	-
Purchase intention (post)	Elderly adults	30	2.1	0.712	3.53	58	0.001***
	College students	30	2.9	0.995	_	_	_

(a) telepresence, (b) privacy, (c) emotional appeal, and (d) physical discomfort.

Telepresence

Both groups mentioned that VR gave them the sense of being there, in other words, telepresence. Meanwhile, their ways of describing the experience were quite different. The elderly group talked about their experiences based on the video content extensively and described their feelings very specifically, vividly and emotionally. The following are some quotes from the elderly participants: "At that moment, I feel like I am flying up, I am running, I am floating up. You just feel like you are there"; "My heart and my mind are totally in the video, and my attention is absolutely concentrated on it"; and "It feels like that water is pouring on you. The water is so close." The student group was more likely to use rational and abstract words to describe the experience such as "There is a sense of reality," "There is a sense of presence," and "There is more sense of substitution." The overall descriptions of telepresence by the student group seemed to be not as strong as those of the elderly group, which was consistent with what we found in the quantitative analyses that revealed that the elderly group reported a higher level of telepresence in the VR experience than the student group.

Emotional appeal

Most of the elderly participants reported that viewing VR videos stimulated their positive emotions. For example, they stated "I feel very pleasant after watching it"; "It feels so good to look at the kind of openness, and the kind of spectacular"; and "My ears are listening and my eyes are watching, so I forgot about the unhappiness in my heart." There were only a few people in the student group who mentioned strong pleasure, and most students reported that during the viewing experience, their moods were quite good; however, this was not only because of the VR device but also because of the uplifting content of the video. Only two students mentioned that VR viewing greatly reduced their study-related pressure: "I felt very relaxed after I watched the VR video. I had all my confidence back at once. My emotions were totally changed." The immersive environment created by VR technology could make people feel relaxed, forget their troubles in reality and escape for a while. Regarding this point, the elderly group and the student group had similar responses. However, a small number of elderly participants reported having a sense of "fear" and "intensity," which rarely appeared in the student group. In general, the elderly group reported stronger emotional appeal effects than the student group for both positive and negative emotions.

Physical discomfort

Both the elderly group and the student group reported physical discomfort, and more people in the elderly group reported physical discomfort than in the student group. In addition to experiencing vertigo, the student group reported being uncomfortable with the shortcomings of the VR equipment and content: "The picture is not stable. Sometimes the picture will tremble. When it trembles, it makes me feel a little dizzy" and "I feel that the experience of this type of wearing is not so good; I feel the helmet always squeezing my eyes." In addition, the elderly group reported more serious uncomfortable feelings, probably related to their health conditions. Two elderly participants dropped out of VR viewing because of vertigo: "I feel that my heart is particularly uncomfortable. The lens is pulling too fast, and the scene is rushing toward me. I feel that I can't stand with it" and "I just think that I can't accept it (stun), I am a little dizzy, a little uncomfortable."

Privacy

Responses concerning a sense of privacy were observed only in the student group. Many student group respondents mentioned that wearing fully enclosed headgear gave them a strong sense of privacy, and they liked this exclusive personal experience; for example, students described the experience as follows: "It gives you a pure feeling of quietness and enjoyment. VR is really more shocking. You feel quiet when you are alone. It feels like this is your own time" and "When I'm in VR, I feel that I'm left alone. It's my own world, and that feeling is really good."

Surrealness and strangeness

Surrealness and strangeness were mentioned only in the elderly group. Respondents in the elderly group showed a clear sense of distinction between virtual reality and true reality in interviews. VR produced a sense of deception and unreal feelings to the elderly interviewees, and the special use of VR produced feelings of strangeness and uneasiness in some elderly interviewees. "This kind of virtual technology actually adds a barrier to emotions, which is not so intuitive and can't be expressed intuitively"; "It's not real, it's fantasy."; "I don't think wearing goggles is human"; "VR is something that is not practical"; and "I don't think it can be used as normal."

VR Device Evaluation

In terms of device evaluation, we extracted five key themes to compare the similarities and differences regarding attitudes and opinions toward VR among the two age groups: (a) virtual telepresence, (b) technology insufficiency, (c) technology acceptance, (d) applications and (e) addiction.

Virtual telepresence

Most student group respondents thought that virtual telepresence could replace physical telepresence. VR technology could provide many advantages, such as saving time and money for traveling, avoiding the congestion of scenic spots, reducing the environmental pressure on scenic spots, surpassing human limitations, and recording and protecting human culture. The student responses included the following: "If I don't have time to travel, then I can experience it with VR"; "VR could solve the problem of traveling crowds"; and "It helps to protect cultural relics, such as the exquisite and precious murals. The risk will arise, and it is difficult to protect if there are too many visiting people." As mentioned above, the elderly group showed a clear distinction between virtual reality and true reality. Although some elderly participants also mentioned the advantages provided by VR technology, they did not think the virtual telepresence could replace the real experience.

Technology insufficiency

Students remarked on a series of technological insufficiencies regarding the device, such as insufficient clarity, a lack of variety in content especially made for VR devices, the unportable size of the equipment, and operational difficulty. In addition, since VR device applications are not yet widespread, some students think that it is embarrassing to use VR devices in public. Some students also mentioned some inherent flaws in VR technology, especially in terms of the interactive design. Regarding content, the excessive autonomy of VR seems to weaken the expression of the work. In addition, as a new technology, there are still some ethical issues with the use of VR and content production. For example, participants noted the following: "The device oppresses you with an oppressive feeling, which always reminds you that you are using a complicated device"; "There is a black hole at the bottom of the video, which makes you actually feel that this is not in real life"; "I feel that playing games (with VR) in public is quite awkward because you have to move around and it looks a bit funny"; "VR's panoramic display sometimes has a negative effect on movies. Movies need to

be suspended on a screen or have some lens changes, but VR can look at it from 360 degrees, which weakens the effects of expression"; and "People like me, if you don't guide us, it is hard to mobilize our enthusiasm. I will only look in one direction. The extra 270 degrees behind me is meaningless." Unlike the students, who had many comments on and critiques of VR, elderly participants talked more about their feelings and experiences.

Technology acceptance

Although many student group respondents noted the shortcomings of VR equipment, they all showed positive attitudes toward VR and believed that the deficiencies would be overcome eventually. They embraced VR technology actively and had confidence in the development and prospects of VR: "The development at the beginning may be limited to certain aspects, but I think there are a lot of things that are actively developing, and it (VR) should have a bright future"; "(Even though) I have to pay some price for VR equipment, it will make you and your descendants more proactive to embrace new technology"; and "Sometimes I doubt whether I really exist, but I am very convinced of science and technology. Even if research results are not necessarily correct, I think the new technology will bring changes to our lives, so I am willing to believe it. I think it is representative of the future."

In contrast, many elderly group respondents thought that VR devices were too complicated to operate. The interactive function that required the body to be rotated autonomously was too complicated for some respondents. In addition, they preferred familiar media such as watching TV to maintain their emotional well-being: "Older people generally like things to be easy to operate. The procedure is complicated, and now my head is not clear. I can't remember how to use it at all"; "I don't have the ability to think through or manipulate it, so I still hope to have a set recommended viewing angle"; and "I can't control it...I am afraid of operating it. I don't usually operate (digital products)."

Applications

After the experiment, the elderly group respondents often voiced that they thought VR applications would be limited to entertainment and that VR devices would play content that they are used to watching (such as news shows and TV series); thus, they had no demand for other applications. These perceptions could help explain why the VR device experience was positive overall, but the elderly group did not accept VR: "The main reason is the demand; this is not needed at present"; "I am not very interested in this. We are too old, so it is useless to buy this thing"; and "I am having a satisfied life now, I don't need this."

Unlike the elderly group, the student participants proposed many imaginative insights into the application of VR technology. The multidomain applications mentioned included simulation driving, aerospace, virtual reality learning, business applications, and social science experiments. For example, students mentioned the following: "It can be distributed to poor areas, so that people in the mountains can see the world outside more. TV may still have some sense of distance" and "You can make a virtual space on Taobao and try on clothes like in a physical store."

Addiction

Some students mentioned concerns about addiction based on their personal experience. Procrastination is a common problem among college students. Many students worried that privately owned VR equipment could reduce traveling outside and make people tend to engage in more entertainment at home: "I feel that if I really have this. . . with technology this advanced, I feel that I am not going to go out to play." In the elderly group, there were such concerns as well: "Because it may make me want to continue to look at it, and then I can't do what I want to do today. I may be addicted and like this thing too much." Some elderly participants expressed that they were worried that their grandchildren would become addicted to VR technology.

DISCUSSION

VR is becoming more prevalent as a greater variety of content is available to audiences and the cost of devices is decreasing. A large amount of research has started to examine the effects of VR in different fields. However, most of these studies have only used student samples, focusing on how young people respond to this new technology and its effects on younger generations (Liu et al., 2020). It is undeniable that young people are a key audience and major users of VR, but since VR has also been widely applied in the medical health area and tourism industry in recent years (Syed-Abdul et al., 2019; Lee and Park, 2020), elderly people could become the main target. However, there are lack of studies on the experience and acceptance of VR among elderly people and how they perceive VR differently from young people. Therefore, our study provides new insights into the usage and effects of VR among the elderly.

First, our study directly compared the difference in telepresence and attitudes between young people and elderly people after having the same VR experience. The comparison results showed that elderly people reported a higher level of perceived telepresence than college students in general. This result is consistent with the qualitative data showing that the elderly people described the feeling of telepresence more frequently and used more emotional descriptions than young students in the interview. This could suggest that elderly people may be more likely to experience telepresence in VR or 360-degree videos and have more emotional responses than college students. A previous study found that the perceived level of telepresence is positively related to the attitude toward the content (Spielmann and Mantonakis, 2018). We found a consistent result that elderly people also showed more favorable attitudes toward the video than young people regardless of the device. However, we did not find any significant difference among groups regarding their attitudes toward the viewing experience. Therefore, although elderly people reported more positive attitudes toward the video than young people, this did not necessarily lead to more positive attitudes toward the viewing experience.

Second, our research adds to the body of literature on the mechanism of how telepresence, attitudes toward content and

attitudes toward technology interact in different age groups. The same mediation models were tested between young students and elderly people. We found that there is a full mediation effect of viewing experience between the perceived level of telepresence and attitude toward the content in college student groups. Specifically, for young students, a higher level of telepresence can lead to a more favorable attitude toward content and in turn lead to more positive attitudes toward the content. However, this model did not work for older people. Although the level of telepresence and attitudes toward the viewing experience were both positively related to the video preference, a higher level of telepresence was not significantly related to their preferences for the viewing experience. This finding suggested that for elderly people, there should be other factors, such as perceived difficulty of using the new technology, physical discomfort and emotional responses elicited by VR, that could influence their preferences for the viewing experience in VR. For example, as shown in the qualitative analysis, some elderly people reported that they like devices that are easy to operate. VR headsets may be too complicated for elderly people for daily use. They also mentioned that they may not be able to process so much information at the same time, so some of them said they preferred only one viewpoint instead of exploring 360-degree environments by themselves. Furthermore, the feeling of "being transferred somewhere" made some elderly people feel "fearful" during watching, which could also have an impact on their attitudes toward the VR viewing experience. Physical discomfort was mentioned in both the student group and the elderly group, but dizziness was reported more frequently in the older adult group due to their health conditions. The feeling of discomfort may be one of the most important reasons why a higher level of telepresence did not lead to more positive viewing experience in the elderly group.

Finally, our study also provides some practical implications for the VR industry. Our results showed that elderly people reported a higher purchase intention toward VR devices than younger people before they watched the video; however, this trend disappeared and even was reversed after they experienced VR. Young people were more likely to want to purchase VR devices than older adults. Although elderly people reported more positive attitudes toward the video, this did not make them feel more motivated to buy the device. This finding demonstrated that elderly people tended to separate their perceptions of content and their interests in devices. As illustrated in our qualitative results, elderly people cared more about content quality, and they believed that VR devices were not necessary in their lives. The students were more likely to associate with and accept the content on the VR device.

There were several limitations to this study. First, we collected the experimental data of the elderly group in a community center instead of in a lab, which may have affected the results. Second, we only tested one video in our study and the sample size was fairly small. These problems could be addressed in future replications of our study by including more samples and more videos with different topics in the stimuli materials. Third, we did not measure the level of discomfort in the experiment as a covariate, which is an important factor related to viewing experience. Forth, our comparison of the young and elderly samples might have some confounders such as differences in income, educational background, and previous VR experience. Participants in our young group are all college students, but the elderly individuals in our study may have more diverse educational backgrounds. Additionally, our data showed that more young adults (56%) had VR related experience than elderly people (13%) in our study. Though we randomly assigned people in our study conditions, it might still affect the result of prepurchase intention. Future studies should have more rigorous procedures for recruiting samples and include individuals' past VR experience into consideration. Finally, gender effect was ruled out in our study design, but it can be an important factor to be explored in future studies.

CONCLUSION

In the presented study, we used a mixed method approach, including both experiment and in-depth interviews, to explore the differences in experience and acceptance among the elderly and young groups. Several differences were found. First, our results showed that elderly adults reported a higher level of telepresence, more positive attitudes toward the video, and stronger emotional responses than young adults in VR viewing, but this did not necessarily lead to more positive attitudes toward the viewing experience. Second, how elderly people processed and evaluate VR content and devices were different from those of young people. Student participants' attitudes toward the viewing experience were affected by their perceived telepresence, which in turn influenced their attitudes toward the video. However, for the elderly participants, perceived telepresence did not necessarily lead to more positive attitudes toward the viewing experience, although telepresence and viewing experience were both positively related to video preference. Third, elderly people reported a higher purchase intention toward VR devices than younger people before they watched the video and this trend was reversed after they experienced VR. Moreover, how the two age groups evaluated the viewing experience and VR device differently were discussed in the qualitative reports.

Our study directly compared the difference in telepresence and attitudes between young people and elderly people after having the same VR experience in particular. The results revealed important implications. Although elderly people reported to have higher level of telepresence and more positive attitudes toward the video than young people, this did not mean they preferred VR viewing. In fact, through in-depth interviews, elderly people reported their concerns and discomfort, and they believed VR was not necessary in their lives. It took time for the whole society, especially for the elderly, to accept a new kind of technology. However, the results and problems revealed in our study might suggest that VR is more suitable for being applied in professional areas and for purposeful use such as medical treatment and e-learning. For the elderly population, specialized VR products with easier operation and considerate content should be considered.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Review Committee, School of Journalism and Communication, Beijing Normal University. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QL designed the study, wrote the draft, and contributed the most to the study. YW participated in the study design, conducted the quantitative data analysis, and reported the quantitative results. QT and ZL participated in the data collection and

REFERENCES

- Amin, A., Tong, X., Gromala, D., and Shaw, C. (2017). "Cardboard mobile virtual reality as an approach for pain distraction in clinical settings," in *Proceedings of* the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems – CHI EA 17 Denver, CO, 2345–2351. doi: 10.1145/3027063.305 3234
- Barnes, S. (2016). Understanding virtual reality in marketing: nature, implications and potential. SSRN Electron. J. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2909100
- Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J. Pers. Social Psychol. 51, 1173–1182. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514. 51.6.1173
- Bearden, W. O., Lichtenstein, D. R., and Teel, J. E. (1984). Comparison price, coupon, and brand effects on consumer reactions to retail newspaper advertisements. J. Retailing 60, 11–34.
- Bergkvist, L., and Rossiter, J. R. (2007). The predictive validity of multiple-item versus single-item measures of the same constructs. J. Mark. Res. 44, 175–184. doi: 10.1509/jmkr.44.2.175
- Biocca, F. (1997). The cyborgs dilemma: progressive embodiment in virtual environments. *J. Comput. Mediat. Commun.* 3. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.1997. tb00070.x
- Bush, J. (2008). Viability of virtual reality exposure therapy as a treatment alternative. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 24, 1032–1040. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2007. 03.006
- Coyle, J. R., and Thorson, E. (2001). The effects of progressive levels of interactivity and vividness in web marketing sites. J. Advert. 30, 65–77. doi: 10.1080/ 00913367.2001.10673646
- Evans, C. P., Chiarovano, E., and Macdougall, H. G. (2020). The potential benefits of personalized 360 video experiences on affect: a proof-of-concept study. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 23, 134–138. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2019.0241
- Faiola, A., Newlon, C. M., Pfaff, M. S., and Smyslova, O. (2013). Correlating the effects of flow and telepresence in virtual worlds: enhancing our understanding of user behavior in game-based learning. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29, 1113–1121. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.10.003
- Felnhofer, A., Kothgassner, O. D., Schmidt, M., Heinzle, A., Beutl, L., Hlavacs, H., et al. (2015). Is virtual reality emotionally arousing? Investigating five emotion inducing virtual park scenarios. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* 82, 48–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2015.05.004

qualitative data analysis. All authors worked on the manuscript and critically revised it.

FUNDING

The current study was supported by the "Beijing Social Science Fund" (Grant No. 19XCC015).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank No. 43 Youse Community Service Centre for their help and National Geography China for providing the video for the study material.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2020.573673/full#supplementary-material

- Fiore, A. M., Kim, J., and Lee, H. (2005). Effect of image interactivity technology on consumer responses toward the online retailer. J. Interact. Mark. 19, 38–53. doi: 10.1002/dir.20042
- Flores, A., Linehan, M. M., Todd, S. R., and Hoffman, H. G. (2018). The use of virtual reality to facilitate mindfulness skills training in dialectical behavioral therapy for spinal cord injury: a case study. *Front. Psychol.* 9:531. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.00531
- Gamito, P., Oliveira, J., Morais, D., Coelho, C., Santos, N., Alves, C., et al. (2019). Cognitive stimulation of elderly individuals with instrumental virtual realitybased activities of daily life: pre-post treatment study. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 22, 69–75. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0679
- Garrett, B., Taverner, T., Masinde, W., Gromala, D., Shaw, C., and Negraeff, M. (2014). A rapid evidence assessment of immersive virtual reality as an adjunct therapy in acute pain management in clinical practice. *Clin. J. Pain* 30, 1089–1098. doi: 10.1097/ajp.00000000000064
- Guttentag, D. (2010). Virtual reality: applications and implications for tourism. *Tour. Manag.* 31, 637–651. doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2009.0 7.003
- Herrero, R., García-Palacios, A., Castilla, D., Molinari, G., and Botella, C. (2014). Virtual reality for the induction of positive emotions in the treatment of fibromyalgia: a pilot study over acceptability, satisfaction, and the effect of virtual reality on mood. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 17, 379–384. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0052
- Hopkins, C. D., Raymond, M. A., and Mitra, A. (2004). Consumer responses to perceived telepresence in the online advertising environment: the moderating role of involvement. *Mark. Theory* 4, 137–162. doi: 10.1177/147059310404 4090
- Hsieh, M. C., and Lee, J. J. (2018). Preliminary study of VR and AR applications in medical and healthcare education. J. Nurs. Health Stud. 3. doi: 10.21767/2574-2825.100030
- Huang, Y., Backman, S. J., Backman, K. F., and Moore, D. (2013). Exploring user acceptance of 3d virtual worlds in travel and tourism marketing. *Tour. Manag.* 36, 490–501. doi: 10.1016/j.tourman.2012.09.009
- Huygelier, H., Schraepen, B., Van Ee, R., Abeele, V. V., and Gillebert, C. R. (2019). Acceptance of immersive head-mounted virtual reality in older adults. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41200-6
- Kergoat, M., Meyer, T., and Merot, A. (2017). Picture-based persuasion in advertising: the impact of attractive pictures on verbal ad's content. J. Consum. Mark. 34, 624–635. doi: 10.1108/jcm-01-2016-1691

- Kim, T., and Biocca, F. (1997). Telepresence via television: two dimensions of telepresence may have different connections to memory and persuasion. J. Comput. Mediat. Commun. 3:JCMC325. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.1997. tb00073.x
- Klein, L. R. (2003). Creating virtual product experiences: the role of telepresence. *J. Interact. Mark.* 17, 41–55. doi: 10.1002/dir.10046
- Korolov, M. (2015). Adding Dimensions to Retail With AR and VR Technology. Available online at: http://www.hypergridbusiness.com/2015/10/75-of-topbrands-have-vr-projects/ (accessed September 17,2019).
- La Peña, N. D., Weil, P., Llobera, J., Spanlang, B., Friedman, D., Sanchezvives, M. V., et al. (2010). Immersive journalism: immersive virtual reality for the firstperson experience of news. *Presence Teleoperators Virtual Environ*. 19, 291–301. doi: 10.1162/pres_a_00005
- Lee, E. J., and Park, S. J. (2020). Immersive experience model of the elderly welfare centers supporting successful aging. *Front. Psychol.* 11:8. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2020.00008
- Levy, F., Leboucher, P., Rautureau, G., Komano, O., Millet, B., and Jouvent, R. (2016). Fear of falling: efficacy of virtual reality associated with serious games in elderly people. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 12, 877–881. doi: 10.2147/ndt.s97809
- Liu, Q., Wang, Y., Yao, M. Z., Tang, Q., and Yang, Y. (2020). The effects of viewing an uplifting 360-degree video on emotional well-being among elderly adults and college students under immersive virtual reality and smartphone conditions. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 23, 157–164. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2019.0273
- Plechatá, A., Sahula, V., Fayette, D., and Fajnerova, I. (2019). Age-related differences with immersive and non-immersive virtual reality in memory assessment. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1330. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01330
- Rothbaum, B. O., Hodges, L. F., Ready, D. J., Graap, K., and Alarcon, R. D. (2001). Virtual reality exposure therapy for Vietnam veterans with posttraumatic stress disorder. J. Clin. Psychiatry 62, 617–622. doi: 10.4088/jcp.v62n0808
- Roussou, M. (2004). "Examining young learners activity within interactive virtual environments," in *Proceeding of the 2004 Conference on Interaction Design* and Children Building a Community – IDC 04 London. doi: 10.1145/1017833. 1017872
- Rupp, M., Kozachuk, J., Michaelis, J., Odette, K., Smither, J. A., and Mcconnell, D. (2016). The effects of immersiveness and future VR expectations on subjective-experiences during an educational 360° video. *Proc. Hum. Factors Ergon. Soc. Annu. Meet.* 60, 2108–2112. doi: 10.1177/1541931213601477

- Shen, J., Wang, Y., Chen, C., Nelson, M. R., and Yao, M. Z. (2019). Using virtual reality to promote the university brand: when do telepresence and system immersion matter? *J. Mark. Commun.* 26, 362–393. doi: 10.1080/13527266. 2019.1671480
- Spielmann, N., and Mantonakis, A. (2018). In virtuo: how user-driven interactivity in virtual tours leads to attitude change. J. Bus. Res. 88, 255–264. doi: 10.1016/j. jbusres.2018.03.037
- Stupar-Rutenfrans, S., Ketelaarsloes, E. H., and Van Gisbergenmarnix, S. (2017). Beat the fear of public speaking: mobile 360° video virtual reality exposure training in home environment reduces public speaking anxiety. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 20, 624–633. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0174
- Suh, K., and Lee, Y. E. (2005). The effects of virtual reality on consumer learning: an empirical investigation. *MIS Quarterly* 29, 673–697. doi: 10.2307/2514 8705
- Syed-Abdul, S., Malwade, S., Nursetyo, A. A., Sood, M., Bhatia, M., Barsasella, D., et al. (2019). Virtual reality among the elderly: a usefulness and acceptance study from Taiwan. *BMC Geriatr.* 19:223. doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1218-8
- Van Damme, K., All, A., De Marez, L., and Van Leuven, S. (2019). 360° video journalism: experimental study on the effect of immersion on news experience and distant suffering. J. Stud. 20, 2053–2076. doi: 10.1080/1461670X.2018. 1561208
- Whitlark, D., Geurts, M. D., and Swenson, M. J. (1993). New product forecasting with a purchase intention survey. *J. Bus. Forecast.* 12, 18–21.
- Williams, L. J., Cote, J. A., and Buckley, M. R. (1989). Lack of method variance in self-reported affect and perceptions at work: reality or artifact? *J. Appl. Psychol.* 74, 462–468. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.74.3.462

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Liu, Wang, Tang and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Psychometric Properties of the Nine-Item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) in a Lithuanian Sample of Students

Julius Burkauskas^{1*}, Orsolya Király², Zsolt Demetrovics², Aurelija Podlipskyte¹ and Vesta Steibliene¹

¹ Laboratory of Behavioral Medicine, Neuroscience Institute, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Palanga, Lithuania, ² Institute of Psychology, ELTE Eotvos Lorand University, Budapest, Hungary

Objectives: To date, there is no reliable instrument which could be used to assess problematic Internet use (PIU) in Lithuania. The nine-item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) previously validated in multiple countries, could be a potential tool for measuring PIU severity. The main objective of the present study was to explore the psychometric properties of the Lithuanian version of the questionnaire.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Z. Yao, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Ni Fan, The Affiliated Brain Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, China Delin Sun, Duke University, United States

> *Correspondence: Julius Burkauskas julius.burkauskas@lsmuni.lt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 26 May 2020 Accepted: 26 October 2020 Published: 12 November 2020

Citation:

Burkauskas J, Király O, Demetrovics Z, Podlipskyte A and Steibliene V (2020) Psychometric Properties of the Nine-Item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) in a Lithuanian Sample of Students. Front. Psychiatry 11:565769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.565769 **Methods:** A total of 272 students (17% men, mean age 27 ± 9 years) completed the PIUQ-9, the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) and answered questions about the impairment of daily functioning caused by PIU in an online survey.

Results: A confirmatory factor analysis indicated that a bi-factor model with one general factor "general problem" and two-specific factors "obsession" and "neglect + control disorder" fitted the data well. The presence of a strong global factor was supported by the common variance index in the bi-factor model indicating that the "general problem" factor explained 67.7% of common variance. The multiple indicators multiple causes (MIMIC) model showed that psychiatric symptoms ($\beta = 0.25$) had a moderate, while impairment due to PIU ($\beta = 0.41$) had a moderate-to-strong direct effect on the factor "general problem" supporting the construct validity of the scale.

Conclusion: The Lithuanian version of the PIUQ-9 has appropriate psychometric properties to be used in measuring PIU severity in student samples.

Keywords: internet addiction, online addiction, problematic internet use, Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire, screening instrument, psychometric properties, cross-cultural studies

INTRODUCTION

There is a growing global concern about the public health problems and societal costs of problematic Internet use (PIU), which has an estimated prevalence of 1–27% within the general population (1). PIU is increasingly recognized as disproportionately impacting young people and represents an emerging mental health research challenge (2). Excessive social media use, online streaming, gambling, online shopping, email checking and pornography viewing are all examples of behaviors that have the potential to cause significant impairment of everyday functioning. Various factors may contribute to PIU including age, gender, socioeconomic status as

69

well as symptoms of mental health conditions or personality traits leading to even more advanced engagement in problematic online behaviors. Furthermore, there is a huge risk that any of these behaviors could have the tendency to increase during and after the COVID-19 quarantine period (3) and may require professional intervention and support. However, it is crucial to have adequate adapted measurements for PIU before developing appropriate tailored interventions.

National health authorities are now expressing concern over the potential impact of PIU. However, there remains both a lack of agreement on what constitutes PIU and scientific data on its prevalence, clinical parameters, and socio-economic burden (2). In order to start answering these important scientific questions, we need an operational definition and reliable tools to measure PIU severity.

While the National Department of Statistics in Lithuania reports that in 2019 ~98% of people aged 16-24 and 95% of people aged 25-34 had been using the Internet daily, there are only few studies investigating PIU prevalence. However, most of the existing studies in European countries which include Lithuania have focused on problematic online behaviors in children and teenagers (4, 5). In a cross-sectional study of 1806 13-18 years old schoolchildren in Lithuania, 9.1% of the study subjects showed markedly expressed symptoms of internet addiction as measured with the Young Diagnostic Questionnaire (6). This particular study also found that symptoms of Internet addiction were also more prevalent among male than female teenagers. Nevertheless, no studies have investigated PIU in young adults and only two reliable questionnaires were used to assess symptoms of Internet addiction in teenagers (4, 5). Therefore, it is crucial to investigate this particular study group of young adults and identify a questionnaire which could be suitable for a specific assessment. A recent publication by Laconi et al. (7) investigated the psychometric properties of the Nine-Item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) across various different language-based samples of European internet users, highlighting that a brief scale consisting of only nine questions could reliably screen for PIU. The scale has not been used in Lithuania before and its psychometric properties, validated in other cultural backgrounds, show promising results.

Our report attempts to validate a Lithuanian language version of the PIUQ-9 scale. To the best of our knowledge, Lithuania does not a have an adapted measure for PIU severity. Given the brevity of the scale, PIUQ-9 would be useful for researchers, clinicians and educators interested in measuring PIU severity.

METHOD

Procedure

Participants completed an online survey, which provided information about the study (i.e., the study objectives and assurances of anonymity and confidentiality). An online survey was made available from 2019 September until 2019 November using Google Forms. A snowballing technique was used to develop convenience sample targeting students. Firsthand networks of study volunteers and student council assistants were employed by researchers to spread the link. The initial link was shared to Lithuanian University of Health Sciences students using social network services and messenger services such as Facebook or Skype. Researchers encouraged participants to send the link to other students, helping to reach an adequate study sample. However, the engagement rate was not monitored. A formal online consent was provided for each participant to tick before starting the survey. No incentives were given upon completion.

The study received approval from the Bioethics committee and conformed to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. The survey included sociodemographic information, the PIUQ-9 questionnaire, and several subscales of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ).

Measures

Besides collecting basic information on age and gender, we also assessed impairment due to PIU by asking study participants a single question with yes/no answer on whether they thought that internet usage impacted their ability to perform daily activities and/or engage in desired social interactions.

The nine-item version of the Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) was used to assess PIU (8) (Refer to the Lithuanian language version in Appendix A). The PIUQ-9 is a short version of the 18-item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire [PIUQ; (9)]. Originally, both scales were reported to have three subscales: obsession, neglect, and control disorder. Based on the previous study examining the psychometric properties of the PIUQ-9, the short scale has a bi-factor structure including one "general problem" factor and two-specific factors of "obsession" and "neglect + control disorder." The severity of PIU is assessed through a five point Likert scale, ranging from "never" to "always/almost always." The sum score of the questionnaire ranges from nine to 45. A Higher score indicates a higher risk of PIU. The internal consistency of the PIUQ-9 was 0.89 in this particular study sample. As in previous studies (7), all survey questions were translated from English to Lithuanian using the procedure of double back-translation. An experienced psychiatrist (VS) conducted the translation and the back translation was performed by a clinical psychologist (JB). The final consensus was reached by discussing significant differences in the back translation as compared to the original English version.

Psychiatric disorder symptoms were assessed using the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) (10). The PHQ consists of several modules assessing symptoms of several psychiatric disorders, including depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, somatoform disorder and alcohol abuse/dependence. The depression module consisted of nine items questioning depression severity over a 2 weeks period with possible scores ranging from zero ("not at all") to three ("nearly everyday"). The sum score of depression symptomatology ranged from zero to 27. The anxiety module contained seven questions regarding the severity of anxiety symptom levels during a 4 weeks period. Each question was rated on a scale ranging from zero ("not at all") to two ("more than half the days") and resulting in a total score ranging from zero to 14. The somatoform module consisted of 13 items regarding physical problems that bothered individuals over a 4 weeks period. Each item ranged from zero ("not bothered") to two ("bothered a lot") resulting in a total score ranging from zero to 26. The alcohol abuse/dependence module contained five questions with answers "yes" and "no" asking about the presence of problematic behaviors related to alcohol use occurring more than once in the past 6 months. The total score for the module ranged from zero to five. For the statistical modeling, a general score for the questionnaire summing up the four aforementioned modules was used in order to evaluate the global severity of any psychiatric symptomatology. The internal consistency of PHQ in the current sample was 0.91.

Statistical Analysis

The SPSS for Windows, version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, Illinois) and Mplus 8 (11) were employed for statistical procedures. All statistical procedures were based on the Laconi et al. study validating the psychometric properties of the PIUQ-9 (7). Using Student's t-tests we have also compared the PIUQ-9 scores and impairment to engage in daily activities and social life due to excessive internet use between genders. In brief, four alternative factor structures were tested: (i) the three-factor model proposed in the study by Koronczai et al. (8), (ii) a two-factor model where control disorder and neglect factors were merged into one due to the high correlation, (iii) a bi-factor model comprising a dimension of global severity on which each item is loaded, plus three specific factors on which the items belonging to the obsession, neglect and control disorder were loaded and where the correlations between specific factors were fixed at zero; (iii) a bi-factor model representing a global severity dimension plus two specific factors (obsession and neglect + control disorder). The correlations between specific factors were also fixed at zero. The degree of fit of the factor models were measured through confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) with maximum likelihood estimation with robust standard errors (MLR).

The following fit indices were used to evaluate model fit: the ratio of the chi-square to its degrees of freedom (χ^2/df ratio), the comparative fit index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), the goodness of fit index (GFI), the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) and its p close value, and the standardized root mean residual (SRMR). The following values were required to indicate adequate fits: χ^2/df ratio \leq 5 and preferably \leq 2; CFI \geq 0.95; TLI \geq 0.95; GFI \geq 0.9, RMSEA < 0.08, SRMR \leq 0.10 (12).

The explained common variance (ECV) index was used to measure the degree of unidimensionality in the bi-factor model and the percentage of general factor common variance. Omega and omega hierarchical indices were chosen to measure the ability of the PIUQ-9 scores to estimate the combination of factorial constructs, as well as specific target constructs. The index of construct replicability or H index was used for the evaluation of specific factors (≥ 0.70 was considered as high).

CFA with covariates or multiple indicators multiple causes (MIMIC) confirmatory factor analysis was performed in the Lithuanian language sample to test the construct validity of the best fitting structure (i.e., the bi-factor-model with two specific factors) by exploring correlations between the general and specific factors and four probable predictors (i.e., age, gender, psychiatric symptoms severity, and impairment due to PIU).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

This study consisted of 291 students studying at the Lithuanian University of Health Sciences. Nineteen participants (7%) refused to participate in the study, leaving the total study sample of 272 participants (83% women and 17% men, mean age 27 \pm 9 years). Thirty-nine participants (14%) indicated that PIU caused significant impairment in their daily living and/or social activities. Neither the PIUQ-9 scores, nor impairment to engage in daily activities and social life due to excessive internet use differed between genders (p > 0.05).

The Model of the PIUQ-9

The X^2 test was significant in all four factor models. The bi-factor model comprising two specific factors appeared to be the best fitting model according to the fit indices CFI, TLI, RMSEA, and SRMR (**Table 1**).

Factor loadings for the bi-factor model with two specific factors are presented in **Table 2**. All nine items had significant factor loadings on the global PIU factor. The ninth item for the specific factor "obsession" was found to be non-significant; however, this item had strong significant loadings on the main factor. This was the case for items five, seven, and eight in the specific factor "neglect + control," as these items were not significant on the specific factor, despite having strong significant loadings on the general problem factor.

According to the ECV index of the bi-factor model, the general problem factor in the PIUQ-9 explained 67.7% of common variance, supporting a strong global factor. Table 3 shows ECV indices of specific factors. Evaluation of the precision of a questionnaire to assess the combination of general and specific factors, and a particular target construct was carried out through the calculation of the omega and omega hierarchical coefficients. For the Lithuanian sample, the specific factor "obsession" omega coefficient was 80.7 and 82.7% for the merged specific factor. The omega hierarchical coefficient for the "obsession" specific factor was 20.9% and in the case of the merged specific factor it was 12.8%. With the specific factors explaining \sim 13–21% of the PIU score these coefficients are considered significant. The H value above >0.70 (i.e., 0.89) indicated the "neglect + control disorder" to have good construct replicability. The obsession factor had a good replicability as well with the H value of 0.92.

The MIMIC model shown in **Table 4** indicates correlations between the general and specific factors and PIU predictors, such as age, gender, psychiatric symptoms, and impairment due to PIU. Generally, psychiatric symptoms had a moderate direct effect on the general problem factor ($\beta = 0.26$). Impairment caused due to PIU had a moderate-to-strong direct effect on the general problem factor ($\beta = 0.41$). The effect of psychiatric symptoms on the two specific factors, namely "obsession" and "neglect + control disorder" was also moderate ($\beta = 0.21$; β = 0.24, respectively). Furthermore, very similar effects of the
	χ²	df	p	CFI	TLI	GFI	RMSEA [90% CI]	RMSEA p close	SRMR	SSABIC
LTHUANIAN VERSION ($n = 272$)										
3-factor model	92.5	24	< 0.001	0.942	0.914	0.936	0.102 [0.081–0.125]	<0.001	0.056	
2-factor model	124.2	26	< 0.001	0.917	0.886	0.890	0.118 [0.098–0.139]	< 0.001	0.047	
Bifactor model with three specific factors	66.2	21	< 0.001	0.962	0.935	0.959	0.089 [0.065–0.114]	0.004	0.034	6169.4
Bifactor model with two specific factors	54.5	20	<0.001	0.971	0.948	0.970	0.080 [0.055–0.105]	0.027	0.031	6163.3

PIUQ-9, Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire 9-item version; χ², Chi-square; df, degrees of freedom; CFI, comparative fit index; TLI, Tucker-Levis Index; GFI, goodness-of-fit index; RMSEA, root-mean-square error of approximation; 90% CI, 90% confidence interval of the RMSEA; SRMR, standardized root mean residual; SSABIC, Sample size adjusted Bayesian Information Criteria.

 TABLE 2 | Standardized factor loadings of the bifactor model with two specific factors of PIUQ-9.

	General factor		Specific factors							
		Obsession	Neglect + control disorder							
LITHUANIAN VERSION (n = 272) Item 3 0.832 0.959										
Item 3	0.832	0.959								
Item 6	0.733	0.100								
Item 9	0.685	0.024 ^{ns}								
Item 5	0.697		0.014 ^{ns}							
Item 8	0.493		0.069 ^{ns}							
Item 2	0.742		0.154							
Item 4	0.736		0.366							
ltem 7	0.647		0.048 ^{ns}							
Item 1	0.474		0.944							

PIUQ-9, Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire 9-item version. All loadings were significant at p < 0.005, except when mentioned ns, not significant.

 TABLE 3 | Indicators of dimensionality and reliability of the bifactor model of PIUQ-9.

	General factor	Specific factors						
	General problem	Obsession	Neglect + control disorder					
LITHU	ANIAN VERSION							
ECV	0.677	0.151	0.172					
Ω	0.898	0.807	0.827					
Ωh	0.834	0.209	0.128					
Н	0.900	0.920	0.893					

PIUQ-9, Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire 9-item version; ECV, explained common variance, Ω , omega; Ω h, omega hierarchical; H, H index.

impairment due to PIU were observed on the two specific factors ($\beta = 0.39$; $\beta = 0.38$, respectively).

DISCUSSION

The main objective of the present study was to explore the psychometric characteristics of the PIUQ-9. Descriptive results available in our study correspond to the Laconi et al. data (7), for example the mean age of the German sample was 27 ± 10 ,

the mean age of the total sample was 26 ± 9 , while the mean age in our sample was 27 ± 9 years. The percentage of men involved in the study dramatically varied between countries in the aforementioned international study (7) ranging from 0.4 to 97% with a mean of 38%. Our study involved a relatively low number of male individuals comprising 17% of the sample. While many of the PIU studies are overrepresented by male subjects (2), our study might better reflect characteristics of Internet use in female students. However, PIUQ-9 scores as well as impairment related to the performance of daily and social activities due to excessive Internet use did not differ between genders.

The mean score of 18.4 ± 6.3 of PIUQ-9 in the Lithuanian sample was very close to the mean score of the Polish sample reported in Laconi et al.'s study (7). Lithuania is culturally closest to Poland, thus it is possible that PIU symptomatology severity corresponds. The percentage of impairment caused by PIU (14%) corresponds to the data on the European PIU prevalence in youth from 11 countries (13). However, the impairment percent in our study is slightly higher than in the Lithuanian study investigating schoolchildren (6). Several reasons might explain the discrepancy. First, students are the group with the most expressed Internet consumption. Secondly, problematic use and true clinical impairment due to PIU while overlapping are still two different concepts, which measured with different questionnaires might produce discrepancy. Thus, it is crucial to have a questionnaire which could reliably identify PIU symptomatology in prevalence studies.

Our results have confirmed good fit indices for the bi-factor model, with one "general problem" factor and two specific factors of "obsession" and "neglect + control disorder." Psychiatric symptoms had a moderate direct effect on the general problem factor in the Lithuanian sample, showing good construct validity of the scale. Impairment related to the performance of daily and social activities due to excessive Internet use was a moderate-tostrong predictor of PIU.

The major limitation of the present study is the crosssectional design, thereby precluding us from making causal assumptions. The Lithuanian sample consisted of students attending one university and was a comparatively small sample size. Furthermore, the gender distribution of the sample was skewed, with a considerably higher proportion of female students. Thus, the results may not represent general or clinical populations and may be subject to selection bias. Questions

TABLE 4 Multiple indicators multiple causes	s (MIMIC) model with standardized	coefficients (gender and age were both	controlled for in the models).
---	-----------------------------------	--	--------------------------------

	General problem		Obsession		Neglect + Control disord	
	β	р	β	р	β	p
LITHUANIAN VERSION ($n = 272$)						
Psychiatric symptoms as measured by Patient Health Questionnaire	0.25	<0.001	0.21	<0.001	0.24	<0.001
Impairment to engage in daily activities and social ife due to excessive internet use (NO/YES)	0.41	<0.001	0.39	<0.001	0.38	<0.001
Age	-0.19	< 0.001	-0.11	0.037	-0.22	< 0.001
Gender	0.04	0.439	0.01	0.906	0.06	0.237
R ²	0.37	< 0.001	0.28	<0.001	0.35	< 0.001

Gender and age were introduced in the models as control variables. MIMIC model with standardized coefficients.

on educational level (14), and socioeconomic status were not included into our survey, limiting a broader scope of the PIU context in students. While we changed the time spent online covariate with the perceived impairment one, we consider that not including this criterion is a significant limitation of this study. Differentiating time spent online on weekend might have further contributed to the general factor of the questionnaire (7).

To the best of our knowledge this is the first study validating the PIUQ-9 questionnaire in the Lithuanian language. The Lithuanian version of the PIUQ-9 has demonstrated appropriate psychometric characteristics and is suitable for screening PIU in university students. Self-reported perceived impairment related to Internet usage is a strong predictor of general PIU psychopathology. Our current study adds PIUQ-9 as a validated tool for clinicians and educators to screen for the risk and severity of PIU. During a time with an increased Internet usage due to COVID-19 requirements to self-isolate or study remotely, PIUQ-9 could be a potential tool in measuring PIU severity. Future longitudinal studies should observe PIU changes over time and establish a cut-off threshold to define individuals who are at possible risk of PIU and therefore should be advised to seek treatment.

In summary, the PIUQ-9 has good psychometric characteristics and can be applied in research, as well as for educational and clinical purposes, to screen for the risk and severity of PIU.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Lithuanian University of Health Sciences Bioethics Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB, VS, ZD, and OK conceived and designed the study. VS and JB were responsible for data collection and evaluation. Statistical analyses were performed by AP. JB prepared the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This project has received funding from the Research Council of Lithuania (LMTLT), agreement no. S-GEV-20-5. OK was supported by the János Bolyai Research Scholarship of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences and by the ÚNKP-20-5 New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Innovation and Technology from the source of the National Research, Development and Innovation Fund. ZD was supported by the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office (Grant Numbers: KKP126835 and NKFIH-1157-8/2019-DT).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This publication is based upon work from COST Action CA16207 European Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology). www.cost.eu.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.565769/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Kuss JD, Griffiths DM, Karila L, Billieux J. Internet addiction: a systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. *Curr Pharm Design*. (2014) 20:4026–52. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990617
- Fineberg NA, Demetrovics Z, Stein DJ, Ioannidis K, Potenza MN, Grünblatt E, et al. Manifesto for a European research network into problematic usage of the internet. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 28:1232–46. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.08.004
- Király O, Potenza MN, Stein DJ, King DL, Hodgins DC, Saunders JB, et al. Preventing problematic internet use during the COVID-19 pandemic: consensus guidance. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2020) 100:152180. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152180
- Blinka L, Škarupová K, Ševčíková A, Wölfling K, Müller KW, Dreier M. Excessive internet use in European adolescents: what determines differences in severity? *Int J Public Health.* (2015) 60:249–56. doi: 10.1007/s00038-014-0635-x
- Škarupová K, Ólafsson K, Blinka L. Excessive internet use and its association with negative experiences: quasi-validation of a short scale in 25 European countries. *Comp Human Behav.* (2015) 53:118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.06.047
- Ustinavičiene R, Škemiene L, Lukšiene D, Radišauskas R, Kaliniene G, Vasilavičius P. Problematic computer game use as expression of internet addiction and its association with self-rated health in the Lithuanian adolescent population. *Medicina.* (2016) 52:199–204. doi: 10.1016/j.medici.2016.04.002
- Laconi S, Urbán R, Kaliszewska-Czeremska K, Kuss DJ, Gnisci A, Sergi I, et al. Psychometric evaluation of the nine-item Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire (PIUQ-9) in nine European samples of internet users. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:136. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00136
- Koronczai B, Urbán R, Kökönyei G, Paksi B, Papp K, Kun B, et al. Confirmation of the three-factor model of problematic internet use on offline adolescent and adult samples. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2011) 14:657–64. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0345

- Demetrovics Z, Szeredi B, Rózsa S. The three-factor model of internet addiction: the development of the Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire. *Behav Res Methods.* (2008) 40:563–74. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.2.563
- Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Kroenke K, Hornyak R, McMurray J, Group PHQO-GS. Validity and utility of the PRIME-MD patient health questionnaire in assessment of 3000 obstetric-gynecologic patients: the PRIME-MD Patient Health Questionnaire Obstetrics-Gynecology Study. *Am J Obstetr Gynecol.* (2000) 183:759–69. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.106580
- Muthén L, Muthén B. Mplus User's Guide. 8th ed. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén (1998).
- 12. Brown TA. *Confirmatory Factor Analysis for Applied Research*. New York, NY: Guilford Publications (2015).
- Durkee T, Kaess M, Carli V, Parzer P, Wasserman C, Floderus B, et al. Prevalence of pathological internet use among adolescents in Europe: demographic and social factors. *Addiction.* (2012) 107:2210– 22. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.03946.x
- Shepperd JA, Emanuel AS, Dodd VJ, Logan HL. The reliability of psychological instruments in community samples: a cautionary note. *J Health Psychol.* (2016) 21:2033–41. doi: 10.1177/1359105315569859

Conflict of Interest: In the past several years, JB has been serving as a consultant for Cogstate, Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Burkauskas, Király, Demetrovics, Podlipskyte and Steibliene. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Threats to Mental Health Facilitated by Dating Applications Use Among Men Having Sex With Men

Katarzyna Obarska^{1*}, Karol Szymczak², Karol Lewczuk³ and Mateusz Gola^{1,4}

¹ Institute of Psychology, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland, ² Institute of Psychology, The Maria Grzegorzewska University, Warsaw, Poland, ³ Institute of Psychology, Cardinal Stefan Wyszyński University, Warsaw, Poland, ⁴ Swartz Center for Computational Neurosciences, Institute for Neural Computation, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States

In the last years, dating applications (DAs) have had a significant impact on the way in which people seek sexual and romantic relationships. Social groups, such as men having sex with men (MSM), who can experience discrimination and social isolation, find DAs especially engaging and helpful in finding sexual partners. Previous studies have provided evidence showing vulnerability to mental health problems among the MSM population—these problems can be potentially facilitated by DAs use. Excessive use of DAs is associated with lower well-being and life satisfaction, depression, higher substance use, and lower sleep quality. Therefore, there is a need for a better understanding of psychological functioning and risk factors associated with the use of DAs among MSM, which we focus on in this review. We also discuss two relatively new research areas: compulsive sexual behavior disorder and chemsex, and their relation to geosocial-networking mobile technologies. Finally, we point out the limitations of available studies on the mental health of MSM using DAs and propose further research directions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Mike Z. Yao, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Carrà, University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy Daria Piacentino, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

*Correspondence:

Katarzyna Obarska kobarska@sd.psych.pan.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 17 July 2020 Accepted: 30 September 2020 Published: 13 November 2020

Citation:

Obarska K, Szymczak K, Lewczuk K and Gola M (2020) Threats to Mental Health Facilitated by Dating Applications Use Among Men Having Sex With Men. Front. Psychiatry 11:584548. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.584548 Keywords: MSM (men who have sex with men), dating applications, mental health, compulsive sexual behavior disorder (CSBD), chemsex, substance (ab)use, risky sexual behaviors

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, mobile dating applications (DAs) have become popular worldwide, changing the way people establish intimate relations, and seek sexual partners. Although a comparable number of both women and men (1) use geosocial-networking mobile applications for dating, there is a category of "apps" dedicated specifically for non-heterosexual males (2) such as Grindr, Romeo, Hornet, or Adam4Adam.

In this narrative review, we present (in section Characteristics and Mental Health of MSM Who Use Mobile DAs) the current state of knowledge on sociodemographic and mental health of men having sex with men (MSM) using the mentioned applications, presenting both the advantages (lower stigmatization, increased partner availability) and threats (e.g., exposure to risky sexual behaviors) associated with DAs use. Then, we point to emerging and socially important issues such as (in section Substance Abuse and Sexualized Drug Use Among MSM Who Use DAs) sexualized drug use [SDU; (3)], also labeled as "chemsex," and (in section What Do We Know About CSBD Among MSM Who Use DAs) compulsive sexual behavior disorder [CSBD; (4)], which have not been fully examined yet in association with MSM DAs users. Finally (in section Discussion), we discuss the limitations of available studies and propose directions for future research.

75

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Literature Searching Description

For the purpose of this literature review, we have searched Google Scholar databases for scientific papers published in peer-reviewed journals. In total, we retrieved 4,270 articles published between 2010 and 2020 (the search was conducted in June 2020). The keywords used in the database search included "men having sex with men" and "mental health." After the exclusion of studies regarding HIV infection, only 189 articles remained. Further, we narrowed the scope to DAs, which resulted in 59 articles, most of which we present in this narrative review. The titles and abstracts of the retrieved articles were evaluated, and the eligible articles were selected for full-text review. Particular manuscripts were included if (a) studies focused on MSM group, (b) studies focused on online dating and geosocial networking applications use, (c) studies focused on mental health issues and psychosocial consequences associated with DAs use, or (d) articles were published in English. Articles were excluded if (a) studies focused mainly on sexual health (promoting sexual health, HIV, and other STDs prevention) or (b) manuscript was based on a case study, observational study, or qualitative study.

Characteristics and Mental Health of MSM Who Use Mobile DAs

The difficulties in finding a romantic or sexual partner in a mainly heteronormative society are, to a large degree, alleviated in cyberspace, where LGBT communities can receive support and engage in relationships more easily (5). Online dating has become a remedy for low partner availability, social isolation, and discrimination (6).

Research has shown that homonormative people experience a lack of tolerance or acceptance, and as many as 20% of them are insulted due to their sexual orientation (7). This can contribute to higher levels of minority stress and stigmatization, which are in turn associated with a higher risk for a range of mental health disorders (8). Moreover, depression is linked to minority stressors in LGBT populations (9). Deficiency of social support, victimization, and exposure to violence have a significantly stronger correlation with poorer mental health in the LGBT group compared with the heterosexual group (10). Research (11) conducted on an LGBT and heterosexual representative sample (n = 222,548) showed that non-heterosexual participants, in comparison with heterosexual ones, experience a higher level of stress over a lifetime and their attachment to local society is weaker. Available research indicates that, relative to their heterosexual counterparts, homosexual and bisexual males are 1.5-3 times more vulnerable to depression, anxiety, and substance use disorders (12), as well as more likely to attempt suicide (13). Homonegativity contributes to consequences in the mental health of MSM, for example, in the form of adverse effects on well-being (14), low self-acceptance, and loneliness (15).

Due to the social marginalization of MSM groups, access to DAs provides a platform for establishing satisfying social and sexual relationships (16) and an outlet for sexual expression in which the threat of being a target of prejudice, stereotypes, and stigmatization is lowered (6). The high prevalence of DAs use, in conjunction with high rates of mental health disorders in the MSM group, may be why this group is the most often studied in terms of online dating.

To the best of our knowledge, there are two systematic reviews (17, 18) investigating sociodemographic characteristics and risky sexual behaviors among MSM using geosocial networking applications. MSM is a relatively small population [5-7% of males; (16)]. Both Anzani et al. (18) as well as Zou and Fan (17), indicate that the mean age of DAs users ranges between 25 and 35 years, and compared with non-users, they have a higher level of education and income and reported a greater number of sexual encounters in the last few months and in a lifetime perspective. Landovitz et al. (19) concluded that up to 56% of MSM DAs users met sexual partners in the previous 3 months only via Grindr (the most popular app). Non-heterosexual men also constitute the most active group using DAs to hook up for sexual purposes (18). MSM using DAs engage in unprotected anal intercourse (both receptive and insertive) with partners of unknown HIV status more frequently than non-app users, usually under the influence of drugs or alcohol during sexual activity (18).

The vast majority of studies (17, 19, 20) on MSM app users are more focused on sexual health, especially on HIV and prevalence and prevention of other STDs, than on mental health. Recent research (6) on Grindr users shows that excessive use of DAs is linked to lower psychological and social well-being, and some participants reported addictive symptoms over extended time use. Zervoulis (2) confirmed that heavy use of DAs is correlated with higher isolation, lower perception of community belonging, and less satisfaction of life. Duncan et al. (21) found that MSM app users reported low sleep quality (34.6% of respondents) and short sleep duration (43.6% of respondents), which were linked to depressive symptoms, engaging in unprotected anal sex, as well as alcohol and drug use. Moreover, loneliness seemed to be negatively correlated with sharing private information through gay DAs (2). In contrast, a positive impact on sexual self-acceptance could be observed in the LGBT group of people who were digitally connecting to each other (22). MSM who mainly seek sexual partners using DAs experience a higher level of confidence and satisfaction with life than men seeking nonsexual relationships. In a group of MSM who are looking for other than sexual relations (e.g., romantic relationship or friendship), using DAs may also lead to frustration due to an unrealized need for intimacy (2).

Sexual sensation seeking (SSS), defined as a drive for thrilling novel sexual experiences (23), has been shown to be a strong correlate of risky sexual behaviors (23–25). A high intensity of SSS is positively correlated with a higher number of sexual partners met via DAs, a higher likelihood of being HIVpositive, as well as a greater amount of anal intercourse, including intercourse without condoms and in the receptive position (23–25). The moderating role of SSS in a relationship between internet use and high-risk sexual behaviors in the MSM group has been identified (20). SSS has also been found to be a moderator between using alcohol or drugs before sexual activity and higher rates of unprotected anal intercourse among MSM (26).



Substance Abuse and Sexualized Drug Use Among MSM Who Use DAs

Another relatively well-studied aspect of MSM's mental health is substance abuse, especially during sexual activity. Recreational drug use in the MSM group is more common than in the general population (8), as taking psychoactive substances may be an experimental response to or a coping strategy for social marginalization (27). Non-heterosexual males are 1.5-3 times more vulnerable to alcohol dependence and illicit substances use compared with the heterosexual male population (12). Studies showed that 30% (28) or even 48% (19) of app-using MSM had been under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs during sex in the past month. App-using MSM in comparison to nonapp using MSM, reported a 59.3-64.6% higher rate of cocaine, ecstasy, methamphetamine, and injection drug use, as well as a high rate of binge drinking in a lifetime (29, 30). The MSM community is more likely to engage in sexualized drug use (SDU). SDU is also known as "chemsex," defined as any use of specific (e.g., methamphetamine, ecstasy, GHB) drugs before or during planned sexual activity to facilitate, initiate, prolong, sustain, and intensify the sexual encounter (31, 32). A recent review (32), based on 28 studies, estimates the prevalence of engaging in chemsex among MSM between 4 and 43% depending on the assessed population (ranging from clinical settings to urban areas).

Chemsex is associated with engaging in lengthy sex sessions and with a larger number of casual partners with an unknown HIV status (33). A combination of needle sharing, condomless sexual behaviors and being under the influence of drugs enhances the transmission of STDs (34). The fact that chemsex is associated with adverse mental health outcomes and may cause negative psychosocial consequences is an issue for concern (35). Some reports (31, 36, 37) described situations where MSM chemsex participants experienced severe psychological distress, psychotic symptoms, short-term depression, anxiety, long-term memory loss, and personality changes.

Studies show that it is quite common among MSM to use apps not only to engage in sexual activities, but also for sex parties, often associated with drug taking (38). For example, in Thailand, 73% of the MSM community use DAs for sexual purposes, as well as for inviting partners into illicit drug practice, with a 77% effectiveness of invitation rate (39). Latest review (40) provides data showing that MSM use geosocial network applications (a) to acquire drugs before engaging in sexualized drug use, (b) to sell sex in exchange for drugs, (c) to arrange sex with someone they would not have had sex with when sober, and (d) to find substance-using partners. Patten et al. (40) concluded that there is a mutual relationship between engaging in chemsex and using DAs among MSM.

Although chemsex is a social concept, it may be considered a new form of addiction to sexual experiences induced and enhanced by psychoactive substances and facilitated by geosocial network applications. Future studies should examine if chemsex could be conceptualized as a conjunction of substance use disorder and compulsive sexual behavior disorder (see **Figure 1**) or a completely separate entity.

What Do We Know About CSBD Among MSM Who Use DAs

Compulsive sexual behavior disorder (CSBD), included recently in the 11th revision of the International Classification of Disorders (ICD-11) published by the World Health Organization (4), is characterized by a behavioral pattern in which a person (a) engages in repetitive sexual activity that has become a central focus of his/her life to the point of neglecting health and personal care or other interests, activities, and responsibilities; (b) has made numerous unsuccessful efforts to control or significantly reduce repetitive sexual behavior; (c) continues to engage in repeated sexual behavior despite adverse consequences; and (d) continues to engage in repeated sexual behavior even when he/she derives little or no satisfaction from it (4). The most common behavioral manifestation of CSBD is problematic pornography use accompanied by compulsive masturbation, and recent representative self-reported studies in the USA (41) and Poland (42) indicate that 9–11% of men and 3% of women, regardless of sexual orientation, perceived themselves as addicted to pornography. Compulsive use of paid sexual services or risky casual sexual encounters are also common among individuals meeting CSBD criteria (43).

Recognition of CSBD in ICD-11 raises a question regarding its prevalence among the MSM community and specifically among MSM using DAs. Unfortunately, CSBD has not been fully studied in the MSM community so far. Publications on the general population found a positive association between using geosocial networking applications and CSBD, showing that users of geosocial-network applications (compared to the general online population) are more likely to be young, non-heterosexual males. However, results of a recent study (44) on users of geosocialnetworking applications contradict most earlier findings and suggest that the popularity of such applications increased among heterosexual populations.

Nonetheless, the majority of the data suggest DAs are more popular among MSM than among other groups, and their frequent use may potentially constitute a risk factor for CSBD development. Namely, it is possible that DAs may facilitate sexual encounters and novelty seeking in the sexual domain (especially among individuals with high sexual sensation seeking), potentially contributing to the development of CSBD at least in some subjects. A reverse relation is also possible: individuals with CSBD may be more likely to use DAs because they facilitate sexual encounters. This underdeveloped research area is of high importance, as among MSM who met sexual partners via the Internet, CSBD is associated with a higher frequency of engaging in HIV sexual risk behaviors (45).

The clear diagnostic criteria of CSBD described in ICD-11 (4) will facilitate future research on this behavioral pattern among MSM, which in turn will hopefully result in obtaining a detailed picture of interactions between CSBD, substance use disorders and such phenomena as chemsex and DAs use among the MSM community.

DISCUSSION

In this narrative review, we aimed to present findings on research examining mental health among MSM using DAs. We focused mainly on aspects associated with substance use and risky sexual behaviors as MSM seem to be especially vulnerable to threats in this domain. Available data on mental health primarily describe the prevalence of mental disorders (depression, anxiety, personality disorders) among MSM. In short, these data show that, compared with non-users, MSM using DAs report lower perception of community belonging, higher isolation, less satisfaction with life, and worse quality of sleep (2, 21). The stigma and discrimination experienced by the MSM community may be a possible explanation for the more frequent recreational drug use in this group than in the general population. Additionally, based on previous studies reviewed above, it seems that risky sexual behaviors among MSM using DAs are inseparable from substance abuse. DAs may facilitate seeking sexual partners, and off-line sexual encounters are frequently accompanied by drug use. Sexualized drug use may be associated with an increased risk of polydrug substance abuse, risky sexual behaviors, transmission of STDs, severe psychological distress, short-term depression, anxiety, and even psychotic episodes or changes in personality (35). Currently, little is known about the prevalence of CSBD among MSM DAs users, and it remains unclear to what extent chemsex is associated with CSBD and whether it can be understood as a behavioral pattern standing at the conjunction of CSBD and substance use disorders. Available data (44) suggest that frequent use of DAs could be a risk factor for CSBD. The sexual sensation seeking may be a crucial correlate and even lead to the development of both CSBD and sexualized drug use. On the other hand, for individuals with already developed CSBD, geosocial-network apps may provide an unlimited source of sexual partners and novel experiences.

Several gaps in knowledge should be noted with respect to current studies on psychological and sexual functioning of MSM

TABLE 1 Recommendations for future studies on mental and sexual health among DAs users.							
Research area	Goals						
Mental health	To explore the positive impact of DAs use on mental health and social functioning among MSM. Further examination of adverse mental health consequences associated with engaging in relationships through online DAs among MSM.						
Chemsex	To investigate the relations between chemsex, CSBD and substance use disorders. To consider if chemsex could be treated as a new form of addiction to sexual experiences, engaged in under the influence of specific drugs To examine the nature of sexualized drug use among women who have sex with women (WSW) and among the heterosexual population using DAs.						
	To assess the prevalence of sexual dysfunction and sexual concerns beyond HIV and STDs infection among apps using MSM chemsex participants. To examine if experiencing CSBD symptoms may lead to using DAs more often, which can lead to further development of symptoms and more frequent engagement in Chemsex.						
CSBD	To explain whether DAs are a way to develop symptoms of CSBD because of the availability of sexual stimuli and sexual partners. To assess the prevalence of CSBD among app users MSM and association between CSBD and SSS.						

using DAs, and they should be considered important goals for future investigations (see **Table 1**).

It is also important to mention that mobile applications can be used to promote mental health, as well as for prevention or therapeutic programs (46). Ameri et al. (47) indicated that short-term interventions based on mobile phone applications and texting could decrease the rate of methamphetamine use, condomless anal intercourse, and HIV transmission among MSM. Another example of a harm reduction intervention of sexualized drug use is the German app "C: KYL" ("Chems: Know Your Limit"). C: KYL aims to reduce the risk of severe negative consequences such as dissociation and overdose through monitoring of drugtaking during chemsex sessions. Overall, mHealth strategies have a positive influence on health-promoting behaviors, appointment attendance, and accessibility to information and may present an effective means for mental health promotion and prevention if they provide optimized strategies for the MSM group (48, 49).

LIMITATIONS

This review is a preliminary investigation that highlights associations of DAs use and mental health issues among MSM. However, important limitations of the current work should be noted. First, there is a limited number of studies on the psychological functioning of MSM using DAs. This is especially true for CSBD, which is a new diagnostic unit. The vast majority of previous research examined the aspects of promoting sexual health, as so far, the primary need in the MSM group was prevention of HIV and other STIs. Second, our review encompasses studies focusing only on the group of non-heterosexual males. Mental health threats posed by DAs among heterosexual men as well as women fell outside the scope of the current manuscript. Third, the use of apps and social media for mental health promotion and prevention of mental disorders is not a focus of our analysis. Future studies should also examine the unique opportunities for mental health

REFERENCES

- Sumter SR, Vandenbosch L, Ligtenberg L. Love me tinder: untangling emerging adults' motivations for using the dating application tinder. *Telemat Informatics*. (2017) 34:67–78. doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2016.04.009
- Zervoulis K, Smith DS, Reed R, Dinos S. Use of 'gay dating apps' and its relationship with individual well-being and sense of community in men who have sex with men. *Psychol Sex.* (2020) 11:88–102. doi: 10.1080/19419899.2019.1684354
- McCall H, Adams N, Mason D, Willis J. What is chemsex and why does it matter? *BMJ*. (2015) 351:2–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.h5790
- World Health Organization W. *ICD-11 for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics*. (2018). Available online at: https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en (accessed October 23, 2020).
- Van De Wiele C, Tong ST. Breaking boundaries: the uses & gratifications of grindr. In: UbiComp 2014 - Proc 2014 ACM Int Jt Conf Pervasive Ubiquitous Comput. (2014) 619–630. doi: 10.1145/2632048.2636070
- Jaspal R. Gay men's construction and management of identity on grindr. Sex Cult. (2017) 21:187–204. doi: 10.1007/s12119-016-9389-3

promotion that dating (and other) applications, as well as social media and social networking platforms, bring [see (50)]. Lastly, our hypothesis that chemsex may be a conjunction of CSBD and substance use has yet to be validated. This hypothetical assumption should be taken as an inspiration and invitation to future research.

CONCLUSIONS

Primary mental health difficulties (e.g., stigma, social isolation, CSBD) could predispose individuals to seek partners online and then manifest in risky sexual behaviors. Engaging in online dating may in turn cause secondary adverse mental health outcomes such as depression or sexualized drug use. Identifying psychological and situational risk factors associated with use of DAs may facilitate a better understanding of mental health concerns among MSM. DAs may also have a positive impact on the social functioning of MSM in terms of greater availability of sexual or romantic partners, an increase in self-acceptance, and self-confidence. Despite some advantages, online dating seems to be associated with many severe threats in the area of mental health. Because of this, future studies should also focus on the development of prevention and therapeutic interventions relevant to the MSM group and their patterns of geosocial-networking app use.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KO and MG developed the idea for the paper and prepared the outline. KO and KS prepared the literature review. KO, KS, KL, and MG participated in manuscript writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

MG was supported by the gift grant from the Swartz Foundation.

- Bachmann CL, Gooch B. LGBT in Britain: Hate crime and Discrimination. (2017). p. 1–18. Available online at: https://www. stonewall.org.uk/sites/default/files/lgbt_in_britain_hate_crime.pdf (accessed October 23, 2020).
- Grant JE, Odlaug BL, Derbyshire K, Schreiber LRN, Lust K, Christenson G. Mental health and clinical correlates in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and queer young adults. J Am Coll Heal. (2014) 62:75–8. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2013.8 44697
- 9. Meyer IH. Minority stress and mental health in gay men. J Health Soc Behav. (1995) 36:38–56. doi: 10.2307/2137286
- Bränström R. Minority stress factors as mediators of sexual orientation disparities in mental health treatment: a longitudinal population-based study. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2017) 71:446–52. doi: 10.1136/jech-2016-207943
- Pakula B, Carpiano RM, Ratner PA, Shoveller JA. Life stress as a mediator and community belonging as a moderator of mood and anxiety disorders and co-occurring disorders with heavy drinking of gay, lesbian, bisexual, and heterosexual Canadians. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2016) 51:1181– 92. doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1236-1

- Chakraborty A, McManus S, Brugha TS, Bebbington P, King M. Mental health of the non-heterosexual population of England. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2011) 198:143–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.082271
- Haas AP, Eliason M, Mays VM, Mathy RM, Cochran SD, D'Augelli AR, et al. Suicide and suicide risk in lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender populations: review and recommendations. J Homosex. (2011) 58:10– 51. doi: 10.1080/00918369.2011.534038
- Zervoulis K, Lyons E, Dinos S. Stigma and self-esteem across societies: avoiding blanket psychological responses to gay men experiencing homophobia. *BJPsych Bull.* (2015) 39:167–73. doi: 10.1192/pb.bp.114.048421
- Whitehead J, Shaver J, Stephenson R. Outness, stigma, and primary health care utilization among rural LGBT Populations. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0146139. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146139
- Caplan SE. problematic internet use and psychosocial wellbeing: development of a theory-based cognitive-behavioral measurement instrument. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2002) 18:553– 75. doi: 10.1016/S0747-5632(02)00004-3
- Zou H, Fan S. Characteristics of men who have sex with men who use smartphone geosocial networking applications and implications for HIV interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Sex Behav.* (2017) 46:885–94. doi: 10.1007/s10508-016-0709-3
- Anzani A, Di Sarno M, Prunas A. Using smartphone apps to find sexual partners: a review of the literature. *Sexologies*. (2018) 27:e61– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.sexol.2018.05.001
- Landovitz RJ, Tseng CH, Weissman M, Haymer M, Mendenhall B, Rogers K, et al. Epidemiology, sexual risk behavior, and HIV prevention practices of men who have sex with men using Grindr in Los Angeles, California. *J Urban Heal*. (2013) 90:729–39. doi: 10.1007/s11524-012-9766-7
- Lehmiller JJ, Ioerger M. Social networking smartphone applications and sexual health outcomes among men who have sex with men. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e0086603. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086603
- Duncan DT, Goedel WC, Mayer KH, Safren SA, Palamar JJ, Hagen D, et al. Poor sleep health and its association with mental health, substance use, and condomless anal intercourse among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. *Sleep Heal.* (2016) 2:316–21. doi: 10.1016/j.sleh.2016. 07.003
- Crowson M, Goulding A. Virtually homosexual: technoromanticism, demarginalisation and identity formation among homosexual males. *Comput Human Behav.* (2013) 29:A31–A9. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013. 01.017
- Kalichman, Johnson J, Adair, Veral, Rompa D, Multhauf K, et al. Sexual sensation seeking: scale development and predicting AIDS-risk behavior among homosexually active men. J Pers Assess. (1994) 62:385– 97. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa6203_1
- 24. Bancroft J, Vukadinovic Z. Sexual addiction, sexual compulsivity, sexual impulsivity, or what? Toward a theoretical model. J Sex Res. (2004) 41:225–34. doi: 10.1080/00224490409552230
- 25. Goedel WC, Duncan DT. Geosocial-networking app usage patterns of gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men: survey among users of grindr, a mobile dating app. *JMIR Public Heal Surveill*. (2015) 1:e4. doi: 10.2196/publichealth.4353
- Newcomb ME, Clerkin EM, Mustanski B. Sensation seeking moderates the effects of alcohol and drug use prior to sex on sexual risk in young men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav.* (2011) 15:565– 575. doi: 10.1007/s10461-010-9832-7
- Race K, Lea T, Murphy D, Pienaar K. The future of drugs: recreational drug use and sexual health among gay and other men who have sex with men. *Sex Health.* (2017) 14:42–50. doi: 10.1071/SH16080
- Holloway IW, Rice E, Gibbs J, Winetrobe H, Dunlap S, Rhoades H. Acceptability of smartphone application-based HIV prevention among young men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav.* (2014) 18:285– 96. doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0671-1
- Phillips G, Magnus M, Kuo I, Rawls A, Peterson J, West-Ojo T, et al. Correlates of group sex among a community-based sample of men who have sex with men (MSM) in Washington, DC. *AIDS Behav.* (2014) 18:1413– 9. doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0527-8
- 30. Rice E, Holloway I, Winetrobe H, Rhoades H, Barman-Adhikari A, Gibbs J, et al. Sex risk among young men who have sex with men who use Grindr, a

smartphone geosocial networking application. J AIDS Clin Res. (2012) 3:1-8. doi: 10.4172/2155-6113.S4-005

- Bourne A, Reid D, Hickson F, Torres-Rueda S, Steinberg P, Weatherburn P. "Chemsex" and harm reduction need among gay men in South London. *Int J Drug Policy*. (2015) 26:1171–6. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2015. 07.013
- Edmundson C, Heinsbroek E, Glass R, Hope V, Mohammed H, White M, et al. Sexualised drug use in the United Kingdom (UK): a review of the literature. *Int J Drug Policy*. (2018) 55:131–48. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2018. 02.002
- Maxwell S, Shahmanesh M, Gafos M. Chemsex behaviours among men who have sex with men: a systematic review of the literature. *Int J Drug Policy.* (2019) 63:74–89. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2018. 11.014
- 34. Gilbart VL, Simms I, Jenkins C, Furegato M, Gobin M, Oliver I, et al. Sex, drugs and smart phone applications: findings from semistructured interviews with men who have sex with men diagnosed with Shigella flexneri 3a in England and Wales. Sex Transm Infect. (2015) 91:598– 602. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2015-052014
- Tomkins A, George R, Kliner M. Sexualised drug taking among men who have sex with men: a systematic review. *Perspect Public Health*. (2019) 139:23– 33. doi: 10.1177/1757913918778872
- Dearing N, Flew S. P211 Msm the cost of having a good time? A survey about sex, drugs and losing control. Sex Transm Infect. (2015) 91:A86.1– A86. doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2015-052126.255
- Dolengevich-Segal H, Rodríguez-Salgado B, Gómez-Arnau J, Sánchez-Mateos D. Severe psychosis, drug dependence, and hepatitis c related to slamming mephedrone. *Case Rep Psychiatry.* (2016) 2016:1–5. doi: 10.1155/2016/8379562
- Van Hout MC, Crowley D, O'Dea S, Clarke S. Chasing the rainbow: pleasure, sex-based sociality and consumerism in navigating and exiting the Irish Chemsex scene. *Cult Heal Sex.* (2019) 21:1074–86. doi: 10.1080/13691058.2018.1529336
- Boonchutima S, Kongchan W. Utilization of dating apps by men who have sex with men for persuading other men toward substance use. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2017) 10:31–8. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S121480
- Patten S, Doria N, Joy P, Sinno J, Spencer R, Leblanc M-A, et al. Sexualized drug use in virtual space: A scoping review of how gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men interact online. *Can J Hum Sex*. (2020) 29:106– 26. doi: 10.3138/cjhs.2019-0052
- Grubbs JB, Kraus SW, Perry SL. Self-reported addiction to pornography in a nationally representative sample: the roles of use habits, religiousness, and moral incongruence. J Behav Addict. (2019) 8:88–93. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.134
- Lewczuk K, Wójcik A, Gola M. Increase in the prevalence of online pornography use – objective data analysis from the period between 2004 and 2016 in Poland. *PsyArXiv*. (2019). doi: 10.31234/osf.io/tmn4r
- Reid RC, Carpenter BN, Hook JN, Garos S, Manning JC, Gilliland R, et al. Report of findings in a dsm-5 field trial for hypersexual disorder. J Sex Med. (2012) 9:2868–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1743-6109.2012.02936.x
- 44. Turban J, Passel E, Scheuer L, Germine L. Use of geosocial networking applications is associated with compulsive sexual behavior disorder in an online sample. *J Sex Med.* (2020) doi: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2020. 03.020
- Coleman E, Horvath KJ, Miner M, Ross MW, Oakes M, Rosser BRS. Compulsive sexual behavior and risk for unsafe sex among internet using men who have sex with men. *Arch Sex Behav.* (2010) 39:1045– 1053. doi: 10.1007/s10508-009-9507-5
- Lewczuk K, Gorowska M, Li Y, Gola MK. Mobile internet technologies, ecological momentary assessment, and intervention—poison and remedy for new online problematic behaviors in ICD-11. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:807. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00807
- Ameri A, Keshvardoost S, Bahaadinbeigy K. Impact of mobile phone-based interventions on methamphetamine use and high-risk sexual behaviors in men who have sex with men (MSM): a systematic review. *Addict Heal.* (2020) 12:58–68.
- 48. Adler A, Martin N, Mariani J, Cd T, Oo O, Free C, et al. Mobile phone text messaging to improve medication adherence in secondary

prevention of cardiovascular disease (Review) summary of findings for the main comparison. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 4:CD011851. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011851.pub2

- 49. Grady A, Yoong S, Sutherland R, Lee H, Nathan N, Wolfenden L. Improving the public health impact of eHealth and mHealth interventions. *Aust N Z J Public Health.* (2018) 42:118–9. doi: 10.1111/1753-6405. 12771
- Crocamo C, Viviani M, Bartoli F, Carrà G, Pasi G. Detecting binge drinking and alcohol-related risky behaviours from twitter's users: an exploratory content-and topology-based analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:1510. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051510

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Obarska, Szymczak, Lewczuk and Gola. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Country Indicators Moderating the Relationship Between Phubbing and Psychological Distress: A Study in 20 Countries

Agata Błachnio^{1*}, Aneta Przepiórka¹, Oleg Gorbaniuk¹, Monika McNeill², Rebecca Bendayan^{3,4}, Mithat Durak⁵, Emre Senol-Durak⁵, Menachem Ben-Ezra⁶, Martina Benvenuti⁷, Alan Angeluci⁸, Ana Maria Abreu⁹, Meiko Makita¹⁰, María J. Blanca⁴, Tihana Brkljacic¹¹, Nenad Č. Babič¹², Julia Gorbaniuk¹, Juraj Holdoš¹³, Ana Ivanova¹, Sadia Malik¹⁴, Anita Milanovic¹⁵, Bojan Musil¹², Igor Pantic¹⁶, Belén Rando¹⁷, Gwendolyn Seidman¹⁸, Lancy D'Souza¹⁹, Mariek M. P. Vanden Abeele^{20,21}, Mariusz Wołońciej¹, Anise M. S. Wu²², Shu Yu²² and Elvis Mazzoni⁷

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Changiz Mohiyeddini, Oakland University William Beaumont School of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Mike Z. Yao, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States Gengfeng Niu, Central China Normal University, China

> *Correspondence: Agata Błachnio gatta@kul.lublin.pl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Health Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 28 July 2020 Accepted: 03 November 2021 Published: 24 December 2021

Citation:

Błachnio A, Przepiórka A, Gorbaniuk O, McNeill M, Bendayan R, Durak M, Senol-Durak E, Ben-Ezra M, Benvenuti M, Angeluci A, Abreu AM, Makita M, Blanca MJ, Brkljacic T, Babič NČ, Gorbaniuk J, Holdoš J, Ivanova A, Malik S, Milanovic A. Musil B. Pantic I. Rando B. Seidman G, D'Souza L, Vanden Abeele MMP, Wołońciej M, Wu AMS, Yu S and Mazzoni E (2021) Country Indicators Moderating the Relationship Between Phubbing and Psychological Distress: A Study in 20 Countries. Front. Psychol. 12:588174. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.588174

¹ Institute of Psychology, The John Paul II Catholic University of Lublin, Lublin, Poland, ² Glasgow Caledonian University, Glasgow, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Biostatistics and Health Informatics, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ Department of Psychobiology and Methodology for Behavioral Sciences, University of Málaga, Málaga, Spain, ⁵ Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey, ⁶ Ariel University, Ariel, Israel, ⁷ Department of Psychology, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ⁸ Universidade Municipal de São Caetano do Sul, São Caetano do Sul, Brazil, ⁹ Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Health, Institute of Health Sciences, Universidade Católica Portuguesa, Lisbon, Portugal, ¹⁰ University of Wolverhampton, Wolverhampton, United Kingdom, ¹¹ Institute of Social Sciences Ivo Pilar, Zagreb, Croatia, ¹² Department of Psychology, University of Maribor, Maribor, Slovenia, ¹³ Catholic University in Ružomberok, Ružomberok, Slovakia, ¹⁴ Department of Psychology, University of Sargodha, Sargodha, Pakistan, ¹⁵ Clinic for Mental Disorders "Dr Laza Lazarević", Belgrade, Serbia, ¹⁶ Faculty of Medicine, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia, ¹⁷ Institute of Social and Political Sciences, University of Lisbon, Portugal, ¹⁸ Albright College, Reading, PA, United States, ¹⁹ Faculty of Medicine, University of Mysore, Mysore, India, ²⁰ Department of Cognition and Communication, Tilburg University, Tilburg, Netherlands, ²¹ Imec-mict-UGent, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ²² Department of Psychology, University, Ghent, Belgium, ²² Department of Psychology, University of Macau, Taipa, China

Problematic mobile phone use can be related to negative mental states. Some studies indicate that behavioural dependency is related to variables associated with the country of origin. The aim of our study was to investigate if country indicators moderated the relationship between phubbing and psychological distress. Our sample consisted of 7,315 individuals from 20 countries, who completed the Phubbing Scale and the Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6). The analyses also included country indicators: the Gender Gap Index (GGI), the Human Development Index (HDI), the Social Progress Index (SPI), Hofstede's dimensions of culture, and the World Happiness Index (WHI). Our results showed that psychological distress was related to at least one dimension of phubbing (i.e., to communication disturbance or phone obsession) in all countries, which means this relationship is culturally universal. The results of the study demonstrate the importance of testing measurement invariance to determine what type of analysis and what type of conclusion are valid in a given study or comparison. Moreover, the increasing or decreasing correlation between phubbing and distress is related to some culture-level indices.

Keywords: country indicators, culture, phubbing, mobile phone addiction, distress

INTRODUCTION

A great body of research reports the increasing use of mobile phones (e.g., Lopez-Fernandez et al., 2017; Al-Saggaf and MacCulloch, 2019). Mobile phones are preferred for social media use and communication purposes, particularly, when face-toface contact is not practical or possible (Karadağ et al., 2015; Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016), but their use is leading to interpersonal problems. A new phenomenon has emerged recently, whereby phone users ignore other people around them by using their mobile phones instead (Karadağ et al., 2015; Abeele, 2019; Abeele et al., 2019; Balta et al., 2020). This phenomenon is called "phubbing," and its name is derived from two words: "phone" and "snubbing." Phubbing behaviour is typically seen among individuals who are distracted by their phone when it is not ringing or vibrating and who are not paying attention to others around them (Afdal et al., 2019). It also manifests itself in people preferring to pay attention to smartphones rather than to their interlocutor during face-toface interaction (Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016), such as interaction with their close family members (Al-Saggaf and MacCulloch, 2019). Phubbing can be called absent presence when a person uses their mobile phone in the company of others (Abeele et al., 2016). It may disrupt interpersonal relationships (Ergün et al., 2020), and people engaging in it may show withdrawal symptoms when they are away from their phones (Karadağ et al., 2015). Research has shown that other types of problematic technology use, such as Internet addiction, mobile phone addiction, mobile game addiction (Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016, 2018; T'ng et al., 2018), and fear of missing out, can lead to phubbing. Phubbing in turn often leads to violations of cultural values and to disrespectful attitudes, regardless of culture (Afdal et al., 2019).

Phubbing and Psychological Distress

Apart from the changes mentioned above, researchers have investigated the possible causes of phubbing behaviour. It has been highlighted that phubbing is a way of coping with loneliness (Jackson and Wang, 2013; Karadağ et al., 2015; Afdal et al., 2019), worry, and anxiety and that it is related to deprivation in situations when one is far from one's phone (Karadağ et al., 2015). Phubbing is positively correlated with anxiety (Khare and Qasim, 2019) and has an impact on interpersonal relationships and personal wellbeing (WB) (Roberts and David, 2016). A high level of partner phubbing is related to depression and low relationship satisfaction (Wang et al., 2017); it also has a negative impact on intimacy (Abeele et al., 2019).

Another possible cause of phubbing behaviour is psychological distress, which is an indicator of mental health (Kessler et al., 2003). Psychological distress is defined as a state of emotional suffering characterized by inefficiency in coping, feelings of discomfort, and changes in emotional WB (Walker and Avant, 1995), such as moderate-to-severe symptoms of anxiety and depression (Drapeau et al., 2012). Phubbing has also been found to function as a mediator between phone addiction and depression (Ivanova et al., 2020). In a different study, higher partner phubbing was correlated with lower life satisfaction and higher depression scores (Roberts and David, 2016). The experience of psychological distress was found to be related to uncertain social relations and time pressure (Türetgen et al., 2012), anxiety (Tan and Lau, 2012), and phubbing (Lian et al., 2021).

Some studies have revealed that individuals with better mental health are more likely to exhibit lower levels of phubbing behaviour (Babadi-Akashe et al., 2014). Another study showed that rumination mediated the relationship between psychological distress and phubbing among adolescents (Lian et al., 2021). Despite a Pakistani study indicating that phubbing is directly related to distress (Shahbaz et al., 2020), other researchers suggest moderator and mediator variables between psychological distress and phubbing (Lian et al., 2021). Being phubbed increases the levels of depression and stress (David and Roberts, 2017) and is related to lower self-flourishing (Davey et al., 2018). Adolescents who are phubbed by their mothers feel ignored, and the quality of their relationship with their mother decreases (Bai et al., 2020). This can be explained by the diathesisstress model (Monroe and Simons, 1991), which underlines the fact that psychological disorders may be a result of the interaction between genetic predisposition, vulnerability, and stress triggered by life events. This model points toward certain moderators, such as personal traits, in the relationship between the environmental factors and the development of a psychological disorder (Monroe and Simons, 1991). Therefore, exploring conditional variables associated with psychological distress and phubbing is considered to be important for the understanding of the circumstances correlated with those variables. In the present study, we focused on the moderating role of country, since cultural differences have proved to be important in phubbing (Al-Saggaf and MacCulloch, 2019).

Country Indicators

Social norms play a considerable role in phubbing (Al-Saggaf and MacCulloch, 2019). Some studies have shown that people from different cultures use new media in different ways. For instance, it was found that people from individualistic countries preferred using social networking sites (SNSs) actively (e.g., Jackson and Wang, 2013; Makri and Schlegelmilch, 2017), while people from collectivistic cultures used SNSs to receive social support and strengthen social connections (Jackson and Wang, 2013; LaRose et al., 2013), people from individualistic cultures use SNSs to satisfy their individual needs, such as the need to escape from loneliness (Jackson and Wang, 2013). A metaanalysis, whose authors checked moderated effect of culture in the relation between SNSs and mental health, revealed that the relations between SNS use and mental health in collectivistic cultures were stronger than in individualistic cultures (Yin et al., 2019). Additionally, Arpaci (2019) reported that there was a link between vertical collectivism and nomophobia-a fear of not having access to one's mobile phone.

Some studies indicate that behavioural dependency is related to country variables. For instance, some researchers suggest that cultural dimensions determine SNS usage patterns. Vasalou et al. (2010) found differences in Facebook use across different countries. For example, users from the United Kingdom spent more time on Facebook than users from other countries. Participation in Facebook groups was more important for United Kingdom users than for United States users, while Italians preferred participating in groups and playing games. In Greece, users regarded updating their profiles as the least important activity in comparison with other countries (Vasalou et al., 2010). Culture can be a predictor of online and technologyrelated behaviours (Chau et al., 2002; Arpaci, 2019; Błachnio et al., 2019a). For instance, previous studies indicated that people from vertical (as opposed to horizontal) collectivistic cultures, which promote sacrificing oneself in relationships, had a greater tendency to develop nomophobia (Arpaci, 2019). Yin et al. (2019) established the moderating role of cultural background in the relationship between SNS use and positive mental health. A metaanalysis carried out by Zhang et al. (2012) showed that culture had a moderating effect on mobile commerce adoption. Another study showed that collectivism, uncertainty avoidance (UAI), short-term orientation, and power distance could be cultural moderators for the use of mobile technologies (Baptista and Oliveira, 2015). Research results highlighted the moderating effect of cultural dimensions, such as UAI, individualism, and long-term orientation, on the adoption of novel mobile services (Hung and Chou, 2014).

Understanding how phubbing behaviour is influenced by social circumstances seems to be important for professionals dealing with social life problems (Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016). Social motives and accessibility to mobile technologies are of significance in phubbing behaviour (e.g., Jackson and Wang, 2013). In an attempt to determine intercultural differences in phubbing as has been done for Facebook use (e.g., by Ji et al., 2010) and for SNS use (e.g., by Jackson and Wang, 2013), we drew on Hofstede's (1980) understanding of culture. Hofstede describes the culture in terms of dimensions, such as individualism vs. collectivism, UAI, power distance, or masculinity vs. femininity¹.

We predicted that in different countries, phubbing would correlate with distress to different degrees. Based on previous studies indicating that phubbing is negatively related to mental health (Karadağ et al., 2015; Khare and Qasim, 2019; Ivanova et al., 2020), we hypothesised that phubbing would be positively related to distress. Different cultures differ in the extent to which mental health is dependent on the quality of social relationships, the role of a social group, and social support from the group one belongs to De Silva et al. (2007). Because phubbing involves the disruption of communication with others as a result of using a mobile phone in their presence, it leads to the deterioration of social relationships, which in turn may have different consequences for mental health in different cultures. We predicted that in those cultures where the importance attached to social relationships was greater phubbing would have a stronger impact on mental WB (distress). We therefore examined the role of culture in this relationship to investigate whether country indicators were moderators between phubbing dimensions and psychological distress. Specifically, we selected the following indicators: the Gender Gap Index (GGI), the Social Progress Index (SPI), the World Happiness Index (WHI), the Human Development Index (HDI), and Hofstede's cultural value indices.

While mobile phones enable communication and facilitate many activities in everyday life (Luo and Tuney, 2015; Chotpitayasunondh and Douglas, 2016; Karadağ et al., 2015), their excessive use has negative consequences as well (Lopez-Fernandez et al., 2017). The main aim of our research was to explore the moderating role of the cultural specificities of countries in the relationship between phubbing and psychological distress. The study fills a gap in the knowledge regarding the role that cross-national differences play in this relationship. On the one hand, the inclusion of cross-national moderators is exploratory and aimed at identifying the cultural characteristics that play an important role in the relationship between phubbing and distress. On the other hand, testing these characteristics as potential moderators is warranted by the results of previous research.

Cultural indicators differentiate countries on different dimensions (see Bleidorn et al., 2015; Jonason et al., 2020). Previous studies have shown that different dimensions of culture can play moderating roles (e.g., Sutrisno and Dularif, 2020). The socioeconomic context was found to be a moderator in the relationship between depression and body mass index (Alvarez-Galvez and Gomez-Baya, 2017). Moreover, country indices have proved to be significant moderating factors for the level of Internet addiction (Błachnio et al., 2019b).

Countries differ in the availability (equal or unequal) of various resources and opportunities to women and men and in the status of the two genders (GGI; Bosson et al., 2021). This means that in countries with low GGI, men are more dominant while women are more subordinate (Bosson et al., 2021). In countries where the role of women is subordinate (low GGI), a weaker association between phubbing and distress can be expected. Other indices differentiate countries in terms of general WB and quality of life. The SPI shows how countries differ in terms of the real quality of life, which is closely related to the economic level and thus to the satisfaction of needs or the fulfilment of opportunities. Countries also differ in the levels of human potential, WB, life expectancy, economic growth, and access to education, reflected in the HDI. The higher the HDI, the more a country is perceived to meet the basic needs of its citizens and the more autonomy it offers in various social choices, such as work or education (Bosson et al., 2021). Previous studies have shown strong relationships between GGI and HDI (Bosson et al., 2021), which make it reasonable to predict HDI levels similar to those of GGI. The next index, the WHI differentiates countries in terms of global happiness. Research shows that countries with high WHI are those where support and WB, such as income, healthy life expectancy, social support, freedom, trust, and generosity, are

¹Power Distance reflects the way people view the degree of power distribution in their culture and the degree to which they accept their place in the social hierarchy. The individualism vs. collectivism dimension concerns the level of integration with the group, which shows whether the importance is placed on attaining personal or group goals. The Uncertainty Avoidance dimension reflects the degree to which societies tolerate unknown situations, changes, and unexpected events. Finally, the masculinity vs. femininity dimension reflects what kind of values are respected for instance: assertiveness, ambition, and power are masculine values, whereas relationship building is central to feminine values.

key factors (see World Happiness Report), which may translate into a higher correlation between phubbing and distress in these countries.

On the one hand, it can be expected that countries with greater access to mobile phones will be more likely to have higher rates of problematic phone use and greater distress levels associated with it. On the other hand, in less developed countries, phubbing may lead to greater distress, as the people there are less accustomed to the presence of phones in social life. The indicators that differentiate countries also include the Hofstede dimensions (we chose only those indices that had a full set of values for all the countries investigated): individualism vs. collectivism, masculinity vs. femininity, and UAI. Previous studies have used Hofstede dimensions to explain differences in the Internet or Facebook use (e.g., Nadkarni and Hofmann, 2012; Jackson and Wang, 2013; Abbas and Mesch, 2015) but these dimensions were not tested as moderators of the relationship between new technology addiction and mental health. In our study, we posed the question of how these dimensions might differentiate the relationship between phubbing and distress across countries. It could only be speculated, for example, that phubbing would lead to distress to a lesser extent in individualistic countries.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

A sample of N = 7,315 mobile phone users (66.4% women and 33.6% men) was recruited for the study. Data were collected online in 20 countries: Brazil, China, Croatia, Ecuador, India, Israel, Italy, Mexico, Netherlands, Pakistan, Poland, Portugal, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Turkey, the United Kingdom, Ukraine, and the United States. The mean age of the total sample was M = 25.50 years (SD = 9.66; range: 16–85 years). Out of the total number of the participants, 79.3% were students (16.0% of them working students), 17.9% were employed, 1.7% were unemployed, and 1.1% were retired.

The individuals invited to participate in the study were mobile phone users. The study was conducted in local languages, and back-translation procedures were applied to adapt the measures. We used snowball sampling as a method of reaching a large group of respondents, varied in terms of sociodemographic characteristics. After the electronic versions of the questionnaires were prepared, the link to the research site was e-mailed to participants. The participants volunteered to take part in the study and received no monetary reward. They were informed about the anonymity of the study. The research project was approved by the institutional review board at the university of the first author.

It is important to note that 3.45% of the participants were failed to provide more than 10% of the answers and were therefore excluded from the sample. However, 0.88% of the participants were failed to provide less than 10% of answers; they were included in the sample and in the analysis. Their scores were extrapolated from their other responses on a given scale; any missing data were randomised. We found no significant effects for age and gender.

Measures

Psychological Distress

Kessler Psychological Distress Scale (K6) was used to measure psychological distress (Kessler et al., 2003). The scale consists of six questions concerning depressive and anxiety-related symptoms that a person have experienced in the past 4 weeks (e.g., "Did you feel tired for no good reason?"). Cronbach's alpha for the K6 ranged from 0.74 (India) to 0.90 (United Kingdom).

Prior to hypothesis testing, we assessed the measurement invariance of the K6 across countries using multi-group confirmatory factor analysis (MGCFA). We found only metric invariance for the scale (**Table 1**) according to the criteria proposed by Rutkowski and Svetina (2014). This means that we could not compare means on Level 2 and establish its country-level correlates, but we could compare correlations between variables across countries (Milfont and Fischer, 2010) and identify country-level moderators. Additionally, testing measurement invariance across age groups and genders revealed metric invariance across age groups and scalar invariance across genders (see **Table 1**).

Phubbing

The Phubbing Scale (Karadağ et al., 2015) was also used in the study. The items of the scale were chosen based on other technology-related addictions (i.e., Internet addiction, SMS addiction, and social media addiction). Exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses revealed a two-factor structure of the measure. The questionnaire consists of eight items (e.g., "My eyes start wandering on my phone when I'm together with others"; "People complain about me dealing with my mobile phone") rated on a 5-point scale (1 = *strongly disagree* to 5 = strongly agree). The measure comprises two factors: (1) communication disturbance, defined as disturbing face-to-face communication by dealing with one's mobile phone (four items), and (2) phone obsession, defined as constantly needing and desiring one's mobile phone (4 items).

Based on data collected in 20 countries, Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.71 (India) to 0.95 (Serbia) for the Communication Disturbance Scale and from 0.66 (Slovenia) to 0.81 (Serbia) for the Phone Obsession Scale. The results of measurement invariance for the Phubbing Scale across 20 countries, age groups, and genders are presented in **Table 2**. There was only metric invariance across countries and age groups and scalar invariance across genders. This allowed us to compare countries in terms of correlations between phubbing and other variables and identify country-level moderators of these relationships.

Cultural Indicators

We included cultural-level indicators in the analysis, choosing the indicators previously used in other studies (Bleidorn et al., 2015; Błachnio et al., 2019b; Jonason et al., 2020). We relied on the latest data comparisons available and used the following indices (the specific scores for all countries are presented in **Table 3**):

The GGI is an indicator of national gender gaps in economic participation, educational attainment, political empowerment, and health and survival criteria. GGI data are published annually, and we retrieved the 2020 GGI scores

Invariance	c			Age		Gender			
	χ ² (df)	CFI	RMSEA	χ^2 (df)	CFI	RMSEA	χ^2 (df)	CFI	RMSEA
Configural	750.55(160)*	0.966	0.023	381.75(16)*	0.975	0.058	434.27(16)*	0.974	0.050
Metric	1237.09(255)*	0.946	0.023	419.08(21)*	0.973	0.053	441.96(21)*	0.974	0.053
Scalar	4203.94(369)*	0.789	0.038	784.05(27)*	0.949	0.064	617.32(27)*	0.964	0.055
Configural vs. metric	486.54(95)*	0.020	0.000	37.33(5)*	0.002	0.005	7.69(5)	0.000	0.003
Metric vs. scalar	2966.85(114)*	0.157	0.015	364.97(6)*	0.024	0.011	175.36(6)*	0.010	0.002

 $^{*}\chi^{2}$ tests are significant at p < 0.001.

TABLE 2 | Testing of measurement invariance for Phubbing Scale across countries, age categories and gender.

Invariance	Country				Age		Gender		
	χ ² (df)	CFI	RMSEA	χ^2 (df)	CFI	RMSEA	χ ² (df)	CFI	RMSEA
Configural	1274.45(380)*	0.952	0.018	1059.25(38)*	0.941	0.063	1098.49(38)*	0.942	0.062
Metric	1679.89(494)*	0.936	0.018	1076.16(44)*	0.940	0.059	1103.98(44)*	0.942	0.058
Scalar	7150.84(646)*	0.648	0.037	1409.44(52)*	0.921	0.062	1242.87(52)*	0.934	0.056
Configural vs. metric	405.45(114)*	0.016	0.000	16.91(6)	0.001	0.004	5.49(6)	0.000	0.004
Metric vs. scalar	5470.94(152)*	0.288	0.019	333.28(8)*	0.019	0.003	138.89(8)*	0.008	0.002

 χ^2 tests are significant at p < 0.001.

(Global Gender Gap Report, 2020). An index for each country is between 0 and 1. In the present sample, GGI values ranged from 0.56 (Pakistan) to 0.80 (Spain); M = 0.71, SD = 0.05.

The SPI is a measure of the real quality of life, which is independent of economic indicators. It comprises three aspects: basic human needs (HN), foundations of WB, and opportunity (O). SPI values ranged from 48.2 (Pakistan) to 88.3 (Netherlands); M = 76.42, SD = 10.66. The values for specific aspects were as follows: from 58.5 (Pakistan) to 96.7 (Netherlands) for basic HN (M = 87.1, SD = 9.7); from 48.8 (Pakistan) to 90.3 (Turkey) for foundations of WB (M = 77.5, SD = 10.8); and from 37.3 (Pakistan) to 80.3 (United Kingdom) for O (M = 0.82, SD = 0.09).

The WHI measures the state of global happiness and ranks countries according to their happiness level. We retrieved data from the 2019 comparison.² The WHI values for the countries included in the study were ranged from 4.02 (India) to 80.3 (Netherlands); M = 5.99, SD = 0.85.

The HDI covers three dimensions of human development, namely, living a long and healthy life, being educated, and having a decent standard of living. The values of HDI range between 0 and 1, with higher values indicating higher human development. We retrieved data from the 2019 comparison³. In the present sample, HDI values ranged from 0.56 (Pakistan) to 0.93 (Netherlands); M = 0.82, SD = 0.09.

Hofstede's cultural value indices were also used in our study. We selected three cultural value dimensions identified by Hofstede⁴. The scores on each dimension range between 0 and 100. *Individualism* vs. *collectivism (IND)*: individualism

is a feature of those cultures where people are expected to care only for themselves and their immediate families, while in collectivistic cultures people take care of their relatives and are loyal to their community. In the present sample, IND scores ranged between 8 (Ecuador) and 91 (United States), with higher scores indicating greater individualism (M = 44.25, SD = 23.99). Masculinity vs. femininity (MAS): Masculinity manifests itself in the following characteristics of a society: achievement, heroism, assertiveness, and material rewards for success. Femininity is marked by a preference for cooperation, modesty, caring for the weak, and preoccupation with quality of life. In the present sample, MAS scores ranged between 14 (Netherlands) and 100 (Slovakia), with higher scores indicating greater masculinity (M = 51.15, SD = 19.60). Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) was the final cultural value indicator used in our study. It indicates the degree to which people in a society feel uncomfortable with uncertainty and ambiguity regarding the future. Societies scoring higher on UAI are more emotional and less open to change. In the present sample, UAI scores ranged between 30 (China) and 99 (Portugal); M = 71.20, SD = 20.79.

Statistical Analyses

For the primary analyses, we conceptualised data as a twolevel structure, in which individual respondents were nested within countries of residence. We used Mplus 7.3 software (Muthén and Muthén, 2015) to analyse a series of multilevel models (MLM). These analyses were conceptually equivalent to conducting a regression analysis for each country and then using the coefficients thus estimated as dependent measures at the next level of analysis. Level 1 represented variation among

²https://worldhappiness.report

³http://hdr.undp.org

⁴www.hofstede-insights.com

Within-country variables Male Phubbing Distress **Cultural indicators** Within-country correlations Age Obsession % M (SD) M (SD) M (SD) GGI HDI SPI HN WB 0 IND MAS UAI WHI Ph-Dist Obs-Dist Ν M (SD) Ph-Obs Country Brazil 311 46.6 23.52(6.05) 2.03(0.76) 3.61(0.92) 2.48(0.80) 0.691 0.761 72.87 81.79 76.56 60.26 38 49 76 6.300 0.22** 0.24** 0.44** China 401 20.2 _ 2.19(0.63) 3.66(0.86) 2.27(0.81) 0.676 0.758 64.54 81.35 68.85 43.41 20 66 30 5.191 0.08* 0.07 0.17** 0.44** 688 47.4 21.81(2.38) 1.92(0.68)3.30(0.83) 2.24(0.75) 0.720 0.837 79.21 90.90 80.88 65.86 33 40 80 5.432 0.22** 0.18** Croatia 511 42.9 30.16(12.66) 2.17(0.72) 2.96(0.81) 2.17(0.77) 0.795 0.893 87.47 94 77 69.97 77.30 51 42 86 6.354 0.15** 0 22** 0.50** Spain Netherlands 271 42.5 44.25(18.00) 2.18(0.67) 3.23(0.76) 1.68(0.64) 0.736 0.933 88.31 96.74 88.30 76.12 80 14 53 7.488 0.20** 0.14* 0.50** 390 38.2 37.32(12.33) 3.29(0.96) 1.86(0.73) 0.718 0.906 93.58 66.27 81 7.139 0.17** 0.58** Israel 2.59(0.93) 81.44 84.46 54 47 0.01 57 19.3 39.44(9.83) 2.89(0.86) 3.64(0.67) 1.85(0.67) 0.754 0.767 77.51 82.31 74.67 57.54 30 69 82 6.595 0.18 0.09 0.41** Mexico 410 30.0 0.24** 0.37** Pakistan 22.31(3.72) 2.35(0.78) 3.21(0.90) 2.74(0.79) 0.564 0.560 48.20 58.46 48.83 37.29 14 50 70 5.653 -0.02Poland 406 20.6 23.51(5.06) 1.62(0.59) 2.81(0.90) 2.31(0.79) 0.736 0.872 81.25 94.11 81.00 68.65 60 64 93 6.182 0.13** 0.22** 0.44** 95.81 0.52** Portugal 400 33.8 26.08(8.76) 2.21(0.68) 3.04(0.89) 2.25(0.78) 0.744 0.850 87.12 87.43 78.12 27 31 99 5.693 0.16** 0.18** Serbia 365 37.0 26.17(5.60) 2.26(1.13) 3.28(0.89) 2.26(0.65) 0.736 0.799 71.59 86.00 70.97 75.58 25 43 92 5.603 0.19** 0.23** 0.42** 430 21.4 22.13(4.53) 1.97(0.67) 3.11(0.76) 2.14(0.71) 0.743 0.902 85.80 95.64 86.18 75.81 27 19 88 6.118 0.20** 0.26** 0.47** Slovenia United States 190 18.2 20.98(5.26) 2.37(0.71) 3.35(0.79) 2.32(0.80) 0.724 0.920 83.62 91.64 82.05 77.17 91 62 46 6.892 0.12* 0.23** 0.39** 0.41** Italy 603 17.7 22.28(4.30) 1.96(0.58) 3.27(0.81) 2.39(0.81) 0.707 0.883 85.69 92.32 88.64 79.88 76 70 75 6.223 0.17** 0.20** 0.45** Ukraine 402 24.9 20.96(3.36) 1.76(0.58) 2.91(0.95) 2.38(0.82) 0.721 0.750 66.97 82.21 64.22 54.47 25 27 95 4.332 0.10* 0.12** 0.46** India 126 47.6 25.28(8.03) 2.15(0.82) 2.60(1.00) 2.31(0.76) 0.668 0.647 59.10 67.72 58.94 50.63 48 56 40 4.015 0.32** 0.36** United Kingdom 135 15.6 32.03(14.07) 1.98(0.68) 3.26(0.92) 2.54(0.97) 0.767 0.920 87.98 94.63 89.05 80.28 89 66 35 7.054 0.34** 0.25** 0.46** 0.37** Slovakia 181 60.0 24.95(8.98) 1.89(0.65) 3.09(0.86) 2.36(0.83) 0.718 0.857 80.43 94.04 80.97 66.29 52 100 51 6.198 0.17* 0.12 415 33.5 21.87(4.26) 1.83(0.67) 2.61(0.90) 2.37(0.71) 0.729 0.758 71.88 82.57 77.01 56.05 8 63 67 6.028 0.23** 0.22** 0.50** Ecuador 623 28.1 23.55(6.52) 2.37(0.67) 3.44(0.84) 2.60(0.76) 0.635 0.806 67.49 85.00 90.34 47.50 37 45 85 5.373 0.28** 0.23** 0.46** Turkey

TABLE 3 | Sample characteristics, country indicators, and correlation of distress with phubbing and phone obsession within each country.

GGI = Global Gender Gap Index; HDI = Human Development Index; SPI = Social Progress Index; HN = Basic Human Needs; WB = well-being; O = Opportunity; IND = individualism vs. collectivism; MAS = Masculinity vs. Femininity; UAI = Uncertainty Avoidance; WHI = World Happiness Index; UK = United Kingdom; USA = United States of America; Dist = Distress; Ph = Phubbing; Obs = Obsession. P-value for two-tailed test * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01. individuals within countries, and Level 2 represented variation across the 20 countries.

The relationships between psychological distress, communication disturbance, and phone obsession were examined at the individual level, and the country-level differences in these relationships were modelled at the between-country level as a function of the cultural specificity of a given country. Analyses examining such relationships are called *slopes-as-outcomes* analyses because a slope from a lower level (i.e., Level 1) becomes an outcome at an upper level (i.e., Level 2).

Psychological_distress_{*ij*} = $\beta_{0j} + \beta_{1j}$ (Communication_disturbance_{*ij*})

$$+ \beta_{2i}(\text{Phone}_{obsession}_{ii}) + r_{ii}.$$
(1)

$$\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(\text{MODERATOR}_j) + u_{0j}.$$
(2)

 $\beta_{1j} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11} (\text{MODERATOR}_j) + u_{1j}.$ (3)

$$\beta_{2j} = \gamma_{20} + \gamma_{21} (\text{MODERATOR}_j) + u_{2j}. \tag{4}$$

In Eq. 1, Level-1 observations (psychological distress_{*ij*}) are modelled as a function of the intercept for each country (β_{0j} , mean psychological distress in a country *j*), the slopes (e.g., β_{1j} , representing a within-country relationship between psychological distress and communication disturbance), and error (r_{ij} , which is the deviation of each psychological distress score in a country from the country mean), and the variance in r_{ij} is Level-1 error variance.

In Eq. 2, mean psychological distress for each of *j* Level-2 units of analysis (i.e., countries; β_{0j}) is modelled as a function of the grand mean (γ_{00} = the mean of psychological distress means), country specificity (γ_{01} MODERATOR_{*j*}) and error (u_{0j}), and the variance in u_{0j} is the Level-2 variance. If the γ_{01} coefficient is significantly different from zero, then there is a relationship between a country index and the average psychological distress score for people in *j* country.

In Eq. 3 (or 4), the Level-1 slope for each country (β_{1j}) or β_{2j}) is modelled as a function of the intercept (γ_{10}) or γ_{20} = the mean slopes, i.e., the average relationship across all countries), country cultural specificity $(\gamma_{11} \text{ MODERATOR}_j)$ or $\gamma_{21} \text{ MODERATOR}_j$), and error (u_{1j}) . If the γ_{11} (or γ_{21}) coefficient is significantly different from zero, then the relationship between psychological distress and communication disturbance (or between psychological distress and phone obsession) varies as a function of country cultural specificity (MODERATOR_j).

Due to the lack of scalar invariance across 20 countries in measures of distress, communication disturbance, and phone obsession, β_{0j} could not be modelled as a function of differences between countries $\beta_{0j} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}$ (MODERATOR_j) + μ_{0j} . However, we were able to model the correlations between variables in different countries and the cultural moderators of these relationships. This is the reason why Level-1 variables were group mean-centred; consequently, Level-2 differences in these Level-1 variables were eliminated from the model. In addition, to simplify the interpretation of the regression equation, we applied

the standardized country indicators at the country level ("z"). After the centring of the variables within cluster ("c") at Level 1, the mode equations are as follows:

cPsychological_distress_{*ij*} = β_{1j} (cCommunication_disturbance_{*ij*})

+
$$\beta_{2i}$$
(cPhone_obsession_{ij}) + r_{ij} . (5)

$$\beta_{1j} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11}(zMODERATOR_j) + u_{1j}.$$
 (6)

$$\beta_{2j} = \gamma_{20} + \gamma_{21}(zMODERATOR_j) + u_{2j}.$$
(7)

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Table 3 provides the basic statistics for each country: means and SDs for psychological distress, communication disturbance, phone obsession, and cultural indicators; it also presents correlations between the dimensions of psychological distress and phubbing within each country. These summary statistics constitute a context for the analyses focused on the primary hypothesis.

The correlation between psychological distress and communication disturbance was positive and ranged between 0.08 (China) and 0.34 (United Kingdom), while the correlation between psychological distress and phone obsession ranged between -0.02 (Pakistan) and 0.36 (India).

Slope-as-Outcome Models: Culture-Level Moderators

First, the predictors of psychological distress at Level 1 (i.e., communication disturbance and phone obsession)—centred group means—were entered with a random error term according to Eqs 6, 7 but without cross-cultural moderators (zMODERATOR_{*j*} = 0). Significance tests at Level 2 (between countries) showed that γ_{10} and γ_{20} coefficients, representing the mean slopes between psychological distress and communication disturbance (γ_{10} = 0.153, 95% CI [0.113, 0.192]) and between psychological distress and phone obsession (γ_{10} = 0.098, 95% CI [0.052, 0.144]), were significantly different from 0 and positively related to psychological distress.

Next, we analysed the previous regression model at Level 1 by including the z-standardized cultural indicators as explanatory variables at Level 2. We were interested in explaining the observed cross-cultural variation in regression coefficients at Level 1. That is, we were not interested in explaining cross-cultural mean-level differences in psychological distress, communication disturbance, and phone obsession due to the lack of scalar measurement invariance of these variables across countries. Each cultural indicator was entered separately as an explanatory variable in the slope-as-outcome models. The coefficients are presented in **Table 4** (left panel). These parameters may inform the question of what cultural indicators explain the cross-cultural variation in regression coefficients at Level 1.

As can be seen from the coefficients in **Table 4**, the GGI ($\gamma_{11} = -0.044$, p < 0.01), HN ($\gamma_{11} = -0.033$, p < 0.05),

	Cros	s-level moderation	of the relations	hip between:	Mean slope of the relationship between:					
Moderator		nunication nce – distress		obsession – listress		munication nce – distress	Phone obsession – distress			
	y 11	95% CI	γ 21	95% CI	γ 10	95% CI	γ 20	95% CI		
(lack)	_	-	_		0.153	0.113;0.192	0.098	0.052;0.144		
GGI	-0.044**	-0.076;-0.011	0.042*	0.000;0.083	0.147	0.113;0.182	0.103	0.059;0.145		
HDI	-0.028	-0.066;0.013	0.037	-0.009;0.082	0.151	0.112;0.191	0.099	0.054;0.143		
SPI	-0.028	-0.065;0.012	0.038*	-0.007;0.080	0.150	0.111;0.190	0.100	0.056;0.143		
HN	-0.033*	-0.070;0.006	0.038*	-0.007;0.081	0.151	0.113;0.190	0.099	0.054;0.142		
WB	-0.001	-0.041;0.041	0.029	-0.016;0.074	0.152	0.111;0.194	0.098	0.052;0.143		
0	-0.035*	-0.070;0.004	0.046*	0.004;0.088	0.150	0.114;0.188	0.100	0.057;0.142		
IND	-0.003	-0.046;0.043	0.032	-0.016;0.079	0.152	0.110;0.194	0.100	0.053;0.145		
MAS	0.012	-0.034;0.058	-0.003	-0.055;0.047	0.154	0.112;0.196	0.098	0.048;0.145		
UAI	-0.026	-0.070;0.017	0.000	-0.051;0.048	0.156	0.115;0.197	0.097	0.049;0.145		
WHI	0.007	-0.037;0.053	-0.014	-0.066;0.035	0.153	0.112;0.195	0.097	0.048;0.145		

TABLE 4 | Slope-as-outcome models: Cross-level moderations and mean slopes of the communication disturbance and phone obsession effects on the distress.

GGI = Global Gender Gap Index; HDI = Human Development Index; SPI = Social Progress Index; HN = Basic Human Needs; WB = well-being; O = Opportunity; IND = individualism vs. collectivism; MAS = masculinity vs. femininity; UAI = uncertainty avoidance; WHI = World Happiness Index.p-value for one-tailed test: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

and O ($\gamma_{11} = -0.035$, p < 0.05) significantly moderate the relationship between psychological distress and communication disturbance: the lower the level of these country indicators, the higher the correlation between psychological distress and communication disturbance. The opposite direction of moderation can be observed in the relationship between psychological distress and phone obsession: the higher the GGI ($\gamma_{21} = 0.042$, p < 0.01), the SCI ($\gamma_{21} = 0.038$, p < 0.05), HN ($\gamma_{21} = 0.038$, p < 0.05), and O ($\gamma_{21} = 0.046$, p < 0.05), the higher the correlation between psychological distress and phone obsession.

DISCUSSION

The main aim of our exploratory study was to investigate the moderating role of country-level indicators in the relations between phubbing and psychological distress. It should be noted that the analyses of measurement invariance across countries for the psychological distress and phubbing variables showed only metric invariance (see Błachnio et al., 2021), which allowed us to compare countries in terms of correlations between variables. It did not, however, allow us to compare countries in terms of the levels of particular variables, which is the most common type of cross-cultural comparisons. This calls into question some of the studies to date that have compared similar variables across countries without testing measurement invariance.

To the best of our knowledge, previous studies have not considered the moderating role of cultural indicators in the relationship between phubbing and distress; therefore, we can only refer to cross-cultural comparisons, such as similar constructs (e.g., Balhara et al., 2019; Błachnio et al., 2019b; Panova et al., 2020). In our exploratory study, we tried to answer the question of whether selected country indices were related to phubbing. We also intended to establish if country indicators moderated the relationship between communication disturbance and psychological distress. To explore this issue, we chose indicators related to quality of life, namely, the WHI, the SPI, the HDI, and the GGI, which is an indicator of national gender gaps on several levels, and selected cultural dimensions distinguished by Hofstede.

In almost all countries we found a similar pattern: the higher the phone obsession and communication disturbance, the higher the psychological distress. In other words, both social and behavioural aspects of excessive mobile phone use are positively correlated with distress. In our study, the mean correlation between distress and communication disturbance was 0.21 (95% CI [0.17, 0.25]), while the mean correlation between psychological distress and phone obsession was 0.15 (95% CI [0.11, 0.20]). This finding is in line with previous studies, where psychological distress was related to phubbing (Liu et al., 2019) and significantly contributed to SNSs addiction (Pontes et al., 2018). More specifically, a meta-analysis by Marino et al. (2018) confirmed that problematic Facebook use and psychological distress were positively correlated.

The results of the present study indicate that the amplifying or weakening effect between phubbing and psychological distress is dependent on some cultural indicators. As predicted, the findings show that in almost every country communication disturbance results in increased distress, but this happens to a different extent in different countries. In countries with lower GGI, O, and HN, phubbing has more serious consequences for distress. For example, in Pakistan and India, the social context and the nonverbal aspects of communication, such as showing respect or disrespect toward the other party, are important (see Hall, 1990). Therefore, using a phone in the presence of another person will be perceived as ignoring the communication partner and result in the deterioration of social relationships. It is likely that in these countries, due to the prevailing system of values, the deterioration of social relationships with one person or a group of people cannot be compensated for by establishing a new and equally valuable relationship with others.

As expected, phone obsession correlated positively with distress in almost every country. However, in countries with higher GGI, SPI, O, and HN (e.g., Spain, Portugal, and Slovenia), phone addiction was associated with distress more strongly than in others. It is reasonable to assume that people in these countries are more dependent on phone availability to function in many life domains, which in turn may translate into higher levels of distress related to phone obsession. In contrast, this relationship was relatively weaker in countries with lower GGI, SPI, O, and HN (e.g., Pakistan, China, and Ukraine), which may be due to the fact that phone use in these countries tends to be more limited, and although phone obsession may be as strong there as in other countries, its effects on distress may be smaller.

It should be noted that these findings receive support from previous studies on the cultural correlates of Internet addiction (Błachnio et al., 2019b), where a high level of Internet addiction was related to the HDI. As accessibility to technologies varies across cultures (Jackson and Wang, 2013), higher Internet addiction has been reported in highly technologically developed countries. Our current study reveals a similar pattern. A great body of research has shown that problematic mobile phone use is associated with lower well-being and lower mental health indicators (e.g., Volkmer and Lermer, 2019).

LIMITATIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The present study is not free from limitations. Firstly, its cross-sectional design precludes any longitudinal inferences. Secondly, this was a correlational study, and it would therefore be unwarranted to draw causal conclusion. Thirdly, the study was based on self-report measures, which means we investigated subjective indicators of problematic mobile phone use. In future studies, it would be useful to incorporate the behavioural assessment of mobile phone use as well. Lastly, although we found robust results across countries, the study is limited to convenience sampling, which is why generalizing current research findings requires caution. It would be advisable to collect data from more representative samples for each country in the future.

Although we present results from 20 countries, it could be argued that they do not represent all cultures. Many researchers point to the problem of cross-cultural comparisons being conducted on WEIRD cultures (Western, Educated, Industrialized, Rich, and Democratic; Henrich et al., 2010). In future research, it is worthwhile to expand the number of countries and include more countries from outside the group called WEIRD cultures.

It is also worth noting the low Cronbach's alpha for the Phone Obsession Scale in Serbia, though it should be mentioned that in shorter scales (up to 5 items) alpha larger than 0.65 is acceptable (Cortina, 1993).

CONCLUSION

To sum up, the results of our study demonstrate the importance of measurement invariance testing, the results of which indicate what type of analysis and what type of conclusion are valid in a given cross-cultural comparison. We have found that psychological distress is related to communication disturbance and that, for the most part, this relation is culturally universal. Other studies also revealed a similar pattern of this relationship (e.g., Tekkam et al., 2020). However, the power of our findings stems from the number of culturelevel indices included, which is a contribution this research makes to the current state of knowledge. The relationship between phubbing and psychological distress has some macrolevel determinants (e.g., the GGI, which has been included in our research). The presented results shed light on the relationship between phubbing and psychological distress and its universality across cultures. A better understanding of phubbing may help in coping with its effects in the social fabric of communities, regardless of the cultural background. The current findings underline the importance of clinical awareness of problematic mobile phone use. Considering the omnipresent use of mobile phones as important tools in many aspects of everyday lives, it is important to identify the signs of psychological disturbances and to prepare adequate interventions. This study may be helpful for clinicians and therapists in designing programs targeting phubbing. Interventions addressing psychological distress are considered to be important across cultures when dealing with this problematic phenomenon.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Institute of Psychology Ethics Committee (The Catholic University of Lublin). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements. However, consent was implied *via* completion of the questionnaires.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB: idea of the manuscript, preparing research, supervising research in all countries, and writing the manuscript. AP: preparing research and comments on final version of the

manuscript. OG: statistical analyses, co-writing Materials and Methods section and writing Results section, preparing methods in Polish language, collecting data in Poland, and comments on final version of the manuscript. RB, MD, ESD, MB-E, and MB: preparing methods in their languages, collecting data in their countries, coding the data, and giving comments on whale stages of writing manuscript. MM: preparing methods in their languages, collecting data in their countries, coding the data, comments on final version of the manuscript, and English proofreading. AA, AMA, MJB, TB, NB, JG, JH, AI, SM, EM, AM, BM, IP, BR, GS, LD'S, MV, MW, AMSW, and SY: preparing methods in their languages, collecting data in their

REFERENCES

- Abbas, R., and Mesch, G. S. (2015). Cultural values and facebook use among palestinian youth in israel. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 48, 644–653. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.02.031
- Abeele, M. M. V., Antheunis, M. L., and Schouten, A. P. (2016). The effect of mobile messaging during a conversation on impression formation and interaction quality. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 62, 562–569. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.04.005
- Abeele, M. M. V., Hendrickson, A. T., Pollmann, M. M., and Ling, R. (2019). Phubbing behavior in conversations and its relation to perceived conversation intimacy and distraction: an exploratory observation study. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 100, 35–47. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.06.004
- Abeele, M. V. (2019). "The social consequences of phubbing: a framework and a research agenda," in *Handbook of Mobile Communication, Culture, and Information*, eds R. Ling, G. Goggin, L. Fortunati, S. S. Lim, and Y. Li (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- Afdal, A., Alizamar, A., Ifdil, I., Ardi, Z., Sukmawati, I., Zikra, Z., et al. (2019). "An analysis of phubbing behaviour: preliminary research from counseling perspective," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Educational Sciences and Teacher Profession (ICETeP 2018)* (Paris: Atlantis Press).
- Al-Saggaf, Y., and MacCulloch, R. (2019). Phubbing and social relationships: results from an australian sample. *J. Relationsh. Res.* 10, 1–10. doi: 10.1017/ jrr.2019.9
- Alvarez-Galvez, J., and Gomez-Baya, D. (2017). Socioeconomic context as a moderator in the relationship between body mass index and depression in Europe. *Appl. Psychol. Health Well Being* 9, 410–428. doi: 10.1111/aphw.12104
- Arpaci, I. (2019). Culture and nomophobia: the role of vertical versus horizontal collectivism in predicting nomophobia. *Inf. Dev.* 35, 96–106. doi: 10.1177/ 0266666917730119
- Babadi-Akashe, Z., Zamani, B. E., Abedini, Y., Akbari, H., and Hedayati, N. (2014). The relationship between mental health and addiction to mobile phones among university students of Shahrekord, Iran. *Addict. Health* 6:93.
- Bai, Q., Bai, S., Dan, Q., Lei, L., and Wang, P. (2020). Mother phubbing and adolescent academic burnout: the mediating role of mental health and the moderating role of agreeableness and neuroticism. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 155:109622. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2019.109622
- Balhara, Y. P. S., Doric, A., Stevanovic, D., Knez, R., Singh, S., Chowdhury, M. R. R., et al. (2019). Correlates of problematic internet use among college and university students in eight countries: an international cross-sectional study. *Asian J. Psychiatr.* 45, 113–120. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2019.09.004
- Balta, S., Emirtekin, E., Kircaburun, K., and Griffiths, M. D. (2020). Neuroticism, trait fear of missing out, and phubbing: the mediating role of state fear of missing out and problematic instagram use. *Int. J. Ment. Health Addict.* 18, 628–639. doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-9959-8
- Baptista, G., and Oliveira, T. (2015). Understanding mobile banking: the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology combined with cultural moderators. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 50, 418–430. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.024
- Błachnio, A., Przepiórka, A., Gorbaniuk, O., Bendayan, R., McNeill, M., Angeluci, A., et al. (2021). Measurement invariance of the Phubbing Scale across 20 countries. *Int. J. Psychol.* 56, 885–894. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12790

countries, coding the data, and comments on final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was financed by the National Science Centre, Poland, grant no. NCN UMO-2017/26/M/HS6/00779. In Brazil, the data collection was partly funded by the Brazilian National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) under the grant number 424802/2016-3.

- Błachnio, A., Przepiórka, A., Benvenuti, M., Mazzoni, E., and Seidman, G. (2019a). Relations between Facebook intrusion, Internet addiction, life satisfaction, and self-esteem: a study in Italy and the USA. *Int. J. Ment. Health Addict.* 17, 793–805. doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-0038-y
- Błachnio, A., Przepiórka, A., Gorbaniuk, O., Benvenuti, M., Ciobanu, A. M., Senol-Durak, E., et al. (2019b). Cultural correlates of Internet addiction. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 22, 258–263. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2018.0667
- Bleidorn, W., Arslan, R. C., Denissen, J. J. A., Rentfrow, P. J., Gebauer, J. E., Potter, J., et al. (2015). Age and gender differences in self-esteem—a cross-cultural window. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 111, 396–410. doi: 10.1037/pspp0000078
- Bosson, J. K., Jurek, P., Vandello, J. A., Kosakowska-Berezecka, N., Olech, M., Besta, T., et al. (2021). Psychometric properties and correlates of precarious manhood beliefs in 62 nations. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 52, 231–258.
- Chau, P. Y., Cole, M., Massey, A. P., Montoya-Weiss, M., and O'Keefe, R. M. (2002). Cultural differences in the online behavior of consumers. *Commun.* ACM 45, 138–143.
- Chotpitayasunondh, V., and Douglas, K. M. (2016). How "phubbing" becomes the norm: the antecedents and consequences of snubbing via smartphone. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 63, 9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.018
- Chotpitayasunondh, V., and Douglas, K. M. (2018). The effects of "phubbing" on social interaction. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 48, 304–316. doi: 10.1111/jasp.12506
- Cortina, J. M. (1993). What is coefficient alpha? An examination of theory and applications. J. Appl. Psychol. 78, 98–104. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.78.1.98
- Davey, S., Davey, A., Raghav, S. K., Singh, J., Singh, N., Błachnio, A., et al. (2018). Predictors and consequences of "Phubbing" among adolescents and youth in India: an impact evaluation study. *J. Fam. Community Med.* 25, 35–42. doi: 10.4103/jfcm.JFCM_71_17
- David, M. E., and Roberts, J. A. (2017). Phubbed and alone: phone snubbing, social exclusion, and attachment to social media. J. Assoc. Consum. Res. 2, 155–163. doi: 10.1086/690940
- De Silva, M. J., Huttly, S. R., Harpham, T., and Kenward, M. G. (2007). Social capital and mental health: a comparative analysis of four low income countries. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 64, 5–20. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.08.044
- Drapeau, A., Marchand, A., and Beaulieu-Prévost, D. (2012). "Epidemiology of psychological distress. Mental illness," in *Understanding, Prediction and Control*, ed. L. L'Abate (Rijeka: InTech Open Access Publisher), 105–134.
- Ergün, N., Göksu, I., and Sakız, H. (2020). Effects of phubbing: relationships with psychodemographic variables. *Psychol. Rep.* 123, 1578–1613. doi: 10.1177/ 0033294119889581
- Global Gender Gap Report (2020). *The Report and an Interactive Data Platform.* Available online at http://reports.weforum.org/global-gender-gapreport-2020/dataexplorer
- Hall, E. T. (1990). The Hidden Dimension. New York, NY: Doubleday.
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., and Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world? *Behav. Brain Sci.* 33, 61–83.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture and organizations. Int. Stud. Manag. Organ. 10, 15-41.
- Hung, C.-L., and Chou, J. C.-L. (2014). Examining the cultural moderation on the acceptance of mobile commerce. *Int. J. Innov. Technol. Manag.* 11, 1–19. doi: 10.1142/S0219877014500102

- Ivanova, A., Gorbaniuk, O., Błachnio, A., Przepiórka, A., Mraka, N., Polishchuk, V., et al. (2020). Mobile phone addiction, phubbing, and depression among men and women: a moderated mediation analysis. *Psychiatr. Q.* 91, 1–14. doi: 10.1007/s11126-020-09723-8
- Jackson, L. A., and Wang, J. L. (2013). Cultural differences in social networking site use: a comparative study of China and the United States. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 29, 910–921.
- Ji, Y. G., Hwangbo, H., Yi, J. S., Rau, P. P., Fang, X., and Ling, C. (2010). The influence of cultural differences on the use of social network services and the formation of social capital. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Interact.* 26, 1100–1121. doi: 10.1080/10447318.2010.516727
- Jonason, P. K., Żemojtel-Piotrowska, M., Piotrowski, J., Sedikides, C., Campbell, W. K., Gebauer, J. E., et al. (2020). Country-level correlates of the dark triad traits in 49 countries. J. Pers. 88, 1252–1267. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12569
- Karadağ, E., Tosuntaş, Ş.B., Erzen, E., Duru, P., Bostan, N., Şahin, B., et al. (2015). Determinants of phubbing, which is the sum of many virtual addictions: a structural equation model. *J. Behav. Addict.* 4, 60–74. doi: 10.1556/2006.4. 2015.005
- Kessler, R. C., Barker, P. R., Colpe, L. J., Epstein, J. F., Gfroerer, J. C., and Hiripi, E. (2003). Screening for serious mental illness in the general population. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 60, 184–189. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.2.184
- Khare, S., and Qasim, S. H. (2019). Phubbing a growing trend among youth. *Int. J. Appl. Soc. Sci.* 6, 812–816.
- LaRose, R., Connolly, R., Lee, H., Li, K., and Hales, K. D. (2013). Connection overload? A cross cultural study of the consequences of social media connection. *Inf. Syst. Manag.* 31, 59–73. doi: 10.1080/10580530.2014.854097
- Lian, S. L., Sun, X. J., Niu, G. F., Yang, X. J., Zhou, Z. K., and Yang, C. (2021). Mobile phone addiction and psychological distress among Chinese adolescents: the mediating role of rumination and moderating role of the capacity to be alone. J. Affect. Disord. 279, 701–710. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.10.005
- Liu, R. D., Hong, W., Ding, Y., Oei, T. P., Zhen, R., Jiang, S., et al. (2019). Psychological distress and problematic mobile phone use among adolescents: the mediating role of maladaptive cognitions and the moderating role of effortful control. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1589. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01589
- Lopez-Fernandez, O., Kuss, D. J., Romo, L., Morvan, Y., Kern, L., Graziani, P., et al. (2017). Self-reported dependence on mobile phones in young adults: a European cross-cultural empirical survey. J. Behav. Addict. 6, 168–177. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.020
- Luo, S., and Tuney, S. (2015). Can texting be used to improve romantic relationships? The effects of sending positive text messages on relationship satisfaction. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 49, 670–678. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.11.035
- Makri, K., and Schlegelmilch, B. B. (2017). Time orientation and engagement with social networking sites: a cross-cultural study in Austria, China and Uruguay. *J. Bus. Res.* 80, 155–163. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.05.016
- Marino, C., Gini, G., Vieno, A., and Spada, M. M. (2018). The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Affect. Disord. 226, 274–281. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.007
- Milfont, T., and Fischer, R. (2010). Testing measurement invariance across groups: applications in cross-cultural research. *Int. J. Psychol. Res.* 3, 111–130. doi: 10.21500/20112084.857
- Monroe, S. M., and Simons, A. D. (1991). Diathesis-stress theories in the context of life stress research: implications for the depressive disorders. *Psychol. Bull.* 110, 406–425. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.110.3.406
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2015). *Mplus User's Guide*, 7th Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nadkarni, A., and Hofmann, S. G. (2012). Why do people use Facebook? Pers. Individ. Dif. 52, 243–249. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2011.11.007
- Panova, T., Carbonell, X., Chamarro, A., and Puerta-Cortés, D. X. (2020). Specific smartphone uses and how they relate to anxiety and depression in university students: a cross-cultural perspective. *Behav. Inf. Technol.* 39, 944–956.
- Pontes, H. M., Taylor, M., and Stavropoulos, V. (2018). Beyond "Facebook Addiction": the role of cognitive-related factors and psychiatric distress in social networking site addiction. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 21, 240–247. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0609
- Roberts, J. A., and David, M. E. (2016). My life has become a major distraction from my cell phone: partner phubbing and relationship satisfaction among romantic partners. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 54, 134–141. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.07.058

- Rutkowski, L., and Svetina, D. (2014). Assessing the hypothesis of measurement invariance in the context of large-scale international surveys. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 74, 31–57. doi: 10.1177/001316441349 8257
- Shahbaz, K., Rasul, F., Khan, A., Saba, A., Saeed, M., Nida, A., et al. (2020). Phubbing positively predicts psychological distress and poor quality of life in community adults. *Int. J. Manag. (IJM)* 11, 2229–2240. doi: 10.34218/IJM.11. 11.2020.207
- Sutrisno, T., and Dularif, M. (2020). National culture as a moderator between social norms, religiosity, and tax evasion: meta-analysis study. *Cogent Bus. Manag.* 7, 1772618. doi: 10.1080/23311975.2020.1772618
- Tan, S. L., and Lau, C. M. (2012). The impact of performance measures on employee fairness perceptions, job satisfaction and organisational commitment. J. Appl. Manag. Account. Res. 10, 57–72.
- Tekkam, S., Bala, S., and Pandve, H. (2020). Consequence of phubbing on psychological distress among the youth of Hyderabad. *Med. J. D Y Patil Vidyapeeth* 13, 642–647. doi: 10.4103/mjdrdypu.mjdrdypu_ 315_19
- T'ng, S. T., Ho, K. H., and Low, S. K. (2018). Are you "phubbing" me? The determinants of phubbing behavior and assessment of measurement invariance across sex differences. *Int. Multidiscip. J. Soc. Sci.* 7, 159–190. doi: 10.17583/ rimcis.2018.3318
- Türetgen, I. Ö, Berk, ÖS., Basbug, G., and Unsal, P. (2012). The development of the job stressor appraisal scale as part of the job stress battery. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 26, 147–153. doi: 10.1027/1015-5759/a00 0103
- Vasalou, A., Joinson, A. N., and Courvoisier, D. (2010). Cultural differences, experience with social networks and the nature of "true commitment" in Facebook. *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* 68, 719–728. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2010. 06.002
- Volkmer, S. A., and Lermer, E. (2019). Unhappy and addicted to your phone? Higher mobile phone use is associated with lower well-being. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 93, 210–218. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.12.015
- Walker, L. O., and Avant, K. C. (1995). Strategy For Theory Construction In Nursing. New York, NY: Appleton-Century Crofts.
- Wang, X., Xie, X., Wang, Y., Wang, P., and Lei, L. (2017). Partner phubbing and depression among married Chinese adults: the roles of relationship satisfaction and relationship length. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 110, 12–17. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017. 01.014
- Yin, X. Q., de Vries, D. A., Gentile, D. A., and Wang, J. L. (2019). Cultural background and measurement of usage moderate the association between Social Networking Sites (SNSs) usage and mental health: a metaanalysis. Soc. Sci. Comput. Rev. 37, 631–648. doi: 10.1177/089443931878 4908
- Zhang, L., Zhu, J., and Liu, Q. (2012). A meta-analysis of mobile commerce adoption and the moderating effect of culture. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 28, 1902–1911. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.05.008

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Błachnio, Przepiórka, Gorbaniuk, McNeill, Bendayan, Durak, Senol-Durak, Ben-Ezra, Benvenuti, Angeluci, Abreu, Makita, Blanca, Brkljacic, Babič, Gorbaniuk, Holdoš, Ivanova, Malik, Milanovic, Musil, Pantic, Rando, Seidman, D'Souza, Vanden Abeele, Wołońciej, Wu, Yu and Mazzoni. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

